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FLINTSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
COMPLAINT REFERRED BY THE PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES: 

STANDARDS COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 

This document sets out the procedure for the Standards Committee to follow in reaching 
decisions regarding complaints alleging breach of the Code of Conduct by members of 
Flintshire County Council and members of the town and community councils within Flintshire., 
which are referred to the Monitoring Officer or Legal Services Manager by the Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales (“the Ombudsman”). 

1. Background

1.1 The Ombudsman has power under section 69 of the Local Government Act 2000 to
investigate cases of written allegations that a current or former councillor or co-opted
member of Flintshire County Council or of a town or community council within Flintshire
has failed to comply with the authority's code of conduct. The Ombudsman can likewise
investigate where she considers that a current or former councillor or co-opted member
may have failed, to comply with the authority's code of conduct due to information
arising as a result of an investigation.

1.2 Having carried out an investigation, the Ombudsman may make one of the following
findings:

(a) That there is no evidence of any failure to comply with the code of conduct of 
the relevant authority concerned, 

(b) That no action needs to be taken in respect of the matters which are the subject 
of the investigation, 

(c) That the matters which are the subject of the investigation should be referred 
to the Monitoring Officer, or 

(d) That the matters which are the subject of the investigation should be referred 
to the president of the Adjudication Panel for Wales for adjudication by a 
tribunal falling within section 76(1) of the Local Government Act 2000. 

1.3 When a report of the Ombudsman is referred to the Monitoring Officer, the Monitoring 
Officer is required by the Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring 
Officers and Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001 to make the initial 
determination referred to in section 2 of this procedure. 

1.4 Regulation 8 of the Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers 
and Standards Committees (Wales) Regulations 2001 says that, subject to any 
express provision in those Regulations or in the Standards Committees (Wales) 
Regulations 2001, it is for a local authority’s standards committee to decide on the 
practice and procedure to be followed in exercising functions under those Regulations. 

1.5 This procedure sets out the procedure to be followed by the Standards Committee in 
making the initial determination and in taking actions following its initial determination. 
It covers: 

(a) The initial determination 

(b) The Subject Member’s Response 
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(c) Arrangements prior to the hearing 

(d) Requirement for training 

(e) Pre-Hearing Review 

(f) Notice of Hearing 

(g) Legal Support 

(h) Access to Information 

(i) Failure of a party to attend a hearing 

(j) The Hearing 

(k) Written Decision 

(l) Appeals 

(m) Report of the outcome of the investigation 

2. Initial Determination

2.1 The Standards Committee must make an initial determination that either: 

(a) there is no evidence of any failure to comply with the Code of 
Conduct; 

(b) or that the member who is the subject of the Ombudsman’s 
investigation (“the subject member”) should be given the opportunity 
to make representations to the Committee either orally or in writing 
in respect of the findings of the investigation. 

2.2 If the Standards Committee determines that there is no evidence of any 
failure to comply with the Code of Conduct officers of Flintshire County 
Council shall notify: 

(a) The subject member. 

(b) Where the subject member is a member or co-opted member of a 
corporate joint committee and a member of a constituent council of 
the corporate joint committee or a national park authority which is 
required to appoint a member of the corporate joint committee, the 
monitoring officer of the constituent council or national park authority. 

(c) The person who made the allegation which led to the investigation. 

(d) The Ombudsman. 

2.3 If the Standards Committee determines that the subject member should be 
given the opportunity to make representations to the Committee either 
orally or in writing in respect of the findings of the investigation, officers of 
Flintshire County Council shall notify the subject member. They shall ask 
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the subject member to confirm if they wish to make representations in 
writing or if they wish to make oral representations at a hearing. 

3. The Subject Member’s Response

3.1 The response from the subject member who is the subject of the
investigation as to whether they wish to make representations and, if so,
whether they wish to make representations in writing or to make oral
representations at a hearing, will be reported to the Standards Committee.

3.2 If the subject member does not wish to make representations or the member
wishes to make representations in writing only, that will be reported to the
Standards Committee. The Standards Committee will then consider the
report from the Ombudsman and, if applicable, any written representations
from the subject member and shall determine whether there has been a
breach of the Code of Conduct. If the Standards Committee determines that
there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct, the Standards Committee
shall determine whether there should be a sanction and, if so, what that
sanction should be.

3.3 If the subject member wishes to make oral representations, arrangements
for a hearing will be made as follows.

4. Arrangements prior to the Hearing

4.1 The report of the Ombudsman’s investigation will be sent to the Standards Committee 
and to the subject member. 

4.2 Officers of Flintshire County Council will inform the subject member who is the subject 
of the report  of the need to hold a hearing and the possible sanctions. The subject 
member will be asked to provide information as follows: 

(a) Whether they will be represented and, if so, by whom. 

(b) Which areas of the Ombudsman’s report (if any) are disputed, with reasons. 

(c) Details of any witnesses the subject member intends to call and a summary of 
the evidence that each witness shall give. 

(d) The names of any witness to be relied upon by the Ombudsman who they 
would wish to put questions.  

(e) Details of any written evidence on which the subject member intends to rely. 

(f) Whether the subject member intends to ask the Standards Committee to 
exclude members of the press and public from any part of the hearing, and the 
reasons for doing so. 

(g) Dates when the subject member, their witnesses and representatives would be 
unavailable to attend a hearing. 

(h) Whether the subject member is willing for the hearing to be held entirely by 
remote attendance or whether the hearing should take place in person. 
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(i) Whether the subject member or any witness they intend to call requires the 
hearing to be conducted in Welsh. 

(j) Any accessibility requirements of the subject member, their witnesses and 
representatives 

(k) Any other information that the Standards Committee considers it appropriate to 
request. 

4.3 Officers of Flintshire County Council will write to the Ombudsman and ask the 
Ombudsman to confirm: 

(a) That the Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s investigating officer will attend the 
hearing to present the report of the Ombudsman’s investigation. 

(b) Whether the Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s investigating officer will be 
represented and, if so, by whom. 

(c) Details of any witnesses the Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s investigating 
officer intends to call and a summary of the evidence they will give. 

(d) Dates when the Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s investigating officer, their 
witnesses and representatives would be unavailable to attend a hearing. 

(e) Any accessibility requirements of the Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s 
investigating officer, their witnesses and representatives. 

(f) Any other information that the Standards Committee considers it appropriate to 
request. 

(g) Whether the Ombudsman or any witness they intend to call requires the 
hearing to be conducted in Welsh. 

4.4 Members of the Standards Committee will be asked to provide details of any dates 
when they would be unavailable to attend a hearing. They will also be asked to confirm 
any accessibility requirements. 

4.5 Members of the Standards Committee will be asked to confirm if they are ineligible to 
participate in the hearing because: 

(a) They have not received training on dealing with allegations of breach of the 
Code of Conduct as required by section 5 of this procedure or 

(b) They have a prejudicial interest in the matter to be considered at the hearing. 

4.6 A date, time and location for the hearing will be decided by officers of Flintshire County 
Council.  The subject member, the Ombudsman and the Standards Committee will be 
informed of these details. 

5. Requirement for Training

5.1 Subject to paragraph 5.2, a member of the Standards Committee will not be eligible to
participate in a hearing considering a report on an alleged breach of the Code of
Conduct unless the member has received training provided or approved by Flintshire
County Council on how to undertake such a hearing and that training was no longer
ago than four years before the date of the relevant hearing.
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5.2 The Standards Committee may decide to waive the requirement for training set out in 
paragraph 5.1 if the Standards Committee considers that it would otherwise be 
impracticable for the Standards Committee to conduct a hearing. 

6. Pre-Hearing Review

6.1 The subject member and the Ombudsman will be asked if they require a pre-hearing
review. The purpose of any such review will be to consider any practical details which
need to be addressed in advance of the hearing.

6.2 If the subject member or the Ombudsman request a pre-hearing review, a meeting of
the Standards Committee will be held for this purpose.

6.3 The Standards Committee may request that a meeting be arranged for the purpose of
a pre-hearing review if the Committee considers that this would be appropriate, and a
request has not been made by the subject member or the Ombudsman. In these
circumstances the subject member and the Ombudsman will be given at least 14 days’
notice and they and their representatives may attend the pre-hearing review.

7. Notice of Hearing

7.1 Notice of the hearing will be given in accordance with the statutory requirements
relating to notice of the Council’s committee meetings.

8. Legal Support

8.1 Flintshire County Council will provide legal and democratic services to the Standards
Committee for the purpose of dealing with a report from the Ombudsman and
conducting a hearing.

8.2 The Monitoring Officer will usually provide legal support to the Standards Committee
but may arrange for another officer of the Council or an external legal adviser to do so.

9. Access to Information

9.1 The Committee will consider whether meetings of the Standards Committee which deal
with reports on alleged breaches of the Code of Conduct should be held in public or
private.

9.2 Whilst the Standards Committee will need to take a decision on the merits of each item
considered at a meeting, having taken account of advice, the Standards Committee
expects that:

(a) Meetings where the Standards Committee is required to make an initial 
determination in respect of report on an alleged breach of the Code of Conduct 
and pre-hearing review will be held in private. This will be on the basis that 
paragraphs 12 and 18 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 
1972 applies and that reports and discussions at such meetings will contain 
information that is exempt from public access because it is information relating 
to a particular individual and because they contain information received in 
confidence. 

(b) The hearing to consider an allegation that the subject member has breached 
the code of conduct will be held in public, subject to requests by the 
Ombudsman or subject member for some/all of the hearing to be held in 
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private.  A request to hold a hearing or part of a hearing in private will be 
considered on its merits 

9.3 The Standards Committee will apply the test of whether, in all the circumstances of the 
case, the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

9.4 It is expected that, subject to consideration of any exceptional circumstances, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption would outweigh the public interest in 
disclosing the information because disclosure of details of a report of an investigation 
into a member’s conduct at the preliminary stages of a multi-stage procedure would be 
a disproportionate intrusion into the private life of the member who is the subject of the 
report and could affect the ability of the member to receive a fair hearing. 

9.5 If the Standards Committee decides that an exemption from public access applies to 
a report or a meeting the exclusion of the public will include any member of Flintshire 
County Council who is not a member of the Standards Committee. 

9.6 In accordance with the constitution of Flintshire County Council, the Standards 
Committee may exclude from a meeting, including a meeting held for the purpose of a 
hearing, any person who interrupts proceedings or who causes a disturbance. 

10. Failure of a Party to attend a hearing 

10.1 If the subject member or the Ombudsman or Ombudsman’s investigating officer fails 
to attend a hearing of which they have been noted the Standards Committee may: 

(a) Make a decision in the absence of the relevant party; or 

(b) Adjourn the hearing if the Standards Committee decides that there is a good 
reason for the absence of the relevant party.   

11. The Hearing 

Preliminary Matters 

11.1 A designated waiting area will be made available for witnesses until they are called. 

11.2 The Standards Committee will consider any representations as to whether the hearing 
should be considered in private and will reach a determination on this in accordance 
with the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in the constitution of Flintshire 
County Council. 

11.3 The Chair will introduce those present and explain the procedure to be followed and 
ask everyone present to confirm that they understand. 

11.4 Any procedural issues will be addressed. 

Determining the facts 

11.5 The Standards Committee will consider whether there are any disagreements between 
the Ombudsman and the subject member as to the facts in the Ombudsman’s report. 

11.6 If there are no disagreements as to the facts the Standards Committee will consider 
whether the facts demonstrate a breach of the Code of Conduct. 
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11.7 If there is a disagreement as to the facts the Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s 
investigating officer will be invited to make representations to support the relevant 
findings of facts in the Ombudsman’s report. The Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s 
investigating officer may call witnesses and the subject member and the Standards 
Committee will be allowed to put questions to any such witnesses. 

11.8 The subject member will then be invited to make representations to support their 
version of the facts. The subject member may call witnesses and the Ombudsman or 
the Ombudsman’s investigating officer and the Standards Committee will be allowed 
to put questions to any such witnesses. 

11.9 At the conclusion of the presentation of the subject member’s case, the Ombudsman 
or the Ombudsman’s investigating officer will be invited to sum up their case as to the 
facts. The subject member will then be invited to sum up their case as to the facts. 

11.10 The Standards Committee will consider their decision on the facts in dispute. This part 
of the hearing will not be open to the public. No person other than members of the 
Standards Committee and any officers and advisers who need to be present to provide 
support to the Standards Committee may be present for this part of the hearing. 

11.11 The Chair of the Standards Committee will announce the Standards Committee’s 
decision on the facts in dispute. 

Whether the facts demonstrate a breach of the Code of Conduct 

11.12 The Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s investigating officer will be invited to make 
representations as to whether the facts, as found by the Standards Committee, 
demonstrate a breach of the Code of Conduct. 

11.13 The subject member will be invited to make representations as to whether the facts, 
as found by the Standards Committee, demonstrate a breach of the Code of Conduct. 

11.14 The Standards Committee will consider their decision as to whether the subject 
member is in breach of the Code of Conduct. This part of the hearing will not be open 
to the public. No person other than members of the Standards Committee and any 
officers and advisers who need to be present to provide support to the Standards 
Committee may be present for this part of the hearing. 

11.15 The Chair of the Standards Committee will announce the Standards Committee’s 
decision as to whether the subject member is in breach of the Code of Conduct. 

If relevant, deciding a sanction 

11.16 If the Standards Committee decides that the subject member breached the Code of 
Conduct, the Standards Committee will ask the Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s 
representative if they wish to make any representations as to whether a sanction 
should be imposed and, if so, what that sanction should be. 

11.17 The Standards Committee will then invite the subject member to make representations 
and to put forward any evidence which the subject member believes that the Standards 
Committee should consider when making a decision as to whether a sanction should 
be imposed and, if so, what that sanction should be. 
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11.18 The Standards Committee may put questions to the Ombudsman or the Ombudsman’s 
representative or the member before reaching a decision as to whether a sanction 
should be imposed and, if so, what that sanction should be. 

11.19 The Standards Committee will consider their decision as to whether a sanction should 
be imposed and, if so, what that sanction should be. This part of the hearing will not 
be open to the public. No person other than members of the Standards Committee and 
any officers and advisers who need to be present to provide support to the Standards 
Committee may be present for this part of the hearing. 

11.20 The Chair of the Standards Committee will announce the Standards Committee’s 
decision as to sanction, 

12. Written Decision 

12.1 The Committee will use reasonable endeavours to announce its decisions on the same 
day that the hearing ends. A full written decision with reasons will be issued within 10 
working days of the end of the hearing and notified to the Ombudsman and the subject 
member. 

13. Appeals 

13.1 If a member is found to have breached the Code of Conduct, that member will have a 
right of appeal to the Adjudication Panel for Wales against the decisions of the 
Standards Committee in accordance with the Local Government Investigations 
(Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 
2001. 

14. Report of the outcome of the investigation 

14.1 The Standards Committee will arrange for a report on the outcome of an investigation 
into alleged breach of the Code of Conduct to be produced in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers 
and Standards Committees) (Wales) Regulations 2001. 

14.2 The report will be sent to: 

(a) The subject member. 

(b) The Ombudsman. 

(c) The Monitoring Officer of Flintshire County Council. 

(d) Where the subject member is a member or co-opted member of a corporate 
joint committee and a member of a constituent council of the corporate joint 
committee or a national park authority which is required to appoint a member 
of the corporate joint committee, to the monitoring officer of the constituent 
council or national park authority. 

14.3 The Standards Committee will also take reasonable steps to send a copy of the report 
to the person who made the allegation which led to the investigation. 

14.4 After receiving the report the Monitoring Officer of Flintshire County Council will carry 
out the following actions in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government 
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Investigations (Functions of Monitoring Officers and Standards Committees) (Wales) 
Regulations 2001: 

(a) Publish the report on the Council’s website and make copies available for 
inspection by the public without charge. 

(b) Supply a copy to any person on request if the person making the request pays 
such charge as the Council may reasonably require. 

(c) Publish a notice in local newspapers and publicise in such other ways as 
appear to the Monitoring Officer to be appropriate that copies of the report are 
available. 
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Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report  
Case: 202105656 Page 1 of 30 

Introduction 

Report by the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales on the 
investigation of a complaint made against Councillor Charles Cordery of 
Buckley Town Council, of a breach of the Council’s statutory Code of 
Conduct for Members 

This report is issued under section 69 of the Local Government Act 2000. 
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Summary 

The Ombudsman received a complaint from the Former Clerk of 
Buckley Town Council (“the Council”) that a Member (“the Member”) of the 
Council had breached the Code of Conduct.  It was alleged that the 
Member had called for the Former Clerk’s resignation at a Council meeting 
which was attended by Councillors, staff and members of the public. 

The investigation considered whether the Member had failed to comply with 
the following provisions of the Code of Conduct: 

• 4(b) - Members must show respect and consideration for others.

• 6(1)(a) - Members must not conduct themselves in a manner which
could reasonably be regarded as bringing their office or authority into
disrepute.

• 7(a) - Members must not in their official capacity or otherwise, use or
attempt to use their position improperly to confer on or secure for
themselves, or any other person, an advantage or create or avoid for
themselves, or any other person, a disadvantage.

• 8(a)(iii) - When participating in meetings or reaching decisions
regarding the business of their authority, to do so on the basis of the
merits of the circumstances involved and in the public interest having
regard to any relevant advice provided by their authority's officers, in
particular by the authority's monitoring officer.

The investigation considered information from the Council, including copies 
of minutes and other documents.  Witness accounts were obtained from 
elected Members of the Council and a senior officer of the parent 
County Council.  During his interview, the Member said a reference to 
keyboard warriors in the meeting Agenda had caused consternation among 
local residents, the community had asked him to raise the matter, and 
whilst he had called for a member of staff’s resignation in the meeting, he 
had not identified anyone by name or gender. 
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Whilst the Member’s freedom of expression under Article 10 of the ECHR 
and relevant caselaw were considered carefully throughout the investigation, 
the investigation found that the Member’s call for a resignation at a public 
meeting, rather than raising any concerns through the Council’s employment 
procedure, undermined the Former Clerk and was contrary to the advice 
provided by the Monitoring Officer and the Council not to discuss 
employment matters in open session; this was suggestive of a breach of 
paragraphs 4(b) and 8(a)(iii) of the Code of Conduct.   

The investigation did not find that the Member had attempted to use his 
position improperly to create a disadvantage for the Former Clerk, or that 
there was sufficient evidence to support a finding of “disrepute” in breach of 
paragraphs 7(a) and 6(1)(a) of the Code of Conduct. 

The report on the investigation was referred to the Deputy Monitoring Officer 
of Flintshire County Council for consideration by the Council’s 
Standards Committee.  
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The Complaint 

1. On 25 October 2021, my office received correspondence from the
Monitoring Officer of Flintshire County Council regarding a complaint by 
Mr Martin Wright (“the Former Clerk”) about Councillor Charles Cordery.  I 
subsequently received a formal complaint from the Former Clerk that 
Councillor Cordery had failed to observe the Code of Conduct for members 
of Buckley Town Council (“the Council”).  It was alleged that at an online 
public Council meeting on Wednesday 20 October 2021, Councillor Cordery 
called for the Former Clerk’s resignation.  Copies of the correspondence 
from the Monitoring Officer, and the Former Clerk’s complaint and 
supporting information, are attached at Appendix 1.  Not all matters referred 
to within the complaint and supporting information were investigated. 

Legal background 

2. As required by Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 (“the Act”),
the Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members which incorporates 
the provisions of a Model Code contained in an order made by the 
Welsh Ministers.  A copy of that Code is at Appendix 2.  Council Members 
are required to sign an undertaking that, in performing their functions, they 
will observe the Council’s Code of Conduct.  Councillor Cordery gave such 
an undertaking on 13 May 2021.  A copy of that declaration is attached at 
Appendix 3. 

3. Section 69 of the Act provides the authority for my investigation and
the production of this report. 

4. Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights (“ECHR”)
was brought into effect in UK law by the Human Rights Act 1998.  It 
provides that:  

“1. Everyone has the right to freedom of expression.  This right shall 
include freedom to hold opinions and to receive and impart 
information and ideas without interference by public authority and 
regardless of frontiers…  
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2. The exercise of these freedoms, since it carries with it duties and
responsibilities, may be subject to such formalities, conditions, 
restrictions and penalties as are prescribed by law and are necessary 
in a democratic society…for the protection of the reputation or rights 
of others”. 

5. Enhanced protection of freedom of expression applies to political
debate, including at local government level.  Article 10 has the effect of 
permitting language and debate on questions of public interest that might, 
in non-political contexts, be regarded as inappropriate or unacceptable.  
This protection does not extend to gratuitous or personal comment.  

6. If behaviour is considered to be in breach of the Code of Conduct,
any restriction to a Member’s freedom of expression must be proportionate 
and justified in the circumstances of any case.  Restriction of a Member’s 
freedom of expression is more likely to be justified the more egregious the 
conduct is.  

7. Caselaw - Sanders v Kingston [2005] England and Wales High Court
(“EWHC”) 1145 which set out a 3-stage test as follows: 

(i) Did the Member’s conduct breach a Paragraph of the Code of 
Conduct?  

(ii) Would the finding, in itself, comprise of a prima facie breach of 
Article 10?  

(iii) If so, would the restriction involved be one which was justified by 
reason of the requirements of Article 10(2)? 

8. Heesom v Public Services Ombudsman for Wales [2014] EWHC
1504 (Admin) (“Heesom”) 

“Civil servants are, of course, open to criticism, including public 
criticism;… it is in the public interest that they are not subject to 
unwarranted comments that disenable them from performing their 
public duties and undermine public confidence in the administration. 
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Therefore, in the public interest, it is a legitimate aim of the State to 
protect public servants from unwarranted comments that have, or 
may have, that adverse effect on good administration.” 

As local authorities are corporate bodies, individual councillors are 
“quasi-employers” of officers employed by their authorities.  As such, 
there is a mutual bond of trust and confidence between councillors 
and their officers.   

9. The statutory provisions of the Local Government Act 1972 are
reinforced by the Council’s own Standing Orders (“STOs”).  Point 33(a) of 
the Council’s STOs states: 

“If at a Meeting [sic] there arises any question relating to the 
appointment, conduct, promotion, performance, dismissal, salary or 
conditions of service, of any person employed by the Council, it shall 
not be considered until the Council or Committee (as the case may 
be) has resolved to exclude the press and public”. 

My investigation 

10. Having considered the complaint as made, my predecessor concluded
that it was appropriate to investigate whether Councillor Cordery had failed 
to comply with any of the following provisions of the Code of Conduct: 

• 4(b) - To show respect and consideration for others.

• 6(1)(a) - Not to conduct himself in a manner which could reasonably
be regarded as bringing his office or authority into disrepute.

• 7(a) - Not to, in his official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to
use his position improperly to confer on or secure for himself, or any
other person, an advantage or create or avoid for himself, or any
other person, a disadvantage.

• 8(a)(iii) - When participating in meetings or reaching decisions
regarding the business of his authority, to do so on the basis of the
merits of the circumstances involved and in the public interest having
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regard to any relevant advice provided by his authority's officers, in 
particular by the authority's monitoring officer.  

11. Councillor Cordery was notified of the complaint on 30 November 2021
(Appendix 4) and informed of the intended investigation on 7 February 2022 
(Appendix 5).  He provided written comments on 5 January, 8 February, 
18 February, 3 March, 8 March and 18 May (Appendix 6). 

12. During the investigation, my Investigation Officer obtained copies of
relevant documents from the Council (Appendix 7). 

13. On 1 June, the Monitoring Officer notified my office that the
Former Clerk had died unexpectedly (Appendix 8). 

14. Witness statements were obtained from the following:

• Mr Gareth Owens - Monitoring Officer 
• Councillor Emma Preece
• Councillor Carolyn Preece
• Councillor Louis Fox
• Councillor Vivienne Blondek
• Former Councillor Peter Shone JP
• Councillor David Ellis
• Councillor Carol Ellis

15. Copies of all witness statements are attached at Appendices 9 - 16.

16. During the investigation Councillor Cordery advised that some
members of the Council wished to give supporting statements on his behalf.  
My office provided Councillor Cordery with information on how they should 
do this, and Councillor Cordery said he would endeavour to ensure their 
evidence was provided (Appendix 17).  Councillors David and Carol Ellis 
provided supporting letters and statements.  Councillor Julia Jones provided 
a supporting letter (Appendix 18) but did not respond to requests for a formal 
statement.  Whilst Councillor Cordery said 2 other members would provide 
evidence, no further supporting information was received. 
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17. The evidence found during the investigation was shared with
Councillor Cordery, enabling him to review it before responding to 
questions which were put to him during an interview on 30 November.  A 
transcript of the interview is included at Appendix 19. 

18. I have given Councillor Cordery the opportunity to comment on a
draft of this report which included the provisional views and finding arising 
from the investigation.  Councillor Cordery provided a response to the draft 
report through his legal representative which is available at Appendix 20. 

My guidance on the Code of Conduct 

19. I have issued Guidance for members of local authorities in Wales on
the Model Code of Conduct (“my Guidance”).  I include at Appendix 21 
extracts of the Guidance which are relevant to this complaint, and which 
were in place and available on the Ombudsman’s website at the time of the 
events. 

Events 

20. Councillor Cordery was elected to the Council in May 2021.

21. During the summer of 2021, Councillor Cordery and the Former Clerk
exchanged a number of emails about the cancellation of summer events in 
Buckley (due to the COVID-19 pandemic) and Councillor Cordery’s 
concerns about Council procedures.  This culminated in matters between 
Councillor Cordery and the Former Clerk being considered by the Council’s 
Establishment Sub-Committee (“the Committee”) at a meeting on 
14 September.  The Committee determined that some of 
Councillor Cordery’s correspondence had been adversarial, and a letter 
was sent to Councillor Cordery on 23 September asking that he moderate 
his communications. 

22. Following the introduction of the Welsh Government’s COVID-19 Pass
and revised regulations on 11 October 2021, Councillor Vivienne Blondek, 
(the then Mayor - “the Mayor”) and Chairs of the Council’s 
Standing Committees, in consultation with the Former Clerk, took the  
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decision to cancel the annual Fireworks Display.  This gave rise to local 
concern on social media about the event being cancelled and interpretation 
of the COVID-19 regulations.   

23. On 15 October the Former Clerk called for a Special Meeting
(“the Meeting”) on 20 October to discuss the cancellation.  The Agenda 
was published on the Council’s website.  Point 2 of the Agenda noted that 
“following the cancellation of this year’s event, some ‘keyboard warriors’ 
have highlighted that the New Regulations allow for exemptions different 
from the reasons quoted on the Town Council Website and in the 
Press Release, thereby indicating that the Firework Display could go 
ahead”.  (Appendix 7 Page 211).  The use of the expression “keyboard 
warriors” in the Agenda generated further local concern on social media.  

24. Councillor Cordery met the Monitoring Officer on 18 October to
discuss his concerns about the Council.  Councillor Cordery shared the 
email exchanges between himself and the Former Clerk and the decision 
by the Committee.  A discussion took place about the pending Meeting, 
(which the Monitoring Officer had been unaware of) and its purpose.  The 
Monitoring Officer provided Councillor Cordery with advice about how the 
Meeting should progress and the importance of following correct 
procedures.  The Monitoring Officer arranged to speak to the Former Clerk 
on 21 October. 

25. At 09:05 on 20 October the Former Clerk sent an email to all
members asking them to consider (should the use of the expression 
“keyboard warriors” be brought up at the Meeting that evening) that he did 
not use social media, he had thought the expression was “common 
parlance” and he had meant no disrespect to anyone.  He reminded 
Members that under STO 33(a) staffing matters and employment issues 
should not be discussed in public session (Appendix 7 Page 216).  

26. The Meeting on 20 October was held online.  It was attended by
Members, the Former Clerk, 2 staff Assistants, a Contractor, an online 
Meeting Administrator and members of the public. 
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27. At the start of the Meeting, the Mayor opened the Agenda item by
advising that before the item was debated, she would read out a statement 
in relation to areas of the Agenda that would not be discussed in open 
session, and that STO 33(a) would have to be applied to exclude the press 
and public if those areas were to be discussed.  

28. As the Mayor started to read her statement Councillor Cordery called
for a “Point of Order”.  The Mayor, drawing on the Council’s STO’s, said 
she would not take the Point of Order as she wished to complete her 
statement.  Councillor Cordery called again for a Point of Order, which the 
Mayor declined.  Councillor Cordery continued to speak, whilst the Mayor 
asked him to be quiet.  Councillor Cordery then referred to “a cover up” and 
“a smoke screen” and called for a “resignation with immediate effect”.  He 
ceased speaking when the Mayor said he would be removed from the 
meeting if he continued.  A debate followed which resolved to reinstate the 
Firework Display. 

29. When the Monitoring Officer called the Former Clerk the following day,
the Former Clerk told him about Councillor Cordery’s intervention at the 
Meeting and said he felt it had been directed at him.  The Monitoring Officer 
provided the Former Clerk with advice on options for mediation, local 
resolution and complaints.  (Appendix 1 Pages 8/9 and 41).  The 
Former Clerk sent a complaint to the Monitoring Officer on 21 October 
(Appendix 1 Page 5).  He was signed off work by his GP on 22 October. 

30. Between 21 and 25 October the Monitoring Officer received a number
of emails from other Members complaining about Councillor Cordery’s 
behaviour at the Meeting (Appendix 1 Pages 12-33).  The Monitoring Officer 
forwarded the correspondence to my office on 25 October along with an 
email in which he explained the background to the complaint and outlined 
his meeting with Councillor Cordery.  

31. The draft minutes for the Meeting were put on the Council’s website
on 25 October.  The draft minutes noted that following his calls for a 
Point of Order, “Councillor Cordery then said words to the effect: ‘There’s a 
cover up going on in the Council in an attempt to protect members of the 
Council staff by brushing things under the carpet and creating a  
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smokescreen thereby bringing the Council into disrepute’.  He then added: 
‘That individual, I will say now, should offer his [sic] resignation with 
immediate effect’”.  (Appendix 1 Page 156). 

32. Councillor Cordery wrote to the Council on 28 and 29 November to
say the minutes were incorrect and damaged his character, and he asked 
for their removal (Appendix 7 Page 246). 

33. The Mayor advised Councillor Cordery that the draft minutes were
posted on the website in line with legislation, and he would have an 
opportunity to raise inaccuracies when the minutes were presented for 
approval at the next Council meeting. 

34. The draft minutes were considered under closed session at a
Council Meeting on 2 March 2022.  An amendment was proposed by 
Councillor Cordery and seconded by Councillor David Ellis.  It was resolved 
that the minutes would be amended to read, “Councillor Cordery then said 
words to the effect: ‘There’s a cover up going on in the Council in an 
attempt to protect members of the Council staff by brushing things under 
the carpet and creating a smokescreen thereby bringing the Council into 
disrepute’.  He then added: ‘That individual, I will say now, should offer their 
resignation with immediate effect’”.  (Appendix 7 Page 274).  The minutes 
were formally approved at a Council meeting on 7 June (Appendix 7 
Pages 275/6 and 282). 

35. The Former Clerk did not return to work and died unexpectedly in
May 2022.  The new Clerk advised my office that the Former Clerk had 
approached ACAS with a request for conciliation (as he believed he had a 
potential tribunal claim) and the period of conciliation had been due to end 
on 10 May 2022 (Appendix 7 page 284).  

What the Former Clerk said 

36. In his complaint to the Monitoring Officer, the Former Clerk noted
Councillor Cordery had said, “‘That individual I will say now should offer his 
resignation with immediate effect’”.  The Former Clerk said, “That remark 
could only have been directed at me as the Council only has three staff, 
two of whom are female”.  (Appendix 1 Page 6). 
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37. In his complaint to my office, the Former Clerk said the events at the
Meeting were not an isolated incident and had been the culmination of a 
number of matters involving Councillor Cordery.  He said Councillor Cordery 
did not say what he was referring to when alleging a “cover up” and “smoke 
screen”, nor did he explain why he should resign with immediate effect.  The 
Former Clerk said a number of members of the public were present at the 
Meeting.  He said the Meeting had had a “profound effect” on his mental 
health and he had been signed off by his GP due to “Stress at Work” 
(Appendix 1 Pages 41 and 168). 

What The Monitoring Officer said 

38. In his correspondence to my office dated 25 October (Appendix 1),
and his subsequent statement, the Monitoring Officer said that when he 
suggested to Councillor Cordery at their meeting on 18 October that he 
should ring the Former Clerk there and then to resolve matters, 
Councillor Cordery was “adamant” and “emphatic” that he should wait until 
after the Meeting on 20 October.  The Monitoring Officer made a note at 
the time of the discussion with Councillor Cordery (Appendix 9).  

39. In his email to my office, the Monitoring Officer said that when
Councillor Cordery made him aware of the nature of the forthcoming 
meeting they spoke about the role of councillors as “quasi-employers” and 
the need to ensure that any debate about potential disciplinary action 
should happen in closed session rather than public.  In his statement, the 
Monitoring Officer said he provided Councillor Cordery with advice 
concerning “the law and employee rights, the need to deal with employee 
matters in confidence, the Town Council’s Standing Orders with regard to 
this, the importance of using proper processes and treating employees 
fairly, and the risk to the Council of not doing so”.  The Monitoring Officer 
said Councillor Cordery appeared to understand, and he did not give any 
indication that he intended to act at the Meeting in the way described by the 
Former Clerk and other Members. 
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40. The Monitoring Officer said that when he spoke to the Former Clerk
on 21 October, the Former Clerk was “very distressed” and “very upset” 
about the Meeting and what Councillor Cordery had said and had indicated 
he would be seeking legal advice.  The Monitoring Officer made a note of 
the discussion with the Former Clerk (Appendix 9). 

What The Witnesses said 

41. In her email to the Monitoring Officer dated 21 October,
Councillor Emma Preece said, “Councillor Cordery called for a ‘point of 
order’, when asked to be silent by the Mayor he repeated himself and 
continued and stated, words to the effect of: there is a cover up to protect 
some members of staff, they have brought the council into disrepute and I 
call for the immediate resignation of the member of staff involved….  It was 
completely out of order to call for the resignation of a member of staff in 
front of several members of the public”. (Appendix 10). 

42. In her statement, Councillor Emma Preece said her “recollection is
that Councillor Cordery stated ‘he’ with reference to the member of staff 
and…it was definitely aimed at the Former Clerk” (Appendix 10). 

43. In her email to the Monitoring Officer dated 21 October,
Councillor Carolyn Preece said Councillor Cordery was “very rude….He 
told everyone including the residents attending that a staff member was out 
of order and needed to apologies [sic] and needed to hand in their notice 
tonight, he went on to say that the matter was being swiped [sic] under the 
carpet and it was a cover up and that it had brought the council into 
disrepute.  This was witnessed by the Mayor, full council of councillors, 
members of the public, staff (the clerk, the clerks 2 assistants) and our 
events subcontractor.” (Appendix 11) 

44. In her addendum statement, Councillor Carolyn Preece said that “the
whole item was aimed at the Former Clerk….It was all about the use of the 
wording ‘keyboard warriors’, that is what Councillor Cordery was referring 
to and nobody else other than the Former Clerk had written those 
words….my recollection is that he said ‘his’ notice rather than ‘their’ notice 
when referring to handing notice in” (Appendix 11). 
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45. In 2 emails to the Monitoring Officer dated 21 October, 
Councillor Louis Fox said, Councillor Cordery had, “tried to humiliate a 
member of our staff in demanding they tender their resignation”, and when 
“Mayor Cllr Vivienne Blondek attempted to open the meeting Cllr Cordery 
rudely interjected, Cllr Cordery made a comment during his speech in 
which he made reference to a male member of staff (of which there is only 
one, our Clerk Martin Wright), using the word ‘'his’ to make this distinction, 
stating; ‘That individual should tender his resignation this evening with 
immediate effect’.  Cllr Cordery went on to insinuate that there is a ‘cover 
up’ going on for this particular member of staff and that certain members of 
the Town Council are actively protecting him.”  (Appendix 12). 
 
46. In her email to the Monitoring Officer dated 21 October, the Mayor, 
Councillor Vivienne Blondek, said that when she made a statement at the 
start of the meeting and referred to STO 33(a) she was, “rudely interrupted 
by Councillor Charles Cordery calling for a point of order.  He was stating a 
member of staff had brought the council into disrepute and must apologise.  
He made allegations of a cover up and creating a smokescreen to protect 
this member and demanded ‘he resigns with immediate effect’.”  In her 
statement, the Mayor said that Councillor Cordery continued to talk over 
her in “a loud and aggressive tone” (Appendix 13). 
 
47. In his email to the Monitoring Officer dated 25 October, 
Former Councillor Peter Shone JP said “As I recall, before the Mayor was 
able to completed [sic] her opening remarks, Councillor Cordery raised a 
point of order which he persisted in pressing forward, even though the 
Mayor and Chair of the meeting had on several occasions requested 
Councillor Cordery to stand down, culminating in his demand for the 
Clark [sic] to resign, suggesting the actions of the Clark [sic] had brought 
Buckley Town Council into disrepute.  All this was being witnesses [sic] by 
the observing members of the public” (Appendix 14). 
 
48. In an email to my office dated 5 January 2022, Councillor David Ellis 
said, “Councillor Cordery raised a point of order immediately, over what he 
believed would stifle debate, and stated that it was shameful that it was not 
going to be the subject of debate….  He believed that the person who 
made the comments regarding ‘Keyboard Warriors’ should consider their  
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position and offer their resignation with immediate effect….at no time did 
Councillor Cordery name anyone by name or by their gender.” 
(Appendix 15). 
 
49. In an email to my office dated 7 January 2022, Councillor Carol Ellis 
said, “Councillor Cordery raised a point of order over a comment made by 
the Mayor that he believed would stifle debate and stated that it was 
shameful that the subject of Keyboard Warriors not [sic] going to be the 
subject of debate…and he believed that the comments made regarding 
Keyboard Warriors that the person who made that comment should 
consider their position and offer their resignation with immediate effect.  At 
no time during his statement did Councillor Cordery mention anyone by 
name or gender.”  (Appendix 16). 

 
50. In her statement, Councillor Carol Ellis said, “In my opinion 
Councillor Cordery’s comments were criticism of the comments made by 
the Town council in the agenda about Keyboard Warriors.”  (Appendix 16). 

 
51. In her supporting letter, Councillor Julia Jones said “The wording in 
the agenda referred to the public as “Key Board Warriors" which has upset 
a lot of the public. While Councillor Cordery was speaking the mayor kept 
interrupting, but at no point did Councillor Cordery refer to anyone by name 
or gender, he was merely stating what had been said to him by the pubic 
[sic] of Buckley” (Appendix 18). 
 
What Councillor Cordery said 
 
52. In his written comments, Councillor Cordery said:  
 

• The issue about the summer events was “driven out of all proportion” 
by the Former Clerk, and the meeting to discuss those matters 
“served no real purpose” other than to report him to my office. 
 

• The Fireworks Display was cancelled by the Former Clerk without full 
Council consultation, and his reference to “keyboard warriors” caused 
“consternation” amongst residents.   
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• At the Meeting he, “raised a point of order over the stifling of debate” 
and “the Town Council in allowing this showed no respect to its 
residents I also suggested that the person who made these 
comments should consider their position to be untenable and offer 
their immediate resignation….at no point during this dialogue did I 
identify the person who I was referring to either by name or gender”. 

 
• He considered the complaint to be “vexatious”, “without merit or 

foundation” and “designed by those that wish to indulge in party 
politics and deviousness”.  
 

• The Former Clerk altered “the spoken narrative in the minutes for his 
own benefit” and an amendment to the minutes was subsequently 
passed which gave a more accurate version of what was said.  

 
53. In his interview, Councillor Cordery said: 
 

• He had no previous experience of being a Member before he joined 
the Council.  When he became a Member, he was given a bundle of 
documents which included the Council’s STOs, but he did not receive 
any guidance on them.  He did not have any Code of Conduct 
training until 2022.  He was elected Deputy Mayor for 2022 - 2023.   

 
• His email exchanges with the Former Clerk had been “assertive”, and 

he did not see the matter as “any kind of conflict”.   
 

• He asked to meet the Monitoring Officer because he was concerned 
about the way things were going with the Council and he wanted to 
“gain an understanding of the way forward”. 

 
• At the meeting with the Monitoring Officer, they “broadly touched” on 

the forthcoming Meeting and “its need for confidentiality”, and there 
was “reference to potential disciplinary action”.  He left with the 
impression that he “could ask a question” and his view was to 
approach the Meeting to see how “it moves forward”.   
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• He did not recall saying the Monitoring Officer should wait to speak to 
the Former Clerk until after the Meeting.  He said it was not his role to 
tell the Monitoring Officer what to do. 

 
• He “may” or “may not” have opened the email sent by the 

Former Clerk to all members on 20 October at 09.05.  He said the 
email was an effort by the Former Clerk “to try and excuse his 
behaviour”.  

 
• He did not shout when the Mayor raised STO 33(a) at the start of the 

Meeting and declined his Point of Order.  He said STO 33(a) “didn’t 
mean anything” to him at the time.  

 
• He was asked by the community to raise the use of the term 

“keyboard warriors” at the Meeting, and that is what he attempted to 
do.  He said he had a duty to the people that elected him, which he 
could not ignore, and he wanted to explore why the community “had 
been insulted” and “marginalised”.  He was expressing “the 
community’s viewpoint”, and it did not enter his mind that he might 
stray into criticising staff in a public meeting.   

 
• With regard to the reference to “keyboard warriors” he said, “if you 

insult the community; if you disregard the community in that way and 
make comments in that way, then you know, you should leave, you 
should leave your position.  I mean you’re not acting in anyone’s 
best, best interests if you do that…the Town Clerk is, is a position 
which people look up to.”   

 
• As a councillor he was the Former Clerk’s “employer”.  His call for a 

resignation should be put “into context”.  He said the community 
asked him to raise the matter and “that individual, when its raised 
should go away and examine their own conscience and decide 
what’s best for the Town Council.  And unfortunately he didn’t.  Now, 
any honest or reasonable person would have done that”. 
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• His comments were “all directed at” the Former Clerk, however he did 
not mention him by name, gender, or job title and the comment, “that 
individual, I will say now, should offer their resignation with immediate 
effect’” could “have been directed at any one of those people that 
were in the meeting”. 

 
• He did not think his conduct at the Meeting went against the 

Monitoring Officer’s advice.  The meeting with the Monitoring Officer 
was a “general discussion,” and when he left “it was quite open” and 
he had “nothing planned to say”.  He was “surprised” about what the 
Monitoring Officer had put in his statement.  He said he had not 
formed any “rationale” of what he would say at the Meeting, and his 
actions were not motivated by the previous matters with the 
Former Clerk. 

 
• The Former Clerk had used what happened at the Meeting to make 

an “engineered” dispute and claim against the Council in order to 
obtain a settlement and leave his employment.  He did not think his 
conduct at the Meeting had opened the door for legal action by the 
Former Clerk. 

 
• Whether, with hindsight, he would have done anything differently was 

“a really difficult question”.  At the time he was a new Member and all 
he had tried to do was to raise a matter that was of interest to the 
community.  He did not think he had breached the Code of Conduct.   

 
• Some of the witnesses were political opponents who were against 

him and wanted to try and remove him, and their statements had 
contradicted the minutes they had ultimately agreed. 

 
54. In response to the draft report, Councillor Cordery said: 
 

• He was not disrespectful towards the Former Clerk and his 
comments had been made “in a calm and constructive manner”. 
 

• He felt a Point of Order about the use of the term ‘keyboard warriors’ 
had not been recognised and the decision to remove the topic from 
the meeting was incorrectly handled by the Chair. 
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• The finalised minutes of the meeting were the correct evidence to 
conclude that there was no breach of the Code. 

 
• He did not shout or use offensive language. 

 
• Members of the public had supported his action at the meeting on 

social media. 
 

• His meeting with the MO felt like “general conversation”, he did not 
recall asking the MO not to contact the Former Clerk before the 
meeting on 20 October, “even if such a request was made” it was not 
motivated by a desire to ambush the Former Clerk, and “it was the 
duty of the MO to explore lines of contact with [the Former Clerk]”.  
 

• There was insufficient evidence to conclude that the Monitoring Officer 
had given him detailed advice at their meeting or that he had viewed 
the Former Clerk’s email on the morning of 20 October.  

 
• There was no evidence to suggest that he had brought his office or 

authority into disrepute and no “level of dishonesty” which was 
necessary for such a finding. 

 
• As a new Councillor it was “only the first or second meeting” he had 

attended. 
 

• The delivery and receipt of information at online meetings is open to 
misinterpretation. 

 
• The complaint was politically motivated and “escalated and 

engineered” with the aim of removing him undemocratically by 
opposing members. 

 
• He believed the Monitoring Officer “could be hostile” to him following 

his previous engagement as a Union Representative. 
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• It was “reasonable to expect those who engage in Political [sic] 
debate to anticipate sometimes difficult challenges to their views 
and/or behaviour”, the matter “falls within the enhanced protection of 
freedom of expression afforded to political debate under Article 10” 
and it was not in the public interest to pursue it. 

 
• He was a man of good character with a varied professional career.  

He had been Deputy Mayor of the Council, he was the current Mayor 
and there had been no complaint about him in either of these roles. 

 
• He would have benefited from training when he was first elected.  

 
55. A full copy of Councillor Cordery’s response is available at Appendix 20. 
 
Undisputed facts 
 
56. Councillor Cordery was elected to the Council in May 2021.  He was 
elected Deputy Mayor in May 2022 and Mayor in May 2023.  At the time of 
the events, he had not attended any training on the Code of Conduct.  
 
57. Councillor Cordery and the Former Clerk exchanged emails during 
the summer of 2021 which culminated in a letter being sent by the Council 
to Councillor Cordery about his behaviour advising him to moderate his 
communications. 
 
58. The Council cancelled the annual Fireworks Display following the 
introduction of revised COVID-19 guidelines on 11 October 2021. 
 
59. The cancellation of the Fireworks Display caused local concern on 
social media. 
 
60. On 15 October, the Former Clerk called for an emergency Meeting on 
20 October to discuss the cancellation, and an Agenda was put on the 
Council’s website which referred to comments from “keyboard warriors”.  

 
61. The reference to “keyboard warriors” in the Agenda caused local 
concern. 
 

35 



 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report                                                  
Case: 202105656  Page 21 of 30 
 

62. On 18 October Councillor Cordery had a discussion with the 
Monitoring Officer during which the Monitoring Officer provided advice to 
Councillor Cordery.  The Monitoring Officer made a note of the discussion 
at the time in his notebook. 

 
63. Following the discussion with Councillor Cordery, the Monitoring Officer 
arranged to speak to the Former Clerk on 21 October. 

 
64. On the morning of 20 October, the Former Clerk sent an email to all 
members which asked them to consider his explanation for the term he had 
used and reminded them of STO 33(a). 

 
65. An online Meeting was held in the evening on 20 October.  It was 
attended by Members, the Former Clerk, 2 staff Assistants, a Contractor, 
an online Meeting Administrator and members of the public. 

 
66. At the start of the Meeting the Mayor began to read out a statement 
regarding the words in the Agenda that had caused offence which would 
not be discussed in open session and said that STO 33(a) would have to 
be applied to exclude the press and public if those areas were to be 
discussed. 

 
67. As the Mayor was speaking Councillor Cordery called for a Point of 
Order.  He then directed all his comments at the Former Clerk and referred 
to “a cover up” and “a smoke screen” and demanded a “resignation with 
immediate effect”. 

 
68. The Monitoring Officer contacted the Former Clerk on 21 October.  
The Monitoring Officer made a note of the discussion on 21 October in his 
notebook. 
 
69. On 21 and 25 October the Former Clerk and members of the Council 
sent complaints to the Monitoring Officer about Councillor Cordery’s 
intervention at the Meeting. 

 
70. On 22 October, the Former Clerk went on sick leave and did not 
return to work. 
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71. On 25 October, the Council published draft Meeting minutes on its 
website which included the comment, “That individual, I will say now, 
should offer his [sic] resignation with immediate effect”.  

 
72. On 28 and 29 November Councillor Cordery challenged the draft 
minutes.   

 
73. At a Council meeting on 2 March 2022, Councillor Cordery proposed 
that where the minutes stated, “should offer his [sic] resignation” they were 
amended to “should offer their resignation”.  The amendments were 
agreed.  The revised minutes were formally approved on 7 June. 

 
74. The Former Clerk died unexpectedly in May. 

 
Disputed facts 
 
75. Did Councillor Cordery say the Monitoring Officer should wait until 
after the public Meeting to speak to the Former Clerk? 
 
76. Did Councillor Cordery ignore the Monitoring Officer’s advice? 
 
77. Did Councillor Cordery’s call for a resignation identify the Former Clerk?  
 
Analysis of evidence 
 
Did Councillor Cordery say the Monitoring Officer should wait until after the 
public Meeting to speak to the Former Clerk? 
 
78. In his correspondence to my office, the Monitoring Officer said that 
when he agreed to ring the Former Clerk, Councillor Cordery suggested he 
should do so after the forthcoming Meeting.  The Monitoring Officer said 
although he suggested to Councillor Cordery “a number of times” that it 
would be better to speak to the Former Clerk before the Meeting, 
Councillor Cordery was “emphatic” that he should not.  The 
Monitoring Officer said he thought Councillor Cordery’s insistence 
was “slightly odd” at the time, however he did not question it.   
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79. In his statement, the Monitoring Officer said he made a note of his 
discussion with Councillor Cordery (Appendix 9 Exhibit GO-01).  This was 
a handwritten note made in his notebook at the time.  He said that when 
they discussed the Meeting, he saw the potential for criticism of the 
Former Clerk and, being aware of the Council’s STOs, the potential for the 
meeting to “go wrong”.  He said he talked “at length” to Councillor Cordery 
about the Meeting and suggested he should call the Former Clerk “there 
and then” to clear matters up.  He said Councillor Cordery “remained 
adamant” he should wait until after the Meeting.   

 
80. In his interview, Councillor Cordery said he did not recall the 
Monitoring Officer suggesting he should call the Former Clerk “there and 
then”, and he did not recall saying the Monitoring Officer should wait until 
after the Meeting.  He said he could not tell the Monitoring Officer what to 
do. 

 
81. Whilst the Monitoring Officer and Councillor Cordery’s accounts 
differ, given that the Monitoring Officer made a note of the meeting at the 
time and his recollection is supported by this contemporaneous written 
account, on the balance of probabilities I am persuaded that the 
Monitoring Officer’s note reflects the conversation which took place.  The 
note of the discussion records an agreement to ring the Former Clerk, and 
that Councillor Cordery “commented a couple of times that he should wait 
until after Wednesday to do so”.  In the light of the nature of the discussion, 
the Monitoring Officer’s concern to resolve matters quickly, the note of the 
meeting, and the Monitoring Officer’s arrangement to speak to the 
Former Clerk the day after the meeting, I consider that on balance 
Councillor Cordery did say to the Monitoring Officer that he should wait until 
after the public Meeting to speak to the Former Clerk. 
  
Did Councillor Cordery ignore the Monitoring Officer’s advice? 
 
82. In his correspondence to my office, the Monitoring Officer said, “As a 
union rep of over 30 years’ experience Cllr Cordery would have known that 
he should not have publicly called for the clerk to resign.” 
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83. In his statement, the Monitoring Officer said he had talked “at length” 
to Councillor Cordery about the forthcoming Meeting and “matters 
concerning the law and employee rights, the need to deal with employee 
matters in confidence, the Town Council’s Standing Orders with regard to 
this, the importance of using proper processes and treating employees 
fairly, and the risk to the Town Council of not doing so, which he appeared 
to acknowledge and understand”.   

 
84. In his interview, Councillor Cordery said they “broadly touched” on 
the Meeting, “its need for confidentiality” and “potential disciplinary action.”  
He said he did not think that what he said at the Meeting went against the 
Monitoring Officer’s advice “in any great detail”.  He also said that STO 
33(a) “didn’t meant anything” to him at the time. 

 
85. Councillor Cordery was provided with advice by the Monitoring Officer 
and the Former Clerk about not discussing employment matters in open 
session.  In his interview, Councillor Cordery said he “may” or “may not” 
have opened the email from the Former Clerk (sent to all Members in 
advance of the Meeting) which reminded them about STO 33(a) and not 
discussing staffing and employment matters in open session.  The Mayor 
also set this out at the start of the Meeting.  While I acknowledge 
Councillor Cordery’s claim that he “may not” have read this, I am satisfied 
that it was sent in advance of the meeting and that the thrust of the content 
was shared again at the start of the meeting.  Councillor Cordery has not 
denied calling for a resignation and the Council’s approved minutes show 
that he did.  I consider that in making his intervention, which encompassed 
reference to “members of the Council staff” and a resignation, 
Councillor Cordery ignored the advice provided by the Monitoring Officer, 
the Former Clerk and the Mayor. 
 
Did Councillor Cordery’s call for a resignation identify the Former Clerk?  
  
86. In his interview, whilst Councillor Cordery acknowledged that his 
comments were “all directed at” the Former Clerk, he said he did not 
mention him by name, gender, or job title, and that what he had said could 
have been “directed at any one of those people that were in the meeting”.  
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87. The Former Clerk stated in his email to the Monitoring Officer on 
21 October that Councillor Cordery’s comment, “‘That individual I will say 
now should offer his resignation with immediate effect’…. could only have 
been directed at me as the Council only has three staff, two of whom are 
female.” 
 
88. The majority of the witnesses commented that Councillor Cordery 
either said, “he” or “his” with reference to a member of Council staff and the 
call for resignation, and that his intervention was aimed directly at the 
Former Clerk.  Councillors David Ellis, Carol Ellis and Julia Jones said 
Councillor Cordery did not mention anyone by name or gender, whilst 
Councillor Julia Jones did not provide a formal witness statement, the 
content of her supporting letter, specifically whether gender was referred to, 
has been considered.   

 
89. The various accounts of what Councillor Cordery said differ.  The 
approved minutes reflect a gender-neutral statement.  What is clear from 
the circumstances which gave rise to the Meeting and Councillor Cordery’s 
interview, is that Councillor Cordery wanted to discuss the Former Clerk’s 
use of the term “keyboard warriors” in the Agenda, and when this was 
impeded, he immediately called for “that individual” to resign.  Regardless 
of whether Councillor Cordery used the word “their”, rather than “he” or 
“his” with regard to the resignation, witnesses interpreted his comments as 
either related to the Former Clerk directly or the person who made the 
comments regarding “keyboard warriors” (which was the Former Clerk).  It 
was clear therefore that his comments were directed at the Former Clerk.  
Therefore, I consider that on balance Councillor Cordery’s call for a 
resignation was seen as identifying, and/or directed at, the Former Clerk, 
rather than anyone else.  
 
Conclusions 
 
90. My Guidance sets out that members are expected to afford the 
public, colleagues, opponents and officers the same courtesy and 
consideration they show to others in their everyday lives.  This does not 
mean that Members cannot participate in robust debate with political 
opponents or make legitimate challenges in questioning policy or 
scrutinising performance, but it must be measured.  
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91. Appropriate challenges to the manner in which non-elected senior 
public servants do their job, even in very robust terms, are protected by 
Article 10.  However, Article 10(2) provides that this right may be restricted 
as prescribed in law and when necessary in democratic society, for the 
protection of the reputation and rights of others.  Caselaw (set out above) 
states that, in the public interest, it is a legitimate aim of the State to protect 
public servants from unwarranted comments that have, or may have, an 
adverse effect on good administration.  Officers should not therefore be 
subject to unwarranted comments which may be reputationally damaging 
or that disenable them from carrying out their duties or undermine public 
confidence in the administration.   
 
92. In his correspondence to my office dated 25 October, the 
Monitoring Officer said he spoke to Councillor Cordery about the role of 
councillors as “quasi-employers” on 18 October.  In his interview 
Councillor Cordery referred to himself several times as the Former Clerk’s 
“employer”.  In my view calling for the resignation of a member of staff in a 
public meeting is a humiliating thing for an employer to do.  It also has the 
potential of impairing the obligation of mutual trust and confidence between 
the employee and employer.  The Monitoring Officer said the Former Clerk 
was “very distressed” and “very upset” about what Councillor Cordery said 
in front of members of the public.  The Former Clerk said in his complaint to 
my office that it had a “profound effect” on his mental health, and he had to 
take sick leave.  

 
93. Councillor Cordery said that as a Member he had a duty to the 
people that elected him, which he could not ignore, and he wanted to 
explore why the community “had been insulted” and “marginalised”.  He 
had been made aware of the correct procedures to follow in relation to 
personnel matters.  Whilst he was entitled to raise his concerns at the 
meeting, his call for the Former Clerk’s resignation in a public forum, was 
inappropriate and capable of breaching the duty of trust between the 
Council and its employee.  

 
94. Whilst Councillor Cordery said he was expressing “the community’s 
viewpoint” and he did not identify the Former Clerk, the intention behind his 
words was clear to others.  In determining whether there was a failure to 
show respect and consideration, I will consider the specific circumstances 
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of the case and if there was an attempt to undermine the individuals 
involved.  In my view, Councillor Cordery’s behaviour was an attempt to 
undermine an officer of the Council, specifically the Former Clerk, and is 
therefore suggestive of a breach of paragraph 4(b). 
 
95. Councillor Cordery said the Former Clerk held a position that “people 
look up to”.  As such he appears to have seen the Former Clerk as 
influential and respected in the community.  Although Councillor Cordery 
said he did not identify the Former Clerk he did acknowledge at interview 
that his comments were “directed at” him.  Given the circumstances, I 
consider the Former Clerk was entitled to feel the remarks were unjustified, 
and that they caused him distress and questioned his position.  Whilst 
Councillor Cordery’s comments could be seen as an effort to ambush the 
Former Clerk, he said he had attempted to address a concern on behalf of 
the community and that he was expressing their viewpoint.  Although I 
consider Councillor Cordery’s remarks were ill-judged and misplaced, I do 
not consider that the evidence obtained indicates he used, or attempted to 
use, his position improperly to create a disadvantage for the Former Clerk, 
and I do not find that he acted in a way which is suggestive of a breach of 
paragraph 7(a) of the Code of Conduct. 

 
96. Councillor Cordery received advice and guidance from the 
Monitoring Officer about how the Meeting should progress, which included 
the need to consider employee rights and the Council’s STOs.  The 
Monitoring Officer said Councillor Cordery appeared to acknowledge and 
understand this, and he gave no indication that he intended to act in the 
way described.  Whilst the Monitoring Officer sought to resolve matters 
between Councillor Cordery and the Former Clerk, Councillor Cordery 
asked him to wait until after the Meeting.  There is a concern that in doing 
so Councillor Cordery had already formed an intention to speak against 
the Former Clerk at the Meeting.  The motive for this is unclear, however 
there is evidence that Councillor Cordery and the Former Clerk had 
disagreed previously.  Councillor Cordery said his discussion with the 
Monitoring Officer “broadly touched” on the Meeting, “its need for 
confidentiality” and “potential disciplinary action” and he did not think what 
he said at the Meeting went against the Monitoring Officer’s advice “in any 
great detail”.  Whilst it was for Councillor Cordery to decide whether to 
accept the advice he was given; he has not provided any evidence to 
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suggest he gave it due regard or careful consideration.  The Code states 
that members should, in particular have regard to any relevant advice 
provided by their authority’s Monitoring Officer.  In calling for a member of 
Council staff to resign in an open session, Councillor Cordery appears to 
have ignored advice from the Monitoring Officer, the Former Clerk and the 
Mayor.  I consider his conduct is therefore suggestive of a breach of 
paragraph 8(a)(iii) which places him to have regard to any relevant advice 
from the Monitoring Officer. 
 
97. In disregarding the Monitoring Officer’s advice, the Former Clerk was 
not given an opportunity to resolve matters and prevent public criticism.  
Councillor Cordery has not demonstrated any recognition that his words 
were hurtful, ill-advised or inflammatory.  Instead, at interview and in his 
comments on the draft report, he maintained he was acting for the 
community and sought to denigrate the Former Clerk.  He said the 
Former Clerk had used what happened at the Meeting to make an 
“engineered” dispute and claim against the Council in order to obtain a 
settlement and leave his employment, and he did not think his conduct at 
the Meeting had opened the door for legal action by the Former Clerk.  

 
98. I have considered Article 10 of the ECHR and relevant caselaw 
throughout the investigation.  I accept that elected Members have a duty to 
question and scrutinise officers and that Councillor Cordery felt he had a 
duty to his electorate.  However, I consider that his call for a resignation in 
public was a very specific attack on the competency of the Former Clerk, 
who, as an employee, had a right to expect concerns about his competency 
to be addressed through the proper personnel process which would have 
afforded him appropriate privacy.  Therefore, a public attack was 
unwarranted.  Such an action has the ability to undermine public 
confidence in the Council’s administration and to disenable staff from 
carrying out their duties.  It also interferes with the right of the Former Clerk 
to privacy, in respect of a personnel matter.   A legitimate aim of any 
interference with Article 10 rights is to prevent the interference with the 
rights and reputation of others.  Therefore, I am satisfied that, given the 
circumstances, if a breach were proven, any sanction would be a 
proportionate interference with Article 10, in order to protect the rights of 
another. 
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99. A member’s actions are subject to greater scrutiny than those of 
ordinary members of the public and their actions may have an adverse 
impact on the public perception of their office as a member or their Council 
as a whole.  Whilst I am satisfied that Councillor Cordery’s behaviour is 
suggestive of a breach of paragraphs 4(b) and 8(a)(iii), and the calling in 
public for the Former Clerk’s resignation went against employee rights to 
due process, and the Council’s STO 33(a), requiring employment matters 
to be heard in private session, his personal comments at the meeting would 
not in my view impact on the reputation of the Council as whole.  I am not 
therefore persuaded that the evidence is sufficient to support a finding of 
“disrepute” in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code of Conduct.  

 
100. I have also had regard to the test in Sanders v Kingston (set out above) 
when considering whether a referral to the Council’s Standards Committee 
is proportionate.  As I have noted, I consider that (i) the actions of 
Councillor Cordery, in respect of his comments about officers, are suggestive 
of a breach of the Code of Conduct.  I recognise that this finding, given the 
nature of his comments, may (ii) comprise a breach of Article 10, as it would 
be considered an interference with his right to freedom of expression.  
However, I am of the view that (iii) it is a legitimate aim of the ethical 
standards regime in Wales to protect officers from conduct of this kind and 
that, if the breaches are proven, a restriction would be justified for the 
reasons set out in Article 10 (2) above. 
 
Finding 
 
101. My finding under section 69 of the Local Government Act 2000 
is that my report on this investigation should be referred to the 
Deputy Monitoring Officer of Flintshire County Council, for 
consideration by the Council’s Standards Committee.  
 
 
 
 
Michelle Morris 
Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus/Public Services Ombudsman 
 

               29 September 2023 

44 



 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report                                                  
Case: 202105656  Page 30 of 30 
 

Appendix 
 

Appendix 1 The Complaint and Supporting Information 
Appendix 2 The Council’s Code of Conduct  
Appendix 3 Declarations of Acceptance of Office  
Appendix 4 Notification of Complaint 
Appendix 5 Investigation Start Letter 
Appendix 6 Councillor Cordery’s Comments 
Appendix 7 Information from the Council 
Appendix 8 Information provided by the Monitoring Officer 
Appendix 9  Monitoring Officer’s Statement and Exhibits 
Appendix 10 Councillor E Preece’s Statement and Exhibits 
Appendix 11 Councillor C Preece’s Statement and Exhibits 
Appendix 12 Councillor L Fox’s Statement and Exhibits 
Appendix 13 Councillor V Blondek’s Statement and Exhibits 
Appendix 14 Former Councillor Shone JP’s Statement and Exhibits 
Appendix 15 Councillor D Ellis’s Statement and Exhibits 
Appendix 16 Councillor C Ellis’s Statement and Exhibits 
Appendix 17 Correspondence with Councillor Cordery 
Appendix 18 Councillor Julia Jones’ Letter of Support 
Appendix 19 Interview Transcript 
Appendix 20 Councillor Cordery’s response to the draft report 
Appendix 21 Extracts from the Guidance on the Code of Conduct 

 
 

45 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae 
Pencoed 
CF35 5LJ 
 
Tel: 01656 641150 
Fax: 01656 641199 
Email: ask@ombudsman-wales.org.uk 
Follow us on Twitter: @OmbudsmanWales 

46 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SECTION C - APPENDICES TO THE 
OMBUDSMAN’S REPORT 

47 



From:                                 Leigh McAndrew
Sent:                                  Tue, 16 Nov 2021 12:03:02 +0000
To:                                      Work Pro
Subject:                             FW: CONFIDENTIAL. Complaint in respect of Cllr Charles Cordery, Buckley Town 
Council

From: Gareth Legal < > 
Sent: 25 October 2021 09:17
To: Sinead Cook < >
Subject: CONFIDENTIAL. Complaint in respect of Cllr Charles Cordery, Buckley Town Council 
 
Dear Sinead
 
I have received a number of emails (attached) from Martin Wright (town clerk), Mayor (Cllr Blondek) 
plus councillors Emma & Carolyn Preece and Louis Fox of Buckley Town Council complaining about 
events that took place at an extraordinary meeting of Buckley Town Council on 20 October 2021.  They 
have each confirmed to me that they would like their email to forwarded to you as a complaint in 
respect of Cllr Charles Cordery.  Due to the fact that the clerk has now been signed off sick for 1 month 
and the multiple complaints I have agreed to collate and forward them to you collectively.  I have no 
fixed view on whether they should be regarded as a complaint from the clerk with 4 witnesses or 5 
separate complaints.
 
I also want to add some context based on my own conversation with Cllr Cordery 2 days before the 
council meeting took place, and my conversations with the clerk since the meeting.
 
Background
There has been some local consternation in Buckley about the cancellation of a planned fireworks 
display on advice from Martin Wright as the town clerk.  He had mistakenly believed that the event 
could not proceed under current covid rules.  When challenged about this, he referred to people who 
had been commenting on social media as “keyboard warriors”, which caused further upset.   As you will 
see from the emails an emergency town council meeting was called for Wednesday night to debate the 
issue.  The meeting was held over Zoom and a number of members of the public were present.  Sadly no 
recording was made.
 
On the morning of the meeting the clerk sent an email  advising members not to discuss staffing issues 
in open session (Standing order 33) which has been sent to me by Carol Ellis (attached).  It is not possible 
to see who opened it from the copy that I have, but it might be possible to see this from the council’s 
email system.  At the start of the meeting the Mayor also tried to advise the council not to speak about 
specific employees in open session.  Cllr Cordery is alleged to have interrupted her on a “point of order” 
in which he stated that an employee had brought the council into disrepute and should give his 
resignation with immediate effect.     Martin is the only male employee and so he and others regard the 
comment as directed at him.
 
As it happens, I had spoken to Cllr Cordery on Monday 18 October about correspondence between him 
and Martin over the summer.  I had agreed with Cllr Cordery that I would speak to Martin about the 
correspondence in order to try and de-escalate tension that was arising as a result.  Cllr Cordery 
suggested that I should do so after the forthcoming extraordinary meeting on Wednesday, of which, I 

002 48 



was, at that time, unaware. We then went on to discuss the reasons for the forthcoming council 
meeting.  I was concerned about how such a meeting might turn out given its focus on the actions of 
one employee.  We spoke for 30 minutes or so about the role of councillors as quasi-employers and the 
need to ensure that any debate about potential disciplinary action should happen in closed session 
rather than in public, so as not to give the clerk cause to complain under the code or to bring legal action 
against the council. I appealed to Cllr Cordery’s experience as a union representative to consider how he 
would act if the clerk were a union member who he was representing.
 
I suggested to Cllr Cordery a number of times that it might be better if I were to speak to the clerk 
before the meeting.  He was emphatic that I should not and on each occasion repeated that I should do 
so after the meeting. I therefore arranged to speak to the clerk on Thursday.    I thought Cllr Cordery’s 
insistence slightly odd at the time but did not ask why he was so determined on this point.  I now 
suspect that it was perhaps because Cllr Cordery had already formed an intention to speak as alleged.
 
Cllr Cordery is a newly elected councillor having been returned at a by election in May 2021.  I am not 
aware of whether he has undertaken training on the code of conduct with anyone else. I have not 
provided a training course since that date so he has not been trained by me or my deputy.
 
Current Position
When I spoke to the clerk on Thursday morning I was initially unaware of what had transpired the 
previous evening.  It soon became apparent that he was very upset by the events.  Martin is not 
normally one to share his feelings but he did so on this occasion. He was and remains distressed by the 
events and is particularly concerned that these statements were made in an open meeting at which a 
number of members of the public were present.  He has been signed off sick by his doctor for 1 month.  
 
I have nevertheless spoken to him briefly by telephone to understand how he wished to proceed.  He 
did not believe that local resolution was appropriate in the circumstances, and had no confidence that it 
would produce any change in Cllr Cordery’s behaviour. He has also referred to taking legal independent 
legal advice about his position and has made reference to not being able to carry on working for the 
council and constructive dismissal.
 
Code
The complainants have not specified which paragraphs of the code they believe to have been breached.  
If they took place as described, Cllr Cordery’s actions appear to be a potential breach of paragraphs 4(b) 
and (c) of the code in respect of his behaviour towards the clerk, and paragraph 4(b) in respect of the 
Mayor.    Given the public reaction to events in Handforth Parish Council it might also be possible to 
argue that such conduct also brings his council and/or office into disrepute (para 6).  
 
There is undoubtedly public interest in councillors being able to challenge the actions of the council’s 
employees, and there is no doubt that Martin’s use of the phrase “keyboard warriors” caused public 
offence (see the email from Carol Ellis).  It is quite possible that his comment and/or incorrect advice 
merit some form of investigation and/or disciplinary action. However, there is of course a time and place 
for this plus a proper process.  As a union rep of over 30 years’ experience Cllr Cordery would have 
known that he should not have publicly called for the clerk to resign.  His criticism seems to be in the 
same mould as a number of other councillors who, whilst possibly having a valid point in relation to the 
performance of employees, have failed to follow the proper process or have communicated their views 
in the wrong forum/publicly.  That Cllr Cordery had advice from me, the clerk and the Mayor to this 
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effect would appear to be an aggravating feature.  Lastly of course is the possibility that, as early as 
Monday during his conversation with me, he had formed an intention to make these comments.

Conclusion
The councillors are available to answer questions should you require.  I have the clerk’s home telephone 
number and would be happy to contact him if you would like to speak with him.

Regards

Gareth
Gareth Owens
Prif Swyddog Llywodraethu/Chief Officer Governance
Tel: 

**********************************************************************

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the 
same language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay

Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 

message that do not relate to the official business of 

Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 

given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 

Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 

whatsoever in respect thereof.

Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.

Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 

chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 

nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
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From:                                 Martin Wright
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 19:27:07 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      Tracey Reece;Lynne George
Subject:                             Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th 
October 2021

Gareth 
 
Could I please seek your advice regarding potential action I wish to take in relation to an 
incident that occurred at the above Meeting:- 
 
The meeting was called as a result of Welsh Government Guidelines introduced on 11th 
October 2021.  Prior to 11th October, I had on the 6th October 2021 asked the Welsh 
Government’s advice re: the advisability of holding the Annual Firework Display in Buckley.  The 
reply from the Welsh Government was merely to advise that it could take 15 days to reply to 
my query.  In conjunction with the Mayor and Standing Committee Chairs, I discussed the 
potential cancellation of the Fireworks and eventually it was decided by the Mayor and chairs 
to cancel the event.  The Mayor and Chairs were given powers to decided issues that were 
considered urgent.    However, shortly after, the cancellation was posted on our Website; 
Facebook posts directed the Council to possible exemptions to the Regs.  one of which referred 
to un-ticketed, multiple access points, free Firework Displays on Parkland.  I therefore took the 
decision to call a Special Meeting of allow the full Council to decide whether or not to re-
introduce the Firework Display.  I will not go into all the factors to be considered as they are 
irrelevant to this matter.  When I issued the Agenda and put it on our Website, social media 
went in to a frenzy, this was relating to my use of social media users as "Keyboard Warriors". 
This is a phrase that inflamed a number of the social media users, encouraged by a number of 
our Councillors, some of whom have used that expression themselves in the Council Chamber 
and within discussions that included me.   When using the expression, they were referring to 
users of certain Buckley web-based Forums.  The messages posted were of an offensive nature 
and the Administrator of one of the Forums notified her group that she was closing the 
comment section of the post to any more comments as they were becoming a "Witch Hunt".  I 
was aware that certain Members were "outraged" at my use of the phrase "Keyboard Warriors" 
and believed that I may have brought the Town Council into disrepute. I robustly contend this is 
not the case. 
 
Nevertheless, the Special Meeting went ahead at 7.00pm on 20th October 2021 via Zoom Video 
Conferencing.  Prior to the meeting, the Mayor had, in consultation with me, decided to make a 
statement. The statement would clearly set out that the meeting was open to the public; 
therefore, the meeting should concentrate on a decision about the Fireworks as a single item 
agenda.  There would be no discussion on the words in the Agenda that had caused offence, if 
necessary, this could potentially be discussed at the end of the meeting when it would be 
appropriate to invoke Standing Order 33 (a), or the matter could be referred to a further 
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meeting.  The Mayor opened the meeting at 7.00pm and advised the Council that she would be 
reading out a statement prior to the debate taking place.  As she commenced the Statement, 
Cllr C Cordery shouted out "Point of Order" (it should be noted here that Cllr Cordery had his 
camera switched off so only a black screen appeared, this remained the same throughout the 
meeting), the Mayor, using Standing Order 10 (e)(i) stated that she would not hear the point of 
order as she wished to complete the statement.  Cllr. Cordey again shouted out "Point of 
Order", again the Mayor refused it.  Cllr Cordery refused to refrain from speaking, with the 
Mayor repeatedly asking him to be quiet.  Cllr Cordery then said words to the following effect -
That there was a cover up going on in the Council in an attempt to protect members of the 
Council staff by brushing things under the carpet and creating a smoke screen thereby bringing 
the Council into disrepute. He also said (these are his words to the best of my memory) "That 
individual I will say now should offer his resignation with immediate effect".  That remark could 
only have been directed at me as the Council only has three staff, two of whom are female.  Cllr 
Cordery only ceased speaking when the Mayor stated that if he continued, she would seek 
authority to have him removed from the meeting. No other Member spoke and the debate 
moved to the Firework display. 
 
Cllr. Cordery did not make another contribution to the meeting throughout the next 1 hour and 
45 mins (approx.) 
 
There were four or five members of the public in attendance at the meeting when Cllr. Cordery 
made his comments; the outburst was so sudden the Mayor was unable to seek a mover and a 
seconder to propose implementing Standing Order 33(a).  
 
I believe that Members of the Council may be making Official Complaints themselves to you. 

Regards

Martin Wright
Town Clerk and Financial Officer
Buckley Town Council  
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From:                                 Martin Wright
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 11:35:37 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Subject:                             Re: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 
20th October 2021

Gareth

I am happy that my complaint is forwarded to the Ombudsman.

Regards

Martin
From: Gareth Legal < >
Sent: 22 October 2021 11:31
To: 'Martin Wright' < >
Subject: RE: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021 
 
Martin
 
As discussed I will forward your complaint to the Ombudsman along with those of the councillors .  I 
need your written consent to do so.  A reply to this email confirming you are happy with that will be 
sufficient

Regards
 
Gareth 
 

From: Martin Wright [mailto: ] 
Sent: 22 October 2021 10:09
To: Gareth Legal < >
Subject: Re: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021
 
Gareth
 
Thank you for your reply.
 
I will seek legal advice on the matter and come back to you.
 
Regards
 
Martin
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From: Gareth Legal < >
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:00
To: 'Martin Wright' < >
Subject: RE: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021
 
Martin
 
Thanks, I got the email.  I’m sorry to hear that the matter has had this impact on you.
 
I am concerned that no decision might be taken on this issue for at least a month.
 
I do not want to make your situation worse.  Equally I am reluctant t to take decisions about the incident 
without your input because of the potential impact on you.  If it isn’t possible to speak to you briefly on 
the telephone about how we handle this in your absence then I will discuss the matter with the Mayor.
 
Are you happy for me to speak to Cllr Blondek about how we should proceed?
 
Gareth
 

From: Martin Wright [ ] 
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:53
To: Gareth Legal < >
Subject: Re: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021
 
Gareth, I tried to send you a response a few minutes ago.   Just in case it did not go through, I 
replied by saying I cannot discuss the matter as the doctor has signed me off work for a month.
 
Regards
 
Martin

From: Gareth Legal <G >
Sent: 22 October 2021 07:25
To: 'Martin Wright' <
Cc: Tracey Reece < Lynne George < >
Subject: RE: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021
 
Dear Martin
 
Thank you for the written account of the events we discussed yesterday.  I have received a number of 
accounts of the incident from other councillors.  As the principal “injured party” I think it is appropriate 
that I discuss with you how to handle the matter.
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In such circumstances you have a number of options under the ethical regime (in addition to any 
separate legal options which you might wish to pursue):

1)      To ask me to mediate informally with your councillor – given your feelings when we spoke, and 
the impact of the events upon you, I appreciate this might not be adequate to resolve the issue

2)      To use Buckley TC’s local resolution procedure – to undertake this you would need to have 
confidence that any resolution would have a lasting impact in preventing a recurrence of the 
behaviour, but this would be the quickest route and would be focussed on trying to repair the 
relationship between yourself and Cllr Cordery; or

3)      To complain to the PSOW  - Cllr Cordery’s actions appear to be in breach of his obligation under 
the code to treat you with respect and they failed to respect your right as an employee to have 
matters pertaining to your service discussed in private.  Any such complaint would be subject to 
the 2 stage test of evidence (which is certainly available) and public interest.  On the latter point 
Cllr Cordery will be afforded a measure of leeway to exercise his role (to hold officers to 
account).  The PSOW’s guidance for town councillors below does however suggest that his office 
woud investigate the complaint.  This may take some months to reach a resolution during which 
time you will need to continue to work with Cllr Cordery
“I will consider carefully any complaints of alleged inappropriate behaviour by members towards 
Clerks, and will investigate those complaints which are supported by appropriate evidence that 
a member has gone beyond what might be regarded as reasonable challenge.”

 
Please consider which option you would wish to take and come back to next week.  If you would like to 
discuss them over the telephone then please feel free to call me.
 
Regards
 
Gareth
 
 

From: Martin Wright [ ] 
Sent: 21 October 2021 20:27
To: Gareth Legal <
Cc: Tracey Reece ; Lynne George 
Subject: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 2021
 
Gareth 
 
Could I please seek your advice regarding potential action I wish to take in relation to an 
incident that occurred at the above Meeting:- 
 
The meeting was called as a result of Welsh Government Guidelines introduced on 11th 
October 2021.  Prior to 11th October, I had on the 6th October 2021 asked the Welsh 
Government’s advice re: the advisability of holding the Annual Firework Display in Buckley.  The 
reply from the Welsh Government was merely to advise that it could take 15 days to reply to 
my query.  In conjunction with the Mayor and Standing Committee Chairs, I discussed the 
potential cancellation of the Fireworks and eventually it was decided by the Mayor and chairs 
to cancel the event.  The Mayor and Chairs were given powers to decided issues that were 
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considered urgent.    However, shortly after, the cancellation was posted on our Website; 
Facebook posts directed the Council to possible exemptions to the Regs.  one of which referred 
to un-ticketed, multiple access points, free Firework Displays on Parkland.  I therefore took the 
decision to call a Special Meeting of allow the full Council to decide whether or not to re-
introduce the Firework Display.  I will not go into all the factors to be considered as they are 
irrelevant to this matter.  When I issued the Agenda and put it on our Website, social media 
went in to a frenzy, this was relating to my use of social media users as "Keyboard Warriors". 
This is a phrase that inflamed a number of the social media users, encouraged by a number of 
our Councillors, some of whom have used that expression themselves in the Council Chamber 
and within discussions that included me.   When using the expression, they were referring to 
users of certain Buckley web-based Forums.  The messages posted were of an offensive nature 
and the Administrator of one of the Forums notified her group that she was closing the 
comment section of the post to any more comments as they were becoming a "Witch Hunt".  I 
was aware that certain Members were "outraged" at my use of the phrase "Keyboard Warriors" 
and believed that I may have brought the Town Council into disrepute. I robustly contend this is 
not the case. 
 
Nevertheless, the Special Meeting went ahead at 7.00pm on 20th October 2021 via Zoom Video 
Conferencing.  Prior to the meeting, the Mayor had, in consultation with me, decided to make a 
statement. The statement would clearly set out that the meeting was open to the public; 
therefore, the meeting should concentrate on a decision about the Fireworks as a single item 
agenda.  There would be no discussion on the words in the Agenda that had caused offence, if 
necessary, this could potentially be discussed at the end of the meeting when it would be 
appropriate to invoke Standing Order 33 (a), or the matter could be referred to a further 
meeting.  The Mayor opened the meeting at 7.00pm and advised the Council that she would be 
reading out a statement prior to the debate taking place.  As she commenced the Statement, 
Cllr C Cordery shouted out "Point of Order" (it should be noted here that Cllr Cordery had his 
camera switched off so only a black screen appeared, this remained the same throughout the 
meeting), the Mayor, using Standing Order 10 (e)(i) stated that she would not hear the point of 
order as she wished to complete the statement.  Cllr. Cordey again shouted out "Point of 
Order", again the Mayor refused it.  Cllr Cordery refused to refrain from speaking, with the 
Mayor repeatedly asking him to be quiet.  Cllr Cordery then said words to the following effect -
That there was a cover up going on in the Council in an attempt to protect members of the 
Council staff by brushing things under the carpet and creating a smoke screen thereby bringing 
the Council into disrepute. He also said (these are his words to the best of my memory) "That 
individual I will say now should offer his resignation with immediate effect".  That remark could 
only have been directed at me as the Council only has three staff, two of whom are female.  Cllr 
Cordery only ceased speaking when the Mayor stated that if he continued, she would seek 
authority to have him removed from the meeting. No other Member spoke and the debate 
moved to the Firework display. 
 
Cllr. Cordery did not make another contribution to the meeting throughout the next 1 hour and 
45 mins (approx.) 
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There were four or five members of the public in attendance at the meeting when Cllr. Cordery 
made his comments; the outburst was so sudden the Mayor was unable to seek a mover and a 
seconder to propose implementing Standing Order 33(a).  
 
I believe that Members of the Council may be making Official Complaints themselves to you. 
 
Regards
 
Martin Wright
Town Clerk and Financial Officer
Buckley Town Council  
 

**********************************************************************
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the 
same language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay
Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 
message that do not relate to the official business of 
Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 
given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 
Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 
whatsoever in respect thereof.
Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.
Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 
chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 
nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
Cyngor Sir y Fflint, yn cael eu cynnig na'u cadarnhau ganddo 
nac ar ei ran, ac felly ni fydd Cyngor Sir y Fflint yn derbyn 
unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am y rhannau hynny o'r neges. 
**********************************************************************
 
**********************************************************************
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the 
same language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay
Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 
message that do not relate to the official business of 
Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 
given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 
Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 
whatsoever in respect thereof.
Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.
Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 
chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 
nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
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From:                                 Vivienne Blondek
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 11:42:07 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Subject:                             Re: Buckley Town Council Staff

Dear Gareth 

I have just forwarded to you my confirmation to forward my complaint to PSOW but this 
confirms that I am happy for you to also forward my email to any other body who needs to see it 
whilst dealing with the complaint.

Kind regards

Cllr Vivienne Blondek 

On 22 Oct 2021, at 12:33, Gareth Legal < wrote:

Dear Cllr Blondek
 
Thanks that is helpful.  It is also a good email.
 
Please confirm whether you are happy for me to forward your complaint to the PSOW
 
Regards
 
Gareth
 
From: Vivienne Blondek  
Sent: 22 October 2021 12:28
To: Gareth Legal 
Subject: Fwd: Buckley Town Council Staff
 
Dear Gareth
 
FYI
 
Please see the email I sent to all Buckley Town Councillors last night. 
 
Kind regards
Cllr Vivienne Blondek
 
 
---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Vivienne Blondek <
Date: Thu, 21 Oct 2021 at 20:12
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Subject: Buckley Town Council Staff
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Dear All

I have spent the last two mornings in the Council offices and what I have 
experienced is totally unacceptable. I have serious concerns regarding the mental 
health of Martin, Tracey and Lynne. For some time they have been feeling 
undervalued so much so that they dread coming into work. No one should ever be 
made to feel too stressed to go into work.  This stress has escalated over recent 
weeks. Collectively we are responsible for the health and safety of all staff and we 
have a “duty of care” for all staff employed by Buckley Town Council.  We are all 
bound by both National and our own BTC Code of Conduct. Please can we all 
consider how our comments and behaviours can sometimes be perceived and adhere 
to the Code of Conduct we all signed up to. 

Kind regards 
Cllr Vivienne Blondek
Buckley Town Mayor

Sent from my iPad
-- 
Vivienne Blondek

**********************************************************************

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the same 
language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay

Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 

message that do not relate to the official business of 

Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 

given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 

Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 

whatsoever in respect thereof.
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From:                                 Vivienne Blondek
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 22:01:41 +0000
To:                                      
Subject:                             Buckley Town Council meeting

Dear Gareth

It is with regret that I find myself having to raise this issue but I am supporting our BTC Clerk with what can only 
be described as unreasonable behaviour by a Councillor against a particular member of Buckley Town Council staff, 
in a public domain. I had just opened an emergency meeting of Buckley Town Council and was making my 
statement when I was rudely interrupted by Councillor Charles Cordery calling for a point of order. He was stating a 
member of staff had brought the council into disrepute and must apologise. He made allegations of a cover up and 
creating a smokescreen to protect this member and demanded “he resigns with immediate effect”. I had immediately 
told him he was out of order and he had interrupted my statement which referred to Standing Orders 33(a) and does 
not allow any discussions regarding any member of staff when public and press are present. He continued to talk 
over me in a loud and aggressive tone. I told him I had ruled, he was in breach of section 33(a) and must please be 
quiet. He continued. I informed he that if he continued, I would have to seek to have him removed from the meeting. 
Cllr Cordery then became quiet and the meeting proceeded.

This is not the first unacceptable outburst from Cllr Cordery. I had recently written to him, as instructed by the 
members of the Establishment Sub-group Committee, regarding his behaviour. To date, he still has not 
acknowledged receipt of my letter.

Kind regards
Cllr Vivienne Blondek
Buckley Town Mayor

Sent from my iPad
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From:                                 carolyn preece
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 11:44:13 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      Martin Wright;Vivienne Blondek
Subject:                             Complaint regarding a Councillor's Behaviour at Buckley Town Council meetings

 21/10/2021

Dear All,

I wish to make a formal complaint

 regarding Cllr Charles Cordery conduct at last night’s special emergency meeting regarding the 

Firework display.

At the beginning of the meeting,

 It was clearly stated by the Mayor that the council members were only to discuss the agenda 

item and that if they wanted to discuss other matters that the mayor would speak to them after 

the meeting, also if it related to staff members that standing orders

 33a would need to be adhered to.

Cllr Cordery was very rude; he

 interrupted the Mayor and would not stop speaking, even when the mayor told him to stop 

speaking. He told everyone including the residents attending that a staff member was out of 

order and needed to apologies and needed to hand in their notice tonight, he

 went on to say that the matter was being swiped under the carpet and it was a cover up and 

that it had brought the council into disrepute. This was witnessed by the Mayor, full council of 

councillors, members of the public, staff ( the clerk, the clerks two

 assistants) and our events subcontractor.

I believe that Cllr Cordery has

 breached our members Code of Conduct and has breached standing orders 10c (iii) (rules of 

debate) , 12a Disorderly conduct, 25a Conduct and interest, 28a Admission of the public and 

press to a meeting, 33a. Discussion resolutions and handling matters affecting

 employees of the council 

This is not the first time Cllr

 Cordery has behaved confrontational and disrespectful manner, I refer to the confidential 

Establishment Sub-committee meetings held on 14th September 2021 and at the face to face 

meeting on 18th

 October, where Cllr Cordery was again confrontational, with an aggressive tone and manner 

and had to be even challenged to wear his face mask to comply with Welsh Government 

guidelines. He continued to remove his mask from his nose and mouth and had to be

 asked to put it back, this happened through the meeting.

We have a duty of care to our staff

 to protect and safeguard them.
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I would appreciate it if this matter

 can be dealt the monitoring officer and possibly on to the Local government ombudsman. 

I am happy to be a witness as part of any investigation that may take place.

Can you please give me some guidance

 on what will happen next with this complaint

If you need  further information

 from me, please let me know.

Regards 

Cllr Carolyn Preece

 

016 62 



From:                                 carolyn preece
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 10:25:42 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal;Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      'Emma Preece';'Louis Fox';'Vivienne Blondek'
Subject:                             Re: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

Hi Gareth 

I can confirm that I give my permission for my email to be forwarded to the Ombudsman.

Kind Regards

Carolyn Preece

On Friday, 22 October 2021, 10:55:40 BST, Gareth Legal < > wrote: 

Dear Councillor

 

I have spoken to Martin privately so that the decision on how to handle this situation is not delayed until 
his return to work.

 

He has indicated that he would like to make formal complaint to the Ombudsman.  Given his absence 
from work, and the multiple complaints, I will actually make that referral on his behalf.  I will collate the 
complaints and provide some context for the ombudsman’s officers to consider when deciding whether or 
not to investigate.

 

I intend to include your email to me as part of that referral.  In order to do so I need written confirmation 
that you are happy for me to send that email to the Ombudsman’s office (they will ask me for this).  A 
simple reply to this email expressing your agreement will  be sufficient.

 

If you would like to discuss what the referral process might involve then please see the guidance on the 
ombudsman’s website (here) or feel free to call me on the number below

 

I look forward to hearing from you

 

Regards
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Gareth   

 

From: Gareth Legal 
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:17
To: Gareth Legal < >
Subject: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

 

Dear Councillor

 

Thank you for your email regarding events at the town council meeting on 20 October.  I have received a 
number of similar complaints including one from the clerk.  On their face (and without further investigation 
at this stage) they do appear to describe actions that amount to a breach of the code, which the 
ombudsman’s office would be likely to investigate if reported.

 

As the principal injured party I have outlined to Martin a number of options for how this matter might 
proceed.  I will be led by his choice as to whether he would prefer to pursue the town council’s local 
resolution procedure or whether it should be reported to the Ombudsman’s office.  I would urge you to do 
the same though it is, of course, your choice whether to do so.  

 

I will let you know when I have heard from him

 

Regards

 

Gareth

 

 

 

Gareth Owens

Prif Swyddog Llywodraethu/Chief Officer Governance
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From:                                 Emma Preece
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 10:21:45 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      carolyn preece;Louis Fox;Vivienne Blondek
Subject:                             Re: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

Hi Gareth, 

I give permission for my correspondence to be used in a referral forwarded to the Ombudsman.

Kind Regards,

Emma Preece

On Fri, 22 Oct 2021, 10:55 Gareth Legal, < > wrote:

Dear Councillor

 

I have spoken to Martin privately so that the decision on how to handle this situation is not 
delayed until his return to work.

 

He has indicated that he would like to make formal complaint to the Ombudsman.  Given his 
absence from work, and the multiple complaints, I will actually make that referral on his 
behalf.  I will collate the complaints and provide some context for the ombudsman’s officers 
to consider when deciding whether or not to investigate.

 

I intend to include your email to me as part of that referral.  In order to do so I need written 
confirmation that you are happy for me to send that email to the Ombudsman’s office (they 
will ask me for this).  A simple reply to this email expressing your agreement will  be 
sufficient.

 

If you would like to discuss what the referral process might involve then please see the 
guidance on the ombudsman’s website (here) or feel free to call me on the number below

 

I look forward to hearing from you
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Regards

 

Gareth   

 

From: Gareth Legal 
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:17
To: Gareth Legal <
Subject: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

 

Dear Councillor

 

Thank you for your email regarding events at the town council meeting on 20 October.  I have 
received a number of similar complaints including one from the clerk.  On their face (and 
without further investigation at this stage) they do appear to describe actions that amount to a 
breach of the code, which the ombudsman’s office would be likely to investigate if reported.

 

As the principal injured party I have outlined to Martin a number of options for how this 
matter might proceed.  I will be led by his choice as to whether he would prefer to pursue the 
town council’s local resolution procedure or whether it should be reported to the 
Ombudsman’s office.  I would urge you to do the same though it is, of course, your choice 
whether to do so.  

 

I will let you know when I have heard from him

 

Regards

 

Gareth
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From:                                 Emma Preece
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 11:17:58 +0000
To:                                      
Cc:                                      Vivienne Blondek;Martin Wright
Subject:                             Councillor Behaviour at Buckley Town Council

Hi All,

I write this email to lodge a complaint about the behaviour and statement made by Councillor 
Charles Cordery at our emergency meeting yesterday evening.

At the beginning of the meeting, the Mayor started the second agenda item with a statement; the 
purpose of which, in my opinion, was to advise the council not to deviate from the agenda item 
being discussed and remind councillors of the Standing Orders they may be breaching by 
bringing other issues up during the course of the meeting. Just for some background information, 
the meeting was called to discuss our firework display and whether we should make the decision 
to go ahead. Previously, the Mayor and Chairs of committees had taken the decision to cancel the 
event due to other events being cancelled locally and the new regulations from the Welsh 
Government. The public had expressed their feelings about this on Facebook and other social 
media outlets so we were going to review the decision. In the agenda item, people who made the 
comments were referred to as "keyboard warriors". The use of this term has been completely 
blown up out of all proportions by some councillors and members of the public. I have heard the 
term be used in the chamber numerous times to discuss the same Facebook groups etc and in the 
same manner it was used in the agenda item. It was clear from the beginning of the statement 
that the Mayor wanted us to just get on and discuss the matter in hand.

The Mayor hardly spoke a sentence when Councillor Cordery called for a "point of order", when 
asked to be silent by the Mayor he repeated himself and continued and stated, words to the effect 
of: there is a cover up to protect some members of staff, they have brought the council into 
disrepute and I call for the immediate resignation of the member of staff involved. Again, the 
Mayor tried to silence the member and advised him of the Standing Orders. 

His behaviour was completely out of order, we cannot discuss members of staff, their roles or 
anything else relating to the staff without first excluding the press and public as is stated in our 
Standing Orders. It was completely out of order to call for the resignation of a member of staff in 
front of several members of the public. This is not the first time this member has breached the 
Code of Conduct/Standing Orders and has been advised of his breach by our Establishment 
Committee. 

I would like some guidance as to what will happen next with this complaint.

Kind Regards,

Emma Preece
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From:                                 Louis Fox
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 17:14:23 +0000
To:                                      
Cc:                                      Vivienne Blondek
Subject:                             Formal complaint

Hi Gareth, 

Following a Special Meeting of Buckley Town Council yesterday evening I wish to make 
a formal complaint against Councillor Charles Cordery for his abhorrent actions in which 
he tried to humiliate a member of our staff in demanding they tender their resignation.

Kind Regards, 

Cllr Louis Fox
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From:                                 Louis Fox
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 17:20:01 +0000
To:                                      
Cc:                                      Martin Wright
Subject:                             Incident statement - Buckley Town Council Special Meeting Wednesday 20th 
October 2021

Hi Gareth, 

I am emailing with regards to an incident that occurred at the Special meeting of the 
Town Council yesterday evening. The following statement is my recollection of the 
comments made by Councillor Charles Cordery during this meeting;

As Mayor Cllr Vivienne Blondek attempted to open the meeting Cllr Cordery rudely 
interjected, Cllr Cordery made a comment during his speech in which he made 
reference to a male member of staff  (  of which there is only one, our Clerk Martin 
Wright), using the word ''his'' to make this distinction, stating;

''That individual should tender his resignation this evening with immediate effect''.

Cllr Cordery went on to insinuate that there is a ''cover up'' going on for this particular 
member of staff and that ''certain members of the Town Council are actively protecting 
him''.

Please feel free to get in touch with me if necessary - my mobile number is 

Kind Regards, 

Cllr Louis Fox
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From:                                 Louis Fox
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 10:07:41 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      'Emma Preece';'carolyn preece';'Vivienne Blondek'
Subject:                             Re: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

Hi Gareth, 

I give written permission for my email to you to be sent to the Ombudsman’s office.

Kind Regards,
Cllr Louis Fox

Sent from Yahoo Mail for iPhone

On Friday, October 22, 2021, 10:55 am, Gareth Legal < > wrote:

Dear Councillor

 

I have spoken to Martin privately so that the decision on how to handle this situation 
is not delayed until his return to work.

 

He has indicated that he would like to make formal complaint to the Ombudsman.  
Given his absence from work, and the multiple complaints, I will actually make that 
referral on his behalf.  I will collate the complaints and provide some context for the 
ombudsman’s officers to consider when deciding whether or not to investigate.

 

I intend to include your email to me as part of that referral.  In order to do so I need 
written confirmation that you are happy for me to send that email to the 
Ombudsman’s office (they will ask me for this).  A simple reply to this email 
expressing your agreement will  be sufficient.

 

If you would like to discuss what the referral process might involve then please see 
the guidance on the ombudsman’s website (here) or feel free to call me on the 
number below
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I look forward to hearing from you

 

Regards

 

Gareth   

 

From: Gareth Legal 
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:17
To: Gareth Legal < >
Subject: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

 

Dear Councillor

 

Thank you for your email regarding events at the town council meeting on 20 
October.  I have received a number of similar complaints including one from the 
clerk.  On their face (and without further investigation at this stage) they do appear 
to describe actions that amount to a breach of the code, which the ombudsman’s 
office would be likely to investigate if reported.

 

As the principal injured party I have outlined to Martin a number of options for how 
this matter might proceed.  I will be led by his choice as to whether he would prefer 
to pursue the town council’s local resolution procedure or whether it should be 
reported to the Ombudsman’s office.  I would urge you to do the same though it is, 
of course, your choice whether to do so.  

 

I will let you know when I have heard from him

 

Regards

 

Gareth
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From:                                 Carol Ellis
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 08:42:49 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      Matthew Georgiou
Subject:                             FW: Buckley ToWn Council

Hello Gareth
I am sending you this email for information.  I am sure it�s been brought to your attention that 
the Firework display at Buckley was cancelled and all the back lash that came with the 
announcement .  This was on Facebook and residents were posting how they couldn�t 
understand the cancellation as reading Welsh Government guidance it appeared the event met the 
guidelines.  There then was a notice on Buckley Town Council Website that a special meeting 
would take place about this and on the Agenda residents who had made comment where referred 
to as Key Board Warriors, this then fuelled  the situation and I received many complaints about 
the phase as most comments made appeared to be  asking questions.
One the day of the meeting Councillors received the enclosed email to which I responded.
There has been a under lying current in the Council for sometime  starting some years ago when 
staff were present when a Establishment Committee was held discuss a second pay increase in 
 the same financial year.  The atmosphere has been unpleasant to say the least. I have in the past 
had advice from yourself and Matt so I thought I should take the time to make you aware of the 
current unpleasant situation. 
Regards
Carol Ellis
Sent with BlackBerry Work
(www.blackberry.com)

From: Carolann.ell
Date: Friday, 22 Oct 2021, 7:52 am
To: Carol Ellis 
Subject: Fw: 

Sent from my Huawei phone

-------- Original message --------
From: Carolann.elli
Date: Wed, 20 Oct 2021, 14:08
To: Tracey Reece  

 
<  

026 72 



<  
 

 
 

 

Subject: Re: 

Thank you for your email I note that you mention Members have in the past used the
Phase" Keyboard Warriors." It is my understanding that when this word was used 
Members were in fact referring to Facebook users who were concealing their true 
identity not Facebook users who are asking questions or expressing a opinion in 
their own name. Also that Members have directley challenged the person (using a 
made up identity not a real name ) making a comment at the time. I do not believe 
that the comparison made in this email regarding Members comments in the past is 
relevant in my opinion o this Agenda. 

Regards 
Carol Ellis 

Sent from my Huawei phone

-------- Original message --------
From: Tracey Reece <
Date: Wed, 20 Oct 2021, 09:05
To:  

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

027 73 



Subject: 

Dear Member

 

In case the matter of the expression �keyboard warriors� is brought up 
at the Special Meeting of the Council this evening, I would ask you to 
take cognisance of the following:-

 

As to my email to  and his response (copies attached):

 

1. I genuinely believed that the expression was in common 
parlance;

2. I have heard Members on numerous occasions using the 
expression when referring to Facebook and other Social Media 
platform posts; and 

3. I meant no disrespect to anyone.

 

As Members know I am not a Facebook or other Social Media platform 
user.

 

I would remind Members that under Standing Order 33 (a) staffing 
matters and employment issues may not be discussed in public session 
and as such matters may only be considered after the Council has 
resolved to remove the press and public. Moreover, it maybe that a 
particular matter cannot be discussed in Council and has to be referred 
to the Establishment Sub-Committee which is responsible for 
employment issues. 

 

028 74 



Regards

 

M B Wright

Town Clerk & Financial Officer

 

 

The information you provide (personal information such as name, 
address, email address, phone number, organisation) will be processed 
and stored to enable us to contact you and respond to your 
correspondence, provide information and/or access our facilities and 
services. Your personal information will be not shared or provided to 
any other third party without your consent. We will only keep your data 
for the purpose it was collected for and only for as long as is necessary, 
after which it will be deleted. (You may request the deletion of your 
data held by the council at any time). The council privacy notice can be 
found on our website www.buckleytc.org.uk. 
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From:                                 Gareth Legal
Sent:                                  Mon, 22 Nov 2021 13:56:21 +0000
To:                                      Leigh McAndrew
Cc:                                      Sinead Cook
Subject:                             RE: Complaint in respect of Buckley Town Council

Leigh
 
I had an email from a Cllr Shone complaining about the same issues.  He is a JP and was seeking advice 
on whether he could become involved.  He has only just consented to my forwarding it on to you.
 
The email chain attached contains both his complaint and consent
 
Regards
 
Gareth
 

From: Leigh McAndrew [mailto ] 
Sent: 16 November 2021 11:43
To: Gareth Legal <
Cc: Sinead Cook <
Subject: RE: Complaint in respect of Buckley Town Council
 

This email, created by has been securely delivered 
using Egress Switch and was decrypted on 16 November 2021 11:43:12+00:00 

Dear Mr Owens
 
Further to Ms Cook’s email below, I have spoken to the Clerk and he is happy to act as the 
complainant.  
 
I will update you once I have received the necessary declarations.
 
Yours sincerely
 

Mr Leigh McAndrew
Swyddog Ymchwilio / Investigation Officer
Ffôn / Tel: 
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From:                                 Peter Shone
Sent:                                  Mon, 22 Nov 2021 12:22:06 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Subject:                             Re: Concern

Hi Gareth,

I have not heard any potential issues that may arise and as such, I am happy for you to forward my letter along with 
the others you have recieved.

Many thanks for your patience.

Regards

Peter

> On 15 Nov 2021, at 11:00, Peter Shone > wrote:
> 
> Hi Gareth,
> 
> I must apologise for not getting back to you regarding the below.
> 
> I am a Magistrate, and mindful of potential press coverage and the potential of bring the bench into the spotlight, 
through a process I am not fully aware of. To his end I requested guidance from My bench. What I thought would be 
a simple Yes / No has not turned out to be so simple and the guidance I am seeking is taking far longer than I ever 
envisaged 
> 
> As soon as I hear anything I will let you know.
> 
> Regards
> 
> Peter
> 
>> On 26 Oct 2021, at 08:56, .
> 
>> Legal < > wrote:
>> 
>> Dear Cllr Shone
>> 
>> Thank you for your email.  
>> 
>> A number of people have already contacted me about the incident.  There are a number of options for how this 
might be resolved and I have indicated to the other complainants that I would be led by the clerk as to which option 
to take forward
>> 
>> If the matter is referred to the Ombudsman I would need your consent to pass your complaint on to them.  Are 
you happy for me to send your email to them?
>> 
>> Regards
>> 
>> Gareth 
>> -----Original Message-----
>> From: Peter Shone ] 
>> Sent: 25 October 2021 21:58
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>> To: Gareth Legal < >
>> Subject: Concern
>> 
>> Dear Sir,
>> 
>> It is with regret that I write to advise you of what I concider to be unacceptable behaviour exhibited at the recent 
meeting of the Buckley Town Council.
>> 
>> The meet was called as a Special Meeting to discuss the reassessment of a decision regarding the firework 
display, traditionally held in Buckley, in the light of new information made available to the council.
>> 
>> The meeting was Chaired and opened by the current Mayoress of Buckley, who, in her opening statement clearly 
identified the need to maintain focus in the agendered item and would not allow the meeting to digress into areas 
concerned with recent social media posts. As I understand, the meeting was observed by members if the community.
>> As I recall, before the Mayor was able to completed her opening remarks, Councillor Cordery raised a point of 
order which he persisted in pressing forward, even though the Mayor and Chair of the meeting had on several 
occasions requested Councillor Cordery to stand down, culminating in his demand for the Clark to resign, 
suggesting the actions of the Clark had brought Buckley Town Council into disrepute. All this was being witnesses 
by the observing members of the public. 
>> 
>> Through the behaviour I witnessed, I believe the reputation and integrity of Buckley Town Council has been 
brought into disrepute and further exhibitions of such behaviour should not be tolerated.
>> 
>> Yours Faithfully
>> 
>> Councillor Peter Shone
>> 
>> 
>> 
>> 
>> 
>> **********************************************************************
>> We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the same language. 
Use of either language will not lead to a delay
>> Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 
>> message that do not relate to the official business of 
>> Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 
>> given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 
>> Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 
>> whatsoever in respect thereof.
>> Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. Ni fydd 
defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.
>> Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 
>> chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 
>> nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
>> Cyngor Sir y Fflint, yn cael eu cynnig na'u cadarnhau ganddo 
>> nac ar ei ran, ac felly ni fydd Cyngor Sir y Fflint yn derbyn 
>> unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am y rhannau hynny o'r neges. 
>> **********************************************************************
>> 
> 
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From: Martin Wright
To: Louise Morland
Subject: IN - Compl - Further information
Date: 03 January 2022 16:33:20

Ms Morland

Your Ref: 202105655 [REF/LO/bn/BX/5d/}

Further to the additional information I have forwarded to you in respect of the above
Complaint, I wish to advise you that my GP has signed me off on further sick leave to 30th
January 2022.  The reason stated is "Stress at Work".

I am not aware of any action Buckley Town Council has taken in respect of the Corporate
Body's legal obligations regarding the welfare of its employees (in this case me) to support
my return to work and assure me no further incidents will occur.

May I also refer you to Addendum 3 to Buckley Town Council's Standing Orders (The
Council's Risk Assessment Document), Page 5, which states under identified risk 'staff
being bullied, victimised or generally dealt with in a less than constructive and/or negative
manner by member(s)'. Under Controls to Manage Risk it reminds members of the
grievance process, the ability of employees to complain to the PSOW and finally it refers
members to Standing Order 25(a) which states 'Members must undertake to adhere to the
Council's Code of Conduct...'. 

Regards

M B Wright, FCPFA, AFA, MAAT

From: <
Sent: 16 December 2021 10:49
To: 
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
 

Dear Mr Wright

Our reference: 202105656

 

Thank you for your email dated 14 December 2021.  I will be out of the office

from 20 December 2021 and will return on 4 January 2022.  I will consider the

information when I return in the new year.

Yours sincerely

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer
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From:                                 Martin Wright
Sent:                                  Sat, 29 Jan 2022 19:59:36 +0000
To:                                      Louise Morland
Subject:                             IN - COMPL/Clerk- Sick note

Miss Morland
Please find attached the letter I received from Buckley Town Council (letter attached and 
original email below) on Monday 24th January 2022 and my response that was sent today, 
Saturday 29th January 2022.

I am forwarding this to you, to highlight that from 20th October 2021 until 24th January 2022, 
the Council has not made any efforts to facilitate the creation of a plan to allow me to return to 
work in a smooth and safe manner. 

Please also find attached my most recent doctors note that runs from 27th Jan 2022 until 28th 
February 2022 (inclusive. you will see that he has ruled out the following as an option in this 
case - phased return to work, altered hours, amended duties and work place adaptations as a 
way to move forward. This was in response to discussions that took place between me and the 
doctor, where I highlighted that no efforts had been made to facilitate my smooth return to 
work.

Any further questions please do not hesitate to contact me.

Regards
Martin Wright

From: Martin Wright <
Sent: 29 January 2022 19:46
To: Kevin Glyn-Davies 
Subject: Re: Strictly Confidential and Personal 
Mr Glyn-Davies 
PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL 

I refer to your email of 24th January 2022 and its enclosed letter. 

Whilst acknowledging the content of your letter and awaiting contact from Occupational 
Health, I recognise that you have only been in post for a short time, nevertheless I would make 
the following comments on the contents of your letter:- 

1. May I, as a minor point, advise you that my address is  and not as you state 
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2. In your first paragraph you refer to Cllr. Bondek as the "Chairman of the Town Council". 
May I advise you that the term Chairman is considered a discriminatory term as it is 
gender specific and has not been used in Buckley Town Council since I became Clerk in 
2004. Since I was appointed Clerk the word Chair has been used in Buckley Town 
Council. 

3. On the same point as 2. above, may I remind you that Cllr. Bondek is the Town Mayor 
and not the "Chairman" of the Town Council. 

4. In your second paragraph you refer to the Town Council "...acting as a good employer is 
keen to ensure a duty of care towards you...". Could I ask where that duty of care has 
been from 20th October 2021 until now? Is it presumptuous of me to feel that without 
my numerous requests both verbally and in writing for a plan to be put in place to 
facilitate my smooth return to work, your letter would not have been written? 

5. You state in your first paragraph that "...it has been decided that it is in your best 
interests to refer you to ...". Could you please clarify under which specific delegated 
power to act that decision was taken and by whom. Also, in deciding "...that it is in your 
best interests...", wouldn't it have been polite to talk to me first about "my best 
interests"? 

Notwithstanding my above comments and queries, I confirm that I am happy to discuss my 
attendance at an Occupational Health appointment when fully availed of all details and when 
invited to do so, as part of the preparation of a plan to allow me to return smoothly and safely 
to work. 
As it appears Buckley Town Council is now commencing formatting a plan to facilitate my 
smooth return to work can I request the following details. I, as stated earlier, have been absent 
from work for over 3 calendar months, during that time I have asked on numerous occasions 
what actions the Council has undertaken to assure me the events of 20th October 2021 will not 
be repeated. To date, I have not received any meaningful assurances or updates regarding my 
requests. Can you please detail for me any actions taken by the Council, to date with regard to 
this matter, as a result of a formal meeting of the Council and/or of the Establishment Sub-
Committee and provide me with the relevant minute(s).
Finally, I would advise you that your letter and my response will be forwarded to the PSOW, for 
information, in due course, as part of my on-going complaint. 

I look forward to your reply to this email. 
Regards 

Martin Wright 
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From: Kevin Glyn-Davies < >
Sent: 24 January 2022 10:23
To: <
Subject: Strictly Confidential and Personal 
Dear Mr Wright

Please see attached letter for your attention.

Regards
Buckley Town Council

Kevin Glyn-Davies BA (Hons), MA
Locum Town Clerk
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Page 1 of 3

PERSONAL & CONFIDENTIAL

Councillor Charles Cordery

Dear Councillor Cordery

Code of Conduct complaint made by Mr Martin Bradshaw Wright

I enclose for your information a redacted copy of a complaint we have recently 
received from Mr Martin Bradshaw Wright against you.

You need not respond to this letter if you do not wish to.  However, if you do wish 
to comment or consider that specific or additional information should be 
considered by the Ombudsman as part of his initial consideration of this matter 
please let us know.  If you decide to respond or provide any information you 
should bear in mind that your comments may also be disclosed to the 
complainant, or used in any subsequent proceedings.  As we aim to complete our 
initial assessment of the complaint promptly, it would be helpful if you could 
provide any comments you may wish to make as soon as possible.  However, if 
this is not possible or you require additional time to do so, please let us know.

We will now consider the complaint in accordance with our usual procedure.  You 
may want to consider the enclosed copy of the Ombudsman’s factsheet, 
'Code of Conduct - Information for Members'.

We will aim to inform you whether there are grounds to investigate the complaint 
within 6 weeks.  However, there may be occasions when it is not possible to do 
so.  On these occasions we will write to provide you with an update.

Our ref: 202105656 Ask for: Mr Leigh McAndrew

      01656 641150

Date: 30 November 2021     
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The Ombudsman’s investigations are conducted in private.  You are therefore 
asked not to contact or discuss the details of the complaint with any potential 
witnesses or persons who may be involved in the matter, whether directly or 
indirectly, to avoid any prejudice to any investigation.  Conduct of this kind may 
amount to a breach of the Code of Conduct.

If you consider that specific information should be considered or witnesses 
should be contacted by the Ombudsman as part of his initial consideration of this 
matter, please let me know and I will consider your request.

Meeting your needs

Please let us know if you need us to adapt the way we communicate with you.  If 
anything makes it difficult for you to comment on the complaint enclosed, and you 
wish to do so, for example, if you have a disability, please contact us to explain 
how this affects you.

We will consider whether your request is reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances.  This is because we need to use public money carefully.

Communicating with you

Please tell us whether you would prefer to communicate with us in Welsh or 
English.  We ask this as part of our Welsh Language Policy and so that we can 
best meet your language needs.  If we do not hear from you, we will assume that 
you are content for us to communicate with you in the language the complaint 
was received, in this case English.

We prefer to communicate electronically instead of by post wherever possible.  
If you are happy to receive email correspondence, please provide us with an 
email address.

When we correspond with you by email, we will send any confidential or 
sensitive personal information to you using Egress secure email.  This is 
necessary to protect the content of the material.  To access information sent to 
you via Egress, if you do not already have one, you will need to register for a 
free account by clicking on the ‘New User’ link in the email you receive.  This set 
up will only be required once and you can then respond to, and initiate, secure 
correspondence with us free of charge.

We may occasionally send large emails and attachments.  Any emails and 
attachments greater than 20MB (collectively) will be sent via the Large File 
Transfer function.  These emails will carry the Ombudsman’s logo, and will 
contain a link to access the material.  As with other Egress emails, you will be 
required to log into Switch to access the content.
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A Quick Start User Guide is enclosed for your information.  If you have any 
queries about our use of Egress, you can contact our IT team on 
itc@ombudsman-wales.org.uk You will also be able to obtain further assistance 
from Egress Software Technologies Customer Service: www.egress.com/support

Your data

In considering your complaint, we will be processing personal information.  
Further information about the way in which we do this is available in the 
Privacy Notice.  Should you have any queries specifically about this, you can 
contact our information team on information.request@ombudsman.wales
  
Please note, the information we receive from you will be scanned to an electronic 
case record.  We therefore routinely destroy hard copy information received 
3 months after receipt, unless there is an exceptional reason to keep the 
information for longer.  Please let us know as soon as possible if you would like 
us to return any of the information you have sent to us.

Your electronic complaint record is retained for 10 years from the date your 
complaint is closed.  We remove identifiable information from the electronic case 
record so that we can keep information about complaints for longer so that we 
can use this to analyse trends.

I am copying this letter and enclosure to Mr Gareth Owens, the Monitoring Officer 
of Flintshire County Council.

Yours sincerely

Leigh McAndrew
Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Enc: Redacted complaint information
‘Code of Conduct – Information for members’ factsheet
Egress information
Privacy Notice

Cc: Mr Gareth Owens
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Our ref:  202105656/LM/FH  Ask for: Louise Morland 

          01656 644224 

Date: 
  

7 February 2022        
 

 
 
PERSONAL & CONFIDENTIAL 
Councillor Charles Cordery 

 
             By email only 

            
 
 
Dear Councillor Cordery 
 
Code of Conduct complaint made by Mr Martin Bradshaw Wright 
 
The Ombudsman has now decided to investigate the complaint made against you 
by Mr Wright, of which you were informed on 30 November 2021.  I have been 
asked to carry out the investigation.  
 
The complaint will be investigated on the basis that there may have been a failure 
to comply with the following paragraphs of the Code: 
 

• 4(b) [Members] must show respect and consideration for others 
 

• 6(1)(a) [Members] must not conduct [themselves] in a manner which could 

reasonably be regarded as bringing [their] office or authority into disrepute. 
 

• 7(a) [Members] must not in [their official] capacity or otherwise, use or 
attempt to use [their] position improperly to confer on or secure for 
[themselves], or any other person, an advantage or create or avoid for 
[themselves], or any other person, a disadvantage. 

 

• 8(a)(iii) [Members] must when participating in meetings or reaching 

decisions regarding the business of [their] authority, do so on the basis of 
the merits of the circumstances involved and in the public interest having 
regard to any relevant advice provided by [their] authority's officers, in 
particular by the authority's monitoring officer. 
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You need not respond to this letter if you do not wish to.  However, any comments 
made at this stage will be taken into consideration.  You should bear in mind that your 
comments may also be disclosed to the complainant or used in any subsequent 
proceedings. 
 
If my investigation finds that there is a case to answer, I will in due course put to you 
the evidence I have found, and you may be invited to interview to answer any 
questions which appear relevant in the light of it.  
 
I have written to notify the Monitoring Officer of Flintshire County Council and to the 
locum Clerk to Buckley Town Council of this investigation and have asked for any 
relevant information.  
 
The Ombudsman’s investigations are conducted in private.  You are therefore asked 
not to contact or discuss the details of the complaint with any potential witnesses or 
persons who may be involved in the matter, whether directly or indirectly, to avoid any 
prejudice to the investigation.  Conduct of this kind may amount to a breach of the 
Code. 
 
If you consider that specific information should be considered, or witnesses should be 
contacted by the Ombudsman as part of this investigation please let me know and I 
will consider your request in light of the remit of the Ombudsman’s investigation. 
 

Meeting your needs during our investigation 

 

Please let us know if you need us to adapt the way we communicate with you.  If 
anything makes it difficult for you to engage with us during the investigation, for 
example, if you have a disability, please contact us to explain how this affects you. 

 

We will consider whether your request is reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances.  This is because we need to use public money carefully. 
 
This letter is only being sent electronically.  A hard copy will not be sent unless you 
ask for one. 
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
Louise Morland 
Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer 
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Louise Morland
Subject: Response to Allegations from Martin Wright ( Clerk Buckley Town Council Flintshire )
Date: 05 January 2022 12:45:33

Dear Ms Moreland,

Please find below my response to the allegations as made.

In May of 2021 I was successful in winning a bi election to become a Councillor in the
Town of Buckley which is situated in Flintshire, North East Wales.

As a Town Councillor I have always striven to put the viewpoint of its residents into the
domain of the Council as I was elected to unfortunately this has been met with
acrimonious comment and hostility from a particular political faction within the Council
and the Town Clerk who is by any reasonable assessment from myself and others palpably
unable to accept any constructive dialogue or what may be construed as passive criticism
which differs from his own vision of matters.

In one issue that I raised on behalf of the residents which contained a reference to a
perceived inability of the Council to fulfil its obligations was driven out of all proportion by
the Town Clerk and his supporters to the point where I was I was invited to attend a
Council Meeting to explain my comments this meeting became fractious due to the
manipulation of events by the Town Clerk and served no real purpose other than to
further his agenda which was to place me before the Office of the Local Government
Ombudsman as he has done previously with three other elected Town Councillors who has
in his infinite wisdom chosen to challenge him on matters.

In a further issue surrounding fireworks display which was to be attended by the general
public and then cancelled by the Town Clerk based on a misinterpretation of Welsh
Assembly Government advice and without full consultation of the Town Council led to
some comment being placed on the local social media channels.

These comments from individuals who were identifiable led to the Town Clerk making a
comment on social media which referred to them as being keyboard warriors this was the
causation of great consternation from within the residents and some members of the
Town Council who sought a meeting which would be accessible to the general public to
further an explanation for what had been said.

This meeting duly took place on the 20th of October 2021 by means of a Zoom virtual
platform and was attended by the full council and members of the general public the
Chairperson being Councillor Blondek.

The Chairperson opened the meeting by stating that there would be no discussion on the
words that had caused great offence at this point I raised a point of order over the stifling
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of debate surrounding this decision my comments in this point of order were to the extent
that it was shameful that there was going to be no debate on this issue and that the Town
Council in allowing this showed no respect to its residents I also suggested that the person
who made these comments should consider their position to be untenable and offer their
immediate resignation.

Councillor Blondek attempted to interrupt my point of order on a number of occasions
however my point of order was allowed to continue to its conclusion at no point during
this dialogue did I identify the person who I was referring to either by name or gender.

Following this meeting the Town Clerk and others from a certain political faction from
within the Town Council have made allegations against me which I consider to be
vexatious and without merit or foundation I have made a separate complaint against the
actions of Councillor Blondek who prior to the bi election of May 2021 attempted to
destabilise my process of election and remove me as a candidate by making vindictive
comments to other Councillors who she believed could influence my removal from the bi
election.

in closing I would respectfully suggest to you that this whole affair has been designed by
those that wish to indulge in party politics and deviousness with the sole intention of
achieving what they failed to do at the ballot box in a democratic election which was to
stop me becoming elected as a Town Councillor for Buckley.

Yours Sincerely,

Councillor Charles Cordery
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Louise Morland
Subject: IN - Acc Member - Comments and Witnesses (MatEv)
Date: 08 February 2022 13:26:56

Dear Louise,

Further to our telephone conversation yesterday please find listed below three further
contact details of witnesses who wish to give statements on my behalf.

Cllr. M.J Peers

Cllr. J.S.Jones

Cllr. Ian Peters

In addition I would wish to say that in relation to paragraph 4 of the notification of
allegations.

The monitoring officer in making these comments regarding advice as given should have
declared a conflict of interest which is prejudicial.

Because as an active trade unionist I have met the monitoring officer in his role as the legal
governance officer for Flintshire County Council on issues when in support of our
membership.

Could you please consider this point which I find to be a fair and reasonable one in your
deliberations.

Kind Regards,

Clr. Charles Cordery.

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Louise Morland
Subject: IN - Acc Member - Additional Information (MatEv)
Date: 18 February 2022 09:18:52

Dear Louise,

With further reference to the complaint as laid against me by Mr Martin Wright Town

Clerk of Buckley Town Council in Flintshire.

Having looked at the Standing Orders for Buckley Town Council in respect of Code of

Conduct Complaints.

It would appear that Mr Wright is in breach of Standing Order 31 (a) (b) as he has failed

to follow this procedure.

Could you please note this additional information for your deliberations.

Kind Regards,

Cllr.Charles Cordery.

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android

From: Louise Morland < k>
Sent: Tuesday, December 21, 2021 9:53:27 AM
To: Charles Cordery <
Subject: Automatic reply: Response to Complaint.
Diolch am eich ebost. Rwyf bellach allan o’r swyddfa nes 04/01/22. Byddaf yn ymateb

i’ch ebost ar ôl i mi ddychwelyd.

Os yw eich cyswllt yn un brys, anfonwch ebost at caseinfo@ombwdsmon.cymru.

Thank you for your email. I am now out of the office until 04/01/22. I will respond to your

email on my return.

If your contact is urgent, please email caseinfo@ombudsman.wales.
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Louise Morland
Subject: IN - Acc Member - Further Comment
Date: 03 March 2022 15:20:25

Dear Louise,

Mr Wrights claim against me centres around his allegation that at a Special Meeting of the
Full Council which was open to the general public and held by zoom on the 20th October
2021

I made the comment that He should offer his resignation with immediate effect.

This comment featured in the minutes that were placed on the Council website shortl
afterwards.

I can now say to you that at a further meeting of the Full Buckley Town Council which
was held in the Council Chamber last night. Following a discussion of members who were
present at the previous Zoom meeting regarding the note taking of the event and as to what
was actually said.

An ammendment was proposed to alter that comment to one which said that they should
offer their resignation with immediate effect.

The ammendment went to the vote and was passed.

The revised minutes of the Meeting from the 20th of October 2021 will be posted on the
Town Council website in the near future.

Mr Wright I would suggest as the Town Clerk who was present at the meeting of the 20th
of October 2021 has been in a position of influence to significantly alter the spoken
narrative in the minutes for his own benifit.

This has know been rectified to give a more accurate version of what was said during that
meeting.

I would ask that you consider this information in your deliberations towards this complaint
as lodged by Mr Wright.

Kind Regards,

Cllr.Charles Cordery
Buckley Town Council
Flintshire
North Wales
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Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Louise Morland
Subject: IN - Acc Member - Further information (MatEv)
Date: 08 March 2022 11:50:15

Dear Louise,

Further to the complaint made against me I can also say that the Temporary Locum Town
Clerk who does not know Mr Wright.

Has been subject to behaviours from Mr Wright which amount to Bullying and
Harassment.

I would ask that you include this disclosure in your deliberations to this matter.

Kind Regards,

Cllr.Charles Cordery.

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android

From: >
Sent: Friday, February 18, 2022 11:20:04 AM
To: 
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]

Dear Councillor Cordery

Our reference: 202105656

Thank you for your email dated 18 February 2022, the contents have been

noted and will be considered in due course.

Kind Regards

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Ffôn/Tel: 

--
Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru/ Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
Pen-y-Bont ar Ogwr/ Bridgend/
CF35 5LJ
www.ombwdsmon-cymru.org.uk / www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
https://twitter.com/OmbudsmanWales
Hybu’r Gymraeg
Gallwch ysgrifennu atom yn Gymraeg a byddwn yn ymateb yn Gymraeg. Ni fydd hyn yn arwain at oedi cyn ymateb.
Welsh Language Promotion
You can write to us in Welsh and we will reply in Welsh. This will not lead to a delay in responding.
Sganiwyd y neges hon am bob feirws hysbys wrth iddi adael Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru.
Mae Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru yn cymryd o ddifrif yr angen i ddiogelu eich data.
Mae ein Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd yn esbonio sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth a sut rydym yn diogelu eich
preifatrwydd.
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On leaving the Public Services Ombudsman, this email was scanned for all known viruses.
The Public Services Ombudsman takes the protection of your data seriously.
Our Privacy Notice explains how we use your information and the ways in which we protect your privacy.
Bydd pob galwad yn cael ei recordio ar gyfer dibenion hyfforddi a chyfeirio
All calls are recorded for training and reference purposes
Ystyriwch yr amgylchedd – a oes wir angen i chi argraffu’r neges e-bost hon?
Please consider the environment - do you really need to print this email?
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Louise Morland
Subject: IN - Acc Member - Additional Information (MatEv)
Date: 18 May 2022 21:36:38

Dear Ms Moreland,

Further to the above I can confirm that following the Local Government Election on the
5th of May 2022 I was re-elected as a Town Councillor to serve on Buckley Town
Council.

I can also confirm that at last night's Annual General Meeting of the Town Council I was
also elected to serve as the Deputy Mayor for this Mayoral year.

I believe that these two events display a certain amount of confidence in myself from the
electorate and fellow Councillors in their belief towards my ability to serve the residents of
Buckley in both capacities.

Could you please note this in your deliberations towards the complaint as lodged against
myself.

Kind Regards,

Cllr Charles Cordery,
Deputy Mayor,
Buckley Town Council.

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android
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From: Tracey Reece
To: caseinfo
Cc: Louise Morland
Subject: Cllr Charles Cordery - Buckley Town Council
Date: 17 February 2022 10:26:42
Attachments: 20220217102047427.pdf

STRICTLY PRIVATE AND CONFIDENTIAL
 
Dear Ms Morland
 
Ref: 202105656/LM/FH
 
 

Thank you for your letter dated 7th February 2022 advising of a Code of Conduct Complaint
being investigated against Cllr Charles Cordery of Buckley Town Council.
 
As requested, please find attached a full dossier containing the specific information required in
your letter.  
 
To the best of our knowledge and belief, our records do not indicate that Cllr Cordery attended
any training on the Members Code of Conduct and therefore regret have no training material for
any session attended. Please be advised that no such recording is available for the Town Council

Meeting held on 20th October 2021 as this did not take place.  In respect of copy Council

correspondence relating to the Buckley Town Council meeting of 20th October 2021 this is
included in the electronic paperwork attached. It is my belief that we have supplied all the
requisite material that is required for this investigation but should you have any further queries
we will, of course, do our best to cooperate and comply with any additional information as
required.
 
For the record, I formally confirm to you that the same file attached to this email is today being
sent to Matthew Georgiou, Legal Services Manager at Flintshire County Council.
 
Please confirm safe receipt of this email.
 
Yours sincerely
 
 
Kevin Glyn-Davies BA (Hons) MA
Locum Town Clerk & Responsible Financial Officer
Buckley Town Council
 
The information you provide (personal information such as name, address, email address,
phone number, organisation) will be processed and stored to enable us to contact you and
respond to your correspondence, provide information and/or access our facilities and
services. Your personal information will be not shared or provided to any other third party
without your consent. We will only keep your data for the purpose it was collected for and
only for as long as is necessary, after which it will be deleted. (You may request the
deletion of your data held by the council at any time). The council privacy notice can be
found on our website www.buckleytc.org.uk.
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From:                                 Town Clerk
Sent:                                  Mon, 18 Jul 2022 11:31:52 +0000
To:                                      Louise Morland
Subject:                             IN - Clerk - Requested Information (MatEv)

Dear Ms Morland

Thank you for your email. I have now had chance to discuss your email with my colleague 
Tracey Reece. I can confirm that the office holds no receipt that Cllr. Cordery read or opened 
the email in question.

Mr. Wright went on immediate sick leave following the events of 20 October 2021 and 
submitted an email on 20 October 2021 at 08.32 (prior to the meeting in the evening) to the 
then Mayor, Cllr. Viv Blondek advising of his intention to retire with the plan that his last 
working day at Buckley Town Council would be 30 April 2022. He did not resign and nor did the 
Town Council terminate his employment.

Mr. Wright submitted a number of criticisms of the Town Council and requested answers to a 
number of questions that he had. The last we knew of any formal action was Mr. Wright 
approaching ACAS with a request for Early Conciliation as he believed he had a potential 
employment tribunal claim. The period of early conciliation was due to end on 10 May 2022.

Regards

Kevin

Kevin Glyn-Davies BA (Hons) MA
Town Clerk
Buckley Town Council
Tel: 01244 544540
E mail: 
Website: www.buckleytc.gov.wales

The information you provide (personal information such as name, address, email address, 
phone number, organisation) will be processed and stored to enable us to contact you and 
respond to your correspondence, provide information and/or access our facilities and services. 
Your personal information will be not shared or provided to any other third party without your 
consent. We will only keep your data for the purpose it was collected for and only for as long as 
is necessary, after which it will be deleted. (You may request the deletion of your data held by 
the council at any time). The council privacy notice can be found on our website 
https://buckleytc.gov.wales 

You don't often get email from Learn why this is important
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From: k <L >
Sent: 13 July 2022 16:59
To: Town Clerk 
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/] 

Dear Mr Glyn-Davies

Our reference: 202105656
Further to the dossier of information you provided on 17 February 2022 for this case, 
which encompassed a 73 page PDF. I note that on page 22 there is a copy of an 
email sent on 20 October 2021 at 09:06 (in Martin Wright’s name from Tracey 
Reece) to members of the Town Council. Would you or Ms Reece be able to confirm 
if the Town Council has a record of whether Cllr Cordery read or opened that email, 
and if so, provide evidence of the date and time it was read or opened by Cllr 
Cordery?

In addition, I understand that following the meeting on 20 October 2021 Mr Wright 
went on sick leave and did not return to the Town Council. Please could you confirm 
if Mr Wright resigned from the Town Council following sick leave, or if his 
employment was terminated, and when, and also if he took any subsequent action 
against the Town Council regarding his employment. 

Lastly, I understand the draft minutes for the Town Council meeting on 20 October 
2021 have now been amended and agreed. Please could you provide a copy of the 
agreed version of the minutes.

I would be very grateful if you could provide the requested information by 21 July 
2022. 

Yours sincerely

Louise Morland
Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

--
Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru/ Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
Pen-y-Bont ar Ogwr/ Bridgend/
CF35 5LJ
www.ombwdsmon-cymru.org.uk / www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
https://twitter.com/OmbudsmanWales
Hybu’r Gymraeg
Gallwch ysgrifennu atom yn Gymraeg a byddwn yn ymateb yn Gymraeg. Ni fydd hyn yn arwain at oedi cyn ymateb.
Welsh Language Promotion
You can write to us in Welsh and we will reply in Welsh. This will not lead to a delay in responding.
Sganiwyd y neges hon am bob feirws hysbys wrth iddi adael Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru.
Mae Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru yn cymryd o ddifrif yr angen i ddiogelu eich data.
Mae ein Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd yn esbonio sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth a sut rydym yn diogelu eich 
preifatrwydd.

285 331 

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http://www.ombwdsmon-cymru.org.uk/&data=05%7C01%7CLouise.Morland@ombudsman.wales%7Cc5d9f46d85e342c699c708da68b11d46%7C12baf9c3215842a0bec226b96fd42177%7C0%7C1%7C637937407159900163%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0=%7C2000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=A8SqyUiSwpX7ZRUAYzp3snZrEqoQaSAlfTOBolzRY/Y=&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http://www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk/&data=05%7C01%7CLouise.Morland@ombudsman.wales%7Cc5d9f46d85e342c699c708da68b11d46%7C12baf9c3215842a0bec226b96fd42177%7C0%7C1%7C637937407159900163%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0=%7C2000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=z4W6rdwmE6wU1aP3A+f1sCjZhxAHVyGPf2ktMhVW4P4=&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https://twitter.com/OmbudsmanWales&data=05%7C01%7CLouise.Morland@ombudsman.wales%7Cc5d9f46d85e342c699c708da68b11d46%7C12baf9c3215842a0bec226b96fd42177%7C0%7C1%7C637937407159900163%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0=%7C2000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ObtugR51pxSRsOeyguy9p5pY0AEd2DGRr76oygIgEn8=&reserved=0


On leaving the Public Services Ombudsman, this email was scanned for all known viruses.
The Public Services Ombudsman takes the protection of your data seriously.
Our Privacy Notice explains how we use your information and the ways in which we protect your privacy.
Bydd pob galwad yn cael ei recordio ar gyfer dibenion hyfforddi a chyfeirio
All calls are recorded for training and reference purposes
Ystyriwch yr amgylchedd – a oes wir angen i chi argraffu’r neges e-bost hon?
Please consider the environment - do you really need to print this email? 

The information you provide (personal information such as name, address, email address, 
phone number, organisation) will be processed and stored to enable us to contact you and 
respond to your correspondence, provide information and/or access our facilities and services. 
Your personal information will be not shared or provided to any other third party without 
your consent. We will only keep your data for the purpose it was collected for and only for as 
long as is necessary, after which it will be deleted. (You may request the deletion of your data 
held by the council at any time). The council privacy notice can be found on our website 
https://buckleytc.gov.wales 

The information you provide (personal information such as name, address, email address, phone 
number, organisation) will be processed and stored to enable us to contact you and respond to 
your correspondence, provide information and/or access our facilities and services. Your 
personal information will be not shared or provided to any other third party without your 
consent. We will only keep your data for the purpose it was collected for and only for as long as 
is necessary, after which it will be deleted. (You may request the deletion of your data held by 
the council at any time). The council privacy notice can be found on our website 
https://buckleytc.gov.wales 

286 332 



287 333 



288 334 



Appendix 8 

289 335 



From:  on behalf of Gareth Legal
To: Leigh McAndrew
Subject: FW: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
Date: 01 June 2022 09:21:54

You don't often get email from . Learn why this is important

Leigh
 
I was informed last night that Martin Wright had passed away suddenly.
 
I feel it only right to inform you to prevent you from trying to make contact with him regarding
the attached complaint.
 
Can you please share this news with any colleagues involved with the investigation. Louise
Morland made contact with me to discuss it - I’m not sure if anyone else has been involved.
 
Thanks
 
Gareth
 
 
From: .uk [mailto -
wales.org.uk]
Sent: 30 November 2021 14:15
To: Gareth Legal <
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
 

This email, created by has been securely

delivered using Egress Switch and was decrypted on 30 November 2021 14:14:46+00:00

Dear Mr Owens

Reference: 202105656

Please find attached my letter of today which is being sent to you by email

only.

Yours sincerely

Mr Leigh McAndrew

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Ffôn/Tel: 

--

Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru/ Public Services Ombudsman for Wales

1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae

Pencoed

Pen-y-Bont ar Ogwr/ Bridgend/

CF35 5LJ

www.ombwdsmon-cymru.org.uk / www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk

https://twitter.com/OmbudsmanWales

Hybu�r Gymraeg 

290 336 

mailto:Gareth.Legal@flintshire.gov.uk
https://aka.ms/LearnAboutSenderIdentification
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.ombwdsmon-cymru.org.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CLeigh.McAndrew%40ombudsman.wales%7C942f861b1e774d983fdb08da43a7c753%7C12baf9c3215842a0bec226b96fd42177%7C0%7C0%7C637896685148955513%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=iuTYVcx1QtuUqw6CeFRpcC4f6yuanZCs4Hfg59je4rI%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.ombudsman-wales.org.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7CLeigh.McAndrew%40ombudsman.wales%7C942f861b1e774d983fdb08da43a7c753%7C12baf9c3215842a0bec226b96fd42177%7C0%7C0%7C637896685148955513%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=RZYPdX3CDm8nqyLnms2cgRpQcEX1WhN9AoQ3Akh77RE%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Ftwitter.com%2FOmbudsmanWales&data=05%7C01%7CLeigh.McAndrew%40ombudsman.wales%7C942f861b1e774d983fdb08da43a7c753%7C12baf9c3215842a0bec226b96fd42177%7C0%7C0%7C637896685148955513%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=1kz6gjVUICdMFhj%2BfRedLyYYVskZHyP1Oi6TkX8zae8%3D&reserved=0


Gallwch ysgrifennu atom yn Gymraeg a byddwn yn ymateb yn Gymraeg. Ni fydd hyn yn arwain at oedi cyn

ymateb.

Welsh Language Promotion

You can write to us in Welsh and we will reply in Welsh.  This will not lead to a delay in responding.

Sganiwyd y neges hon am bob feirws hysbys wrth iddi adael Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus

Cymru.

Mae Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru yn cymryd o ddifrif yr angen i ddiogelu eich data.

Mae ein Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd yn esbonio sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth a sut rydym yn

diogelu eich preifatrwydd.

On leaving the Public Services Ombudsman, this email was scanned for all known viruses.

The Public Services Ombudsman takes the protection of your data seriously. 

Our Privacy Notice explains how we use your information and the ways in which we protect your privacy.

Bydd pob galwad yn cael ei recordio ar gyfer dibenion hyfforddi a chyfeirio

All calls are recorded for training and reference purposes

Ystyriwch yr amgylchedd� a oes wir angen i chi argraffu�r neges e-bost hon? 

Please consider the environment - do you really need to print this email? 

**********************************************************************
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence
in the same language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay
Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 
message that do not relate to the official business of 
Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 
given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 
Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 
whatsoever in respect thereof.
Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr
un iaith. Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.
Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 
chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 
nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
Cyngor Sir y Fflint, yn cael eu cynnig na'u cadarnhau ganddo 
nac ar ei ran, ac felly ni fydd Cyngor Sir y Fflint yn derbyn 
unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am y rhannau hynny o'r neges. 
**********************************************************************
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Case reference number: 202105656 
 
 

 
 

 
WITNESS STATEMENT 

 
Statement of: Mr Gareth Owens 
 
Address:  Flintshire County Council 
 
Age if under 18: Over 18  
 
Occupation/Position: Chief Officer for Governance  
 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 

1. I, Gareth Owens, of Flintshire County Council, make this statement in 
connection with a complaint made to the Public Services Ombudsman for 
Wales that Councillor Charles Cordery of Buckley Town Council (“the Town 
Council”) has breached the Code of Conduct for elected members.  The facts 
in this statement come from my personal knowledge.   
 

2. I am employed as the Chief Officer for Governance at Flintshire County 
Council (“the Council”) which includes the statutory Monitoring Officer role.  I 
have been the Monitoring Officer for the Council since 2012 and Chief Officer 
since 2014.  The Monitoring Officer role encompasses lawful decision making 
and matters regarding the Code of Conduct for Members.  
 

3. As Monitoring Officer, I provide Code of Conduct training and guidance to 
members in my area, including Town and Community councillors and Clerks.  
I train a lot of members and to the best of my recollection Councillor Cordery 
attended a recent round of training on the Members Code of Conduct 
following the May 2022 elections.   
 

4. I can confirm that on Monday 18 October 2021 I had a meeting in person with 
Councillor Cordery.  Councillor Cordery had asked for the meeting to discuss 
an exchange of correspondence he had had with Mr Martin Wright, who was 
at that time the Clerk to Buckley Town Council (“the Town Council”), over the 
summer which had escalated into a conflict.  We talked about this and the 
ways both he and Mr Wright could have de-escalated the issue and I made a 
note of our discussion (Exhibit GO-01).  I thought I had got Councillor 
Cordery to the point where he could see the other perspective and I was fairly 
confident that I could get Mr Wright to the same point, and that we would then 
have been able to resolve the dispute.  When I suggested to Councillor 
Cordery that I should ring Mr Wright to have a chat with him about it, 
Councillor Cordery said to wait until after a forthcoming Town Council 
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meeting on Wednesday 20 October 2021.  I had not been aware of that 
meeting and asked Councillor Cordery what it was for.   
 

5. Councillor Cordery explained that the meeting had been called following 
concerns about the cancellation of a local Fireworks display and Mr Wright’s 
involvement (as the then Town Clerk) in the way the matter had been 
handled.  Whilst I cannot recall exactly what Councillor Cordery said about 
the reasons for the meeting, I do recall he talked about criticism of Mr Wright 
and his actions.  From his comments, I could see the potential that the matter 
had for criticism of Mr Wright as the then Clerk.  As I was aware that the 
Town Council’s Standing Orders state that matters relating to personnel 
issues need to be discussed in closed session and in confidence, (in 
accordance with employee’s rights regarding disciplinary matters) I was 
concerned that the meeting had the potential to go wrong and to single out an 
employee in public, without the scope for that employee to be able to defend 
themselves.   
 

6. Our meeting on 18 October was initially due to last for half an hour however, 
after I became aware of the pending Town Council meeting, it actually lasted 
between an hour and an hour and a half.  I talked to Councillor Cordery at 
great length about the Town Council meeting, along with matters concerning 
the law and employee rights, the need to deal with employee matters in 
confidence, the Town Council’s Standing Orders with regard to this, the 
importance of using proper processes and treating employees fairly, and the 
risk to the Town Council of not doing so, which he appeared to acknowledge 
and understand.  I am aware that Councillor Cordery has been a union 
representative. I tried to engage his experience and empathy by asking him 
to imagine that Mr Wright was one of his (Cllr Cordery’s union members).   I 
tried to encourage him to encourage his fellow councillors to deal with the 
matter in the right way and in private.  Councillor Cordery did not give any 
indication during our discussion that he intended to act at the meeting in the 
way that has been described by Mr Wright and other members.    
 

7. I said to Councillor Cordery that hopefully he was now clear where the 
meeting should be going on 20 October, and I suggested that I call Mr Wright 
there and then to sort out the issues that had happened over the summer, as 
I was sure we could clear matters up straight away.  However, Councillor 
Cordery remained adamant and said 2 or 3 times that I should wait to speak 
to Mr Wright until after the 20 October.  Councillor Cordery did not explain 
why he wanted me to wait, and I did not query it.  However, his determination 
that I should wait struck me as odd at the time because it did not really make 
sense and I did not understand why he wanted me to do that.  My PA 
subsequently arranged for me to speak to Mr Wright in the morning on 
Thursday 21 October. 
 

8. I did not speak to Councillor Cordery again or Mr Wright before the Town 
Council meeting took place, and I was not aware of what had happened at 
the meeting, or Councillor Cordery’s intervention, until I spoke to Mr Wright 
on 21 October (Exhibit GO-02).  I recall that Mr Wright was very distressed 
about what had happened at the meeting and shared his feelings about it, 
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which I felt was not like him.  As far as I recall, he said how upset he was 
about the things that had been said at the meeting and how he regarded 
them as being pointedly directed at him and he went on to explain how 
matters came about regarding the cancellation of the fireworks display.  He 
indicated that he was going to see his doctor and that he was also going to 
seek legal advice.   
 

9. From Thursday 21 October onwards I had a series of emails from other Town 
Council members, all wishing to make a complaint about Councillor Cordery’s 
behaviour at the Town Council meeting the evening before.  I provided advice 
and guidance to Mr Wright about his options (informal resolution, using the 
town council’s local resolution procedure or making a formal complaint to the 
Ombudsman).  He felt the matter was too serious for any form of local or 
informal resolution.  I also spoke to the Mayor (Exhibit GO-03).  As Mr Wright 
was on sick leave and to avoid distressing him further, I subsequently 
forwarded a summary of the incident and its background along with copies of 
the emails I received from members, and my correspondence with them and 
Mr Wright, to the Ombudsman’s office on 25 October 2021 (Exhibit GO-04).    
 

10. I can confirm that I have not spoken to Councillor Cordery about the incident 
since it took place.  I would like to say that I did wonder after I spoke to Mr 
Wright on 21 October, whether Councillor Cordery’s request for me not to 
speak to him until after the Town Council meeting on 20 October was 
because Councillor Cordery had already formed the intention to act in the 
way described at the Town Council meeting.  
 

11. Mr Wright took sick leave after the meeting and did not return to the Town 
Council.  A locum Clerk was put in place.  It is my understanding that Mr 
Wright resigned and that he intended to bring legal proceedings against the 
Town Council.  However, sadly, since the events took place, he has passed 
away. 

 
_________________________________________________________________ 
 
Statement of truth: 
 
I believe that the facts stated in this witness statement are true.  I understand that 
proceedings for contempt of court may be brought against anyone who makes, or 
causes to be made, a false statement in a document verified by a statement of truth 
without an honest belief in its truth. 
 
Signed: 

 
 

 
 
Dated:25th July 2022 
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From:                                 Leigh McAndrew
Sent:                                  Tue, 16 Nov 2021 12:03:02 +0000
To:                                      Work Pro
Subject:                             FW: CONFIDENTIAL. Complaint in respect of Cllr Charles Cordery, Buckley Town 
Council

From: Gareth Legal <
Sent: 25 October 2021 09:17
To: Sinead Cook <
Subject: CONFIDENTIAL. Complaint in respect of Cllr Charles Cordery, Buckley Town Council 
 
Dear Sinead
 
I have received a number of emails (attached) from Martin Wright (town clerk), Mayor (Cllr Blondek) 
plus councillors Emma & Carolyn Preece and Louis Fox of Buckley Town Council complaining about 
events that took place at an extraordinary meeting of Buckley Town Council on 20 October 2021.  They 
have each confirmed to me that they would like their email to forwarded to you as a complaint in 
respect of Cllr Charles Cordery.  Due to the fact that the clerk has now been signed off sick for 1 month 
and the multiple complaints I have agreed to collate and forward them to you collectively.  I have no 
fixed view on whether they should be regarded as a complaint from the clerk with 4 witnesses or 5 
separate complaints.
 
I also want to add some context based on my own conversation with Cllr Cordery 2 days before the 
council meeting took place, and my conversations with the clerk since the meeting.
 
Background
There has been some local consternation in Buckley about the cancellation of a planned fireworks 
display on advice from Martin Wright as the town clerk.  He had mistakenly believed that the event 
could not proceed under current covid rules.  When challenged about this, he referred to people who 
had been commenting on social media as “keyboard warriors”, which caused further upset.   As you will 
see from the emails an emergency town council meeting was called for Wednesday night to debate the 
issue.  The meeting was held over Zoom and a number of members of the public were present.  Sadly no 
recording was made.
 
On the morning of the meeting the clerk sent an email  advising members not to discuss staffing issues 
in open session (Standing order 33) which has been sent to me by Carol Ellis (attached).  It is not possible 
to see who opened it from the copy that I have, but it might be possible to see this from the council’s 
email system.  At the start of the meeting the Mayor also tried to advise the council not to speak about 
specific employees in open session.  Cllr Cordery is alleged to have interrupted her on a “point of order” 
in which he stated that an employee had brought the council into disrepute and should give his 
resignation with immediate effect.     Martin is the only male employee and so he and others regard the 
comment as directed at him.
 
As it happens, I had spoken to Cllr Cordery on Monday 18 October about correspondence between him 
and Martin over the summer.  I had agreed with Cllr Cordery that I would speak to Martin about the 
correspondence in order to try and de-escalate tension that was arising as a result.  Cllr Cordery 
suggested that I should do so after the forthcoming extraordinary meeting on Wednesday, of which, I 
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was, at that time, unaware. We then went on to discuss the reasons for the forthcoming council 
meeting.  I was concerned about how such a meeting might turn out given its focus on the actions of 
one employee.  We spoke for 30 minutes or so about the role of councillors as quasi-employers and the 
need to ensure that any debate about potential disciplinary action should happen in closed session 
rather than in public, so as not to give the clerk cause to complain under the code or to bring legal action 
against the council. I appealed to Cllr Cordery’s experience as a union representative to consider how he 
would act if the clerk were a union member who he was representing.
 
I suggested to Cllr Cordery a number of times that it might be better if I were to speak to the clerk 
before the meeting.  He was emphatic that I should not and on each occasion repeated that I should do 
so after the meeting. I therefore arranged to speak to the clerk on Thursday.    I thought Cllr Cordery’s 
insistence slightly odd at the time but did not ask why he was so determined on this point.  I now 
suspect that it was perhaps because Cllr Cordery had already formed an intention to speak as alleged.
 
Cllr Cordery is a newly elected councillor having been returned at a by election in May 2021.  I am not 
aware of whether he has undertaken training on the code of conduct with anyone else. I have not 
provided a training course since that date so he has not been trained by me or my deputy.
 
Current Position
When I spoke to the clerk on Thursday morning I was initially unaware of what had transpired the 
previous evening.  It soon became apparent that he was very upset by the events.  Martin is not 
normally one to share his feelings but he did so on this occasion. He was and remains distressed by the 
events and is particularly concerned that these statements were made in an open meeting at which a 
number of members of the public were present.  He has been signed off sick by his doctor for 1 month.  
 
I have nevertheless spoken to him briefly by telephone to understand how he wished to proceed.  He 
did not believe that local resolution was appropriate in the circumstances, and had no confidence that it 
would produce any change in Cllr Cordery’s behaviour. He has also referred to taking legal independent 
legal advice about his position and has made reference to not being able to carry on working for the 
council and constructive dismissal.
 
Code
The complainants have not specified which paragraphs of the code they believe to have been breached.  
If they took place as described, Cllr Cordery’s actions appear to be a potential breach of paragraphs 4(b) 
and (c) of the code in respect of his behaviour towards the clerk, and paragraph 4(b) in respect of the 
Mayor.    Given the public reaction to events in Handforth Parish Council it might also be possible to 
argue that such conduct also brings his council and/or office into disrepute (para 6).  
 
There is undoubtedly public interest in councillors being able to challenge the actions of the council’s 
employees, and there is no doubt that Martin’s use of the phrase “keyboard warriors” caused public 
offence (see the email from Carol Ellis).  It is quite possible that his comment and/or incorrect advice 
merit some form of investigation and/or disciplinary action. However, there is of course a time and place 
for this plus a proper process.  As a union rep of over 30 years’ experience Cllr Cordery would have 
known that he should not have publicly called for the clerk to resign.  His criticism seems to be in the 
same mould as a number of other councillors who, whilst possibly having a valid point in relation to the 
performance of employees, have failed to follow the proper process or have communicated their views 
in the wrong forum/publicly.  That Cllr Cordery had advice from me, the clerk and the Mayor to this 
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effect would appear to be an aggravating feature.  Lastly of course is the possibility that, as early as 
Monday during his conversation with me, he had formed an intention to make these comments.
 
Conclusion
The councillors are available to answer questions should you require.  I have the clerk’s home telephone 
number and would be happy to contact him if you would like to speak with him.
 
Regards
 
Gareth
Gareth Owens
Prif Swyddog Llywodraethu/Chief Officer Governance

 

**********************************************************************

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the 
same language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay

Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 

message that do not relate to the official business of 

Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 

given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 

Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 

whatsoever in respect thereof.

Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.

Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 

chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 

nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
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From:                                 Martin Wright
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 19:27:07 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      Tracey Reece;Lynne George
Subject:                             Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th 
October 2021

Gareth 
 
Could I please seek your advice regarding potential action I wish to take in relation to an 
incident that occurred at the above Meeting:- 
 
The meeting was called as a result of Welsh Government Guidelines introduced on 11th 
October 2021.  Prior to 11th October, I had on the 6th October 2021 asked the Welsh 
Government’s advice re: the advisability of holding the Annual Firework Display in Buckley.  The 
reply from the Welsh Government was merely to advise that it could take 15 days to reply to 
my query.  In conjunction with the Mayor and Standing Committee Chairs, I discussed the 
potential cancellation of the Fireworks and eventually it was decided by the Mayor and chairs 
to cancel the event.  The Mayor and Chairs were given powers to decided issues that were 
considered urgent.    However, shortly after, the cancellation was posted on our Website; 
Facebook posts directed the Council to possible exemptions to the Regs.  one of which referred 
to un-ticketed, multiple access points, free Firework Displays on Parkland.  I therefore took the 
decision to call a Special Meeting of allow the full Council to decide whether or not to re-
introduce the Firework Display.  I will not go into all the factors to be considered as they are 
irrelevant to this matter.  When I issued the Agenda and put it on our Website, social media 
went in to a frenzy, this was relating to my use of social media users as "Keyboard Warriors". 
This is a phrase that inflamed a number of the social media users, encouraged by a number of 
our Councillors, some of whom have used that expression themselves in the Council Chamber 
and within discussions that included me.   When using the expression, they were referring to 
users of certain Buckley web-based Forums.  The messages posted were of an offensive nature 
and the Administrator of one of the Forums notified her group that she was closing the 
comment section of the post to any more comments as they were becoming a "Witch Hunt".  I 
was aware that certain Members were "outraged" at my use of the phrase "Keyboard Warriors" 
and believed that I may have brought the Town Council into disrepute. I robustly contend this is 
not the case. 
 
Nevertheless, the Special Meeting went ahead at 7.00pm on 20th October 2021 via Zoom Video 
Conferencing.  Prior to the meeting, the Mayor had, in consultation with me, decided to make a 
statement. The statement would clearly set out that the meeting was open to the public; 
therefore, the meeting should concentrate on a decision about the Fireworks as a single item 
agenda.  There would be no discussion on the words in the Agenda that had caused offence, if 
necessary, this could potentially be discussed at the end of the meeting when it would be 
appropriate to invoke Standing Order 33 (a), or the matter could be referred to a further 
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meeting.  The Mayor opened the meeting at 7.00pm and advised the Council that she would be 
reading out a statement prior to the debate taking place.  As she commenced the Statement, 
Cllr C Cordery shouted out "Point of Order" (it should be noted here that Cllr Cordery had his 
camera switched off so only a black screen appeared, this remained the same throughout the 
meeting), the Mayor, using Standing Order 10 (e)(i) stated that she would not hear the point of 
order as she wished to complete the statement.  Cllr. Cordey again shouted out "Point of 
Order", again the Mayor refused it.  Cllr Cordery refused to refrain from speaking, with the 
Mayor repeatedly asking him to be quiet.  Cllr Cordery then said words to the following effect -
That there was a cover up going on in the Council in an attempt to protect members of the 
Council staff by brushing things under the carpet and creating a smoke screen thereby bringing 
the Council into disrepute. He also said (these are his words to the best of my memory) "That 
individual I will say now should offer his resignation with immediate effect".  That remark could 
only have been directed at me as the Council only has three staff, two of whom are female.  Cllr 
Cordery only ceased speaking when the Mayor stated that if he continued, she would seek 
authority to have him removed from the meeting. No other Member spoke and the debate 
moved to the Firework display. 
 
Cllr. Cordery did not make another contribution to the meeting throughout the next 1 hour and 
45 mins (approx.) 
 
There were four or five members of the public in attendance at the meeting when Cllr. Cordery 
made his comments; the outburst was so sudden the Mayor was unable to seek a mover and a 
seconder to propose implementing Standing Order 33(a).  
 
I believe that Members of the Council may be making Official Complaints themselves to you. 

Regards

Martin Wright
Town Clerk and Financial Officer
Buckley Town Council  
 

303 349 



From:                                 Martin Wright
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 11:35:37 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Subject:                             Re: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 
20th October 2021

Gareth

I am happy that my complaint is forwarded to the Ombudsman.

Regards

Martin
From: Gareth Legal <
Sent: 22 October 2021 11:31
To: 'Martin Wright' <
Subject: RE: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021 
 
Martin
 
As discussed I will forward your complaint to the Ombudsman along with those of the councillors .  I 
need your written consent to do so.  A reply to this email confirming you are happy with that will be 
sufficient

Regards
 
Gareth 
 

From: Martin Wright [mailto:
Sent: 22 October 2021 10:09
To: Gareth Legal <
Subject: Re: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021
 
Gareth
 
Thank you for your reply.
 
I will seek legal advice on the matter and come back to you.
 
Regards
 
Martin
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From: Gareth Legal <
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:00
To: 'Martin Wright' <
Subject: RE: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021
 
Martin
 
Thanks, I got the email.  I’m sorry to hear that the matter has had this impact on you.
 
I am concerned that no decision might be taken on this issue for at least a month.
 
I do not want to make your situation worse.  Equally I am reluctant t to take decisions about the incident 
without your input because of the potential impact on you.  If it isn’t possible to speak to you briefly on 
the telephone about how we handle this in your absence then I will discuss the matter with the Mayor.
 
Are you happy for me to speak to Cllr Blondek about how we should proceed?
 
Gareth
 

From: Martin Wright [mailto:
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:53
To: Gareth Legal 
Subject: Re: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021
 
Gareth, I tried to send you a response a few minutes ago.   Just in case it did not go through, I 
replied by saying I cannot discuss the matter as the doctor has signed me off work for a month.
 
Regards
 
Martin

From: Gareth Legal 
Sent: 22 October 2021 07:25
To: 'Martin Wright' 
Cc: Tracey Reece < ynne George 
Subject: RE: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 
2021
 
Dear Martin
 
Thank you for the written account of the events we discussed yesterday.  I have received a number of 
accounts of the incident from other councillors.  As the principal “injured party” I think it is appropriate 
that I discuss with you how to handle the matter.
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In such circumstances you have a number of options under the ethical regime (in addition to any 
separate legal options which you might wish to pursue):

1)      To ask me to mediate informally with your councillor – given your feelings when we spoke, and 
the impact of the events upon you, I appreciate this might not be adequate to resolve the issue

2)      To use Buckley TC’s local resolution procedure – to undertake this you would need to have 
confidence that any resolution would have a lasting impact in preventing a recurrence of the 
behaviour, but this would be the quickest route and would be focussed on trying to repair the 
relationship between yourself and Cllr Cordery; or

3)      To complain to the PSOW  - Cllr Cordery’s actions appear to be in breach of his obligation under 
the code to treat you with respect and they failed to respect your right as an employee to have 
matters pertaining to your service discussed in private.  Any such complaint would be subject to 
the 2 stage test of evidence (which is certainly available) and public interest.  On the latter point 
Cllr Cordery will be afforded a measure of leeway to exercise his role (to hold officers to 
account).  The PSOW’s guidance for town councillors below does however suggest that his office 
woud investigate the complaint.  This may take some months to reach a resolution during which 
time you will need to continue to work with Cllr Cordery
“I will consider carefully any complaints of alleged inappropriate behaviour by members towards 
Clerks, and will investigate those complaints which are supported by appropriate evidence that 
a member has gone beyond what might be regarded as reasonable challenge.”

 
Please consider which option you would wish to take and come back to next week.  If you would like to 
discuss them over the telephone then please feel free to call me.
 
Regards
 
Gareth
 
 

From: Martin Wright 
Sent: 21 October 2021 20:27
To: Gareth Legal <
Cc: Tracey Reece < Lynne George <
Subject: Actions by Cllr. C Cordery at Buckley Town Council Special Meeting held on 20th October 2021
 
Gareth 
 
Could I please seek your advice regarding potential action I wish to take in relation to an 
incident that occurred at the above Meeting:- 
 
The meeting was called as a result of Welsh Government Guidelines introduced on 11th 
October 2021.  Prior to 11th October, I had on the 6th October 2021 asked the Welsh 
Government’s advice re: the advisability of holding the Annual Firework Display in Buckley.  The 
reply from the Welsh Government was merely to advise that it could take 15 days to reply to 
my query.  In conjunction with the Mayor and Standing Committee Chairs, I discussed the 
potential cancellation of the Fireworks and eventually it was decided by the Mayor and chairs 
to cancel the event.  The Mayor and Chairs were given powers to decided issues that were 
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considered urgent.    However, shortly after, the cancellation was posted on our Website; 
Facebook posts directed the Council to possible exemptions to the Regs.  one of which referred 
to un-ticketed, multiple access points, free Firework Displays on Parkland.  I therefore took the 
decision to call a Special Meeting of allow the full Council to decide whether or not to re-
introduce the Firework Display.  I will not go into all the factors to be considered as they are 
irrelevant to this matter.  When I issued the Agenda and put it on our Website, social media 
went in to a frenzy, this was relating to my use of social media users as "Keyboard Warriors". 
This is a phrase that inflamed a number of the social media users, encouraged by a number of 
our Councillors, some of whom have used that expression themselves in the Council Chamber 
and within discussions that included me.   When using the expression, they were referring to 
users of certain Buckley web-based Forums.  The messages posted were of an offensive nature 
and the Administrator of one of the Forums notified her group that she was closing the 
comment section of the post to any more comments as they were becoming a "Witch Hunt".  I 
was aware that certain Members were "outraged" at my use of the phrase "Keyboard Warriors" 
and believed that I may have brought the Town Council into disrepute. I robustly contend this is 
not the case. 
 
Nevertheless, the Special Meeting went ahead at 7.00pm on 20th October 2021 via Zoom Video 
Conferencing.  Prior to the meeting, the Mayor had, in consultation with me, decided to make a 
statement. The statement would clearly set out that the meeting was open to the public; 
therefore, the meeting should concentrate on a decision about the Fireworks as a single item 
agenda.  There would be no discussion on the words in the Agenda that had caused offence, if 
necessary, this could potentially be discussed at the end of the meeting when it would be 
appropriate to invoke Standing Order 33 (a), or the matter could be referred to a further 
meeting.  The Mayor opened the meeting at 7.00pm and advised the Council that she would be 
reading out a statement prior to the debate taking place.  As she commenced the Statement, 
Cllr C Cordery shouted out "Point of Order" (it should be noted here that Cllr Cordery had his 
camera switched off so only a black screen appeared, this remained the same throughout the 
meeting), the Mayor, using Standing Order 10 (e)(i) stated that she would not hear the point of 
order as she wished to complete the statement.  Cllr. Cordey again shouted out "Point of 
Order", again the Mayor refused it.  Cllr Cordery refused to refrain from speaking, with the 
Mayor repeatedly asking him to be quiet.  Cllr Cordery then said words to the following effect -
That there was a cover up going on in the Council in an attempt to protect members of the 
Council staff by brushing things under the carpet and creating a smoke screen thereby bringing 
the Council into disrepute. He also said (these are his words to the best of my memory) "That 
individual I will say now should offer his resignation with immediate effect".  That remark could 
only have been directed at me as the Council only has three staff, two of whom are female.  Cllr 
Cordery only ceased speaking when the Mayor stated that if he continued, she would seek 
authority to have him removed from the meeting. No other Member spoke and the debate 
moved to the Firework display. 
 
Cllr. Cordery did not make another contribution to the meeting throughout the next 1 hour and 
45 mins (approx.) 
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There were four or five members of the public in attendance at the meeting when Cllr. Cordery 
made his comments; the outburst was so sudden the Mayor was unable to seek a mover and a 
seconder to propose implementing Standing Order 33(a).  
 
I believe that Members of the Council may be making Official Complaints themselves to you. 
 
Regards
 
Martin Wright
Town Clerk and Financial Officer
Buckley Town Council  
 

**********************************************************************
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the 
same language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay
Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 
message that do not relate to the official business of 
Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 
given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 
Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 
whatsoever in respect thereof.
Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.
Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 
chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 
nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
Cyngor Sir y Fflint, yn cael eu cynnig na'u cadarnhau ganddo 
nac ar ei ran, ac felly ni fydd Cyngor Sir y Fflint yn derbyn 
unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am y rhannau hynny o'r neges. 
**********************************************************************
 
**********************************************************************
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the 
same language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay
Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 
message that do not relate to the official business of 
Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 
given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 
Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 
whatsoever in respect thereof.
Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.
Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 
chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 
nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
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From:                                 Vivienne Blondek
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 11:42:07 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Subject:                             Re: Buckley Town Council Staff

Dear Gareth 

I have just forwarded to you my confirmation to forward my complaint to PSOW but this 
confirms that I am happy for you to also forward my email to any other body who needs to see it 
whilst dealing with the complaint.

Kind regards

Cllr Vivienne Blondek 

On 22 Oct 2021, at 12:33, Gareth Legal < > wrote:

Dear Cllr Blondek
 
Thanks that is helpful.  It is also a good email.
 
Please confirm whether you are happy for me to forward your complaint to the PSOW
 
Regards
 
Gareth
 
From: Vivienne Blondek 
Sent: 22 October 2021 12:28
To: Gareth Legal <
Subject: Fwd: Buckley Town Council Staff
 
Dear Gareth
 
FYI
 
Please see the email I sent to all Buckley Town Councillors last night. 
 
Kind regards
Cllr Vivienne Blondek
 
 
---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Vivienne Blondek < >
Date: Thu, 21 Oct 2021 at 20:12
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Subject: Buckley Town Council Staff
To: Carol < >, Dennis Hutchinson 
< >, arnold woolley 

, Andy Williams <
Emma Preece >, ellisd889 < >, Louis 
Fox < , Ian Peters <i , Ian 
Howes < >, julia jones <

, Peter Shone 
Richard Jones < , < >, Martyn 
Teire < >, Mike Peers <
carolyn preece <

Dear All

I have spent the last two mornings in the Council offices and what I have 
experienced is totally unacceptable. I have serious concerns regarding the mental 
health of Martin, Tracey and Lynne. For some time they have been feeling 
undervalued so much so that they dread coming into work. No one should ever be 
made to feel too stressed to go into work.  This stress has escalated over recent 
weeks. Collectively we are responsible for the health and safety of all staff and we 
have a “duty of care” for all staff employed by Buckley Town Council.  We are all 
bound by both National and our own BTC Code of Conduct. Please can we all 
consider how our comments and behaviours can sometimes be perceived and adhere 
to the Code of Conduct we all signed up to. 

Kind regards 
Cllr Vivienne Blondek
Buckley Town Mayor

Sent from my iPad
-- 
Vivienne Blondek

**********************************************************************

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the same 
language. Use of either language will not lead to a delay

Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 

message that do not relate to the official business of 

Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 

given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 

Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 

whatsoever in respect thereof.
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From:                                 Vivienne Blondek
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 22:01:41 +0000
To:                                      Martin
Subject:                             Buckley Town Council meeting

Dear Gareth

It is with regret that I find myself having to raise this issue but I am supporting our BTC Clerk with what can only 
be described as unreasonable behaviour by a Councillor against a particular member of Buckley Town Council staff, 
in a public domain. I had just opened an emergency meeting of Buckley Town Council and was making my 
statement when I was rudely interrupted by Councillor Charles Cordery calling for a point of order. He was stating a 
member of staff had brought the council into disrepute and must apologise. He made allegations of a cover up and 
creating a smokescreen to protect this member and demanded “he resigns with immediate effect”. I had immediately 
told him he was out of order and he had interrupted my statement which referred to Standing Orders 33(a) and does 
not allow any discussions regarding any member of staff when public and press are present. He continued to talk 
over me in a loud and aggressive tone. I told him I had ruled, he was in breach of section 33(a) and must please be 
quiet. He continued. I informed he that if he continued, I would have to seek to have him removed from the meeting. 
Cllr Cordery then became quiet and the meeting proceeded.

This is not the first unacceptable outburst from Cllr Cordery. I had recently written to him, as instructed by the 
members of the Establishment Sub-group Committee, regarding his behaviour. To date, he still has not 
acknowledged receipt of my letter.

Kind regards
Cllr Vivienne Blondek
Buckley Town Mayor

Sent from my iPad
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From:                                 carolyn preece
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 11:44:13 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      Martin Wright;Vivienne Blondek
Subject:                             Complaint regarding a Councillor's Behaviour at Buckley Town Council meetings

 21/10/2021

Dear All,

I wish to make a formal complaint

 regarding Cllr Charles Cordery conduct at last night’s special emergency meeting regarding the 

Firework display.

At the beginning of the meeting,

 It was clearly stated by the Mayor that the council members were only to discuss the agenda 

item and that if they wanted to discuss other matters that the mayor would speak to them after 

the meeting, also if it related to staff members that standing orders

 33a would need to be adhered to.

Cllr Cordery was very rude; he

 interrupted the Mayor and would not stop speaking, even when the mayor told him to stop 

speaking. He told everyone including the residents attending that a staff member was out of 

order and needed to apologies and needed to hand in their notice tonight, he

 went on to say that the matter was being swiped under the carpet and it was a cover up and 

that it had brought the council into disrepute. This was witnessed by the Mayor, full council of 

councillors, members of the public, staff ( the clerk, the clerks two

 assistants) and our events subcontractor.

I believe that Cllr Cordery has

 breached our members Code of Conduct and has breached standing orders 10c (iii) (rules of 

debate) , 12a Disorderly conduct, 25a Conduct and interest, 28a Admission of the public and 

press to a meeting, 33a. Discussion resolutions and handling matters affecting

 employees of the council 

This is not the first time Cllr

 Cordery has behaved confrontational and disrespectful manner, I refer to the confidential 

Establishment Sub-committee meetings held on 14th September 2021 and at the face to face 

meeting on 18th

 October, where Cllr Cordery was again confrontational, with an aggressive tone and manner 

and had to be even challenged to wear his face mask to comply with Welsh Government 

guidelines. He continued to remove his mask from his nose and mouth and had to be

 asked to put it back, this happened through the meeting.

We have a duty of care to our staff

 to protect and safeguard them.
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I would appreciate it if this matter

 can be dealt the monitoring officer and possibly on to the Local government ombudsman. 

I am happy to be a witness as part of any investigation that may take place.

Can you please give me some guidance

 on what will happen next with this complaint

If you need  further information

 from me, please let me know.

Regards 

Cllr Carolyn Preece
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From:                                 carolyn preece
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 10:25:42 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal;Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      'Emma Preece';'Louis Fox';'Vivienne Blondek'
Subject:                             Re: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

Hi Gareth 

I can confirm that I give my permission for my email to be forwarded to the Ombudsman.

Kind Regards

Carolyn Preece

On Friday, 22 October 2021, 10:55:40 BST, Gareth Legal < wrote: 

Dear Councillor

 

I have spoken to Martin privately so that the decision on how to handle this situation is not delayed until 
his return to work.

 

He has indicated that he would like to make formal complaint to the Ombudsman.  Given his absence 
from work, and the multiple complaints, I will actually make that referral on his behalf.  I will collate the 
complaints and provide some context for the ombudsman’s officers to consider when deciding whether or 
not to investigate.

 

I intend to include your email to me as part of that referral.  In order to do so I need written confirmation 
that you are happy for me to send that email to the Ombudsman’s office (they will ask me for this).  A 
simple reply to this email expressing your agreement will  be sufficient.

 

If you would like to discuss what the referral process might involve then please see the guidance on the 
ombudsman’s website (here) or feel free to call me on the number below

 

I look forward to hearing from you

 

Regards
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Gareth   

 

From: Gareth Legal 
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:17
To: Gareth Legal <
Subject: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

 

Dear Councillor

 

Thank you for your email regarding events at the town council meeting on 20 October.  I have received a 
number of similar complaints including one from the clerk.  On their face (and without further investigation 
at this stage) they do appear to describe actions that amount to a breach of the code, which the 
ombudsman’s office would be likely to investigate if reported.

 

As the principal injured party I have outlined to Martin a number of options for how this matter might 
proceed.  I will be led by his choice as to whether he would prefer to pursue the town council’s local 
resolution procedure or whether it should be reported to the Ombudsman’s office.  I would urge you to do 
the same though it is, of course, your choice whether to do so.  

 

I will let you know when I have heard from him

 

Regards

 

Gareth

 

 

 

Gareth Owens

Prif Swyddog Llywodraethu/Chief Officer Governance
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From:                                 Emma Preece
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 10:21:45 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      carolyn preece;Louis Fox;Vivienne Blondek
Subject:                             Re: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

Hi Gareth, 

I give permission for my correspondence to be used in a referral forwarded to the Ombudsman.

Kind Regards,

Emma Preece

On Fri, 22 Oct 2021, 10:55 Gareth Legal, < wrote:

Dear Councillor

 

I have spoken to Martin privately so that the decision on how to handle this situation is not 
delayed until his return to work.

 

He has indicated that he would like to make formal complaint to the Ombudsman.  Given his 
absence from work, and the multiple complaints, I will actually make that referral on his 
behalf.  I will collate the complaints and provide some context for the ombudsman’s officers 
to consider when deciding whether or not to investigate.

 

I intend to include your email to me as part of that referral.  In order to do so I need written 
confirmation that you are happy for me to send that email to the Ombudsman’s office (they 
will ask me for this).  A simple reply to this email expressing your agreement will  be 
sufficient.

 

If you would like to discuss what the referral process might involve then please see the 
guidance on the ombudsman’s website (here) or feel free to call me on the number below

 

I look forward to hearing from you
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Regards

 

Gareth   

 

From: Gareth Legal 
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:17
To: Gareth Legal <
Subject: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

 

Dear Councillor

 

Thank you for your email regarding events at the town council meeting on 20 October.  I have 
received a number of similar complaints including one from the clerk.  On their face (and 
without further investigation at this stage) they do appear to describe actions that amount to a 
breach of the code, which the ombudsman’s office would be likely to investigate if reported.

 

As the principal injured party I have outlined to Martin a number of options for how this 
matter might proceed.  I will be led by his choice as to whether he would prefer to pursue the 
town council’s local resolution procedure or whether it should be reported to the 
Ombudsman’s office.  I would urge you to do the same though it is, of course, your choice 
whether to do so.  

 

I will let you know when I have heard from him

 

Regards

 

Gareth
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From:                                 Emma Preece
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 11:17:58 +0000
To:                                      
Cc:                                      Vivienne Blondek;Martin Wright
Subject:                             Councillor Behaviour at Buckley Town Council

Hi All,

I write this email to lodge a complaint about the behaviour and statement made by Councillor 
Charles Cordery at our emergency meeting yesterday evening.

At the beginning of the meeting, the Mayor started the second agenda item with a statement; the 
purpose of which, in my opinion, was to advise the council not to deviate from the agenda item 
being discussed and remind councillors of the Standing Orders they may be breaching by 
bringing other issues up during the course of the meeting. Just for some background information, 
the meeting was called to discuss our firework display and whether we should make the decision 
to go ahead. Previously, the Mayor and Chairs of committees had taken the decision to cancel the 
event due to other events being cancelled locally and the new regulations from the Welsh 
Government. The public had expressed their feelings about this on Facebook and other social 
media outlets so we were going to review the decision. In the agenda item, people who made the 
comments were referred to as "keyboard warriors". The use of this term has been completely 
blown up out of all proportions by some councillors and members of the public. I have heard the 
term be used in the chamber numerous times to discuss the same Facebook groups etc and in the 
same manner it was used in the agenda item. It was clear from the beginning of the statement 
that the Mayor wanted us to just get on and discuss the matter in hand.

The Mayor hardly spoke a sentence when Councillor Cordery called for a "point of order", when 
asked to be silent by the Mayor he repeated himself and continued and stated, words to the effect 
of: there is a cover up to protect some members of staff, they have brought the council into 
disrepute and I call for the immediate resignation of the member of staff involved. Again, the 
Mayor tried to silence the member and advised him of the Standing Orders. 

His behaviour was completely out of order, we cannot discuss members of staff, their roles or 
anything else relating to the staff without first excluding the press and public as is stated in our 
Standing Orders. It was completely out of order to call for the resignation of a member of staff in 
front of several members of the public. This is not the first time this member has breached the 
Code of Conduct/Standing Orders and has been advised of his breach by our Establishment 
Committee. 

I would like some guidance as to what will happen next with this complaint.

Kind Regards,

Emma Preece
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From:                                 Louis Fox
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 17:14:23 +0000
To:                                      
Cc:                                      Vivienne Blondek
Subject:                             Formal complaint

Hi Gareth, 

Following a Special Meeting of Buckley Town Council yesterday evening I wish to make 
a formal complaint against Councillor Charles Cordery for his abhorrent actions in which 
he tried to humiliate a member of our staff in demanding they tender their resignation.

Kind Regards, 

Cllr Louis Fox
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From:                                 Louis Fox
Sent:                                  Thu, 21 Oct 2021 17:20:01 +0000
To:                                      
Cc:                                      Martin Wright
Subject:                             Incident statement - Buckley Town Council Special Meeting Wednesday 20th 
October 2021

Hi Gareth, 

I am emailing with regards to an incident that occurred at the Special meeting of the 
Town Council yesterday evening. The following statement is my recollection of the 
comments made by Councillor Charles Cordery during this meeting;

As Mayor Cllr Vivienne Blondek attempted to open the meeting Cllr Cordery rudely 
interjected, Cllr Cordery made a comment during his speech in which he made 
reference to a male member of staff  (  of which there is only one, our Clerk Martin 
Wright), using the word ''his'' to make this distinction, stating;

''That individual should tender his resignation this evening with immediate effect''.

Cllr Cordery went on to insinuate that there is a ''cover up'' going on for this particular 
member of staff and that ''certain members of the Town Council are actively protecting 
him''.

Please feel free to get in touch with me if necessary - my mobile number is 

Kind Regards, 

Cllr Louis Fox
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From:                                 Louis Fox
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 10:07:41 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      'Emma Preece';'carolyn preece';'Vivienne Blondek'
Subject:                             Re: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

Hi Gareth, 

I give written permission for my email to you to be sent to the Ombudsman’s office.

Kind Regards,
Cllr Louis Fox

Sent from Yahoo Mail for iPhone

On Friday, October 22, 2021, 10:55 am, Gareth Legal < > wrote:

Dear Councillor

 

I have spoken to Martin privately so that the decision on how to handle this situation 
is not delayed until his return to work.

 

He has indicated that he would like to make formal complaint to the Ombudsman.  
Given his absence from work, and the multiple complaints, I will actually make that 
referral on his behalf.  I will collate the complaints and provide some context for the 
ombudsman’s officers to consider when deciding whether or not to investigate.

 

I intend to include your email to me as part of that referral.  In order to do so I need 
written confirmation that you are happy for me to send that email to the 
Ombudsman’s office (they will ask me for this).  A simple reply to this email 
expressing your agreement will  be sufficient.

 

If you would like to discuss what the referral process might involve then please see 
the guidance on the ombudsman’s website (here) or feel free to call me on the 
number below
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I look forward to hearing from you

 

Regards

 

Gareth   

 

From: Gareth Legal 
Sent: 22 October 2021 09:17
To: Gareth Legal <
Subject: Buckley Town Council Meeting 20 October 2021

 

Dear Councillor

 

Thank you for your email regarding events at the town council meeting on 20 
October.  I have received a number of similar complaints including one from the 
clerk.  On their face (and without further investigation at this stage) they do appear 
to describe actions that amount to a breach of the code, which the ombudsman’s 
office would be likely to investigate if reported.

 

As the principal injured party I have outlined to Martin a number of options for how 
this matter might proceed.  I will be led by his choice as to whether he would prefer 
to pursue the town council’s local resolution procedure or whether it should be 
reported to the Ombudsman’s office.  I would urge you to do the same though it is, 
of course, your choice whether to do so.  

 

I will let you know when I have heard from him

 

Regards

 

Gareth
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From:                                 Carol Ellis
Sent:                                  Fri, 22 Oct 2021 08:42:49 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Cc:                                      Matthew Georgiou
Subject:                             FW: Buckley ToWn Council

Hello Gareth
I am sending you this email for information.  I am sure it�s been brought to your attention that 
the Firework display at Buckley was cancelled and all the back lash that came with the 
announcement .  This was on Facebook and residents were posting how they couldn�t 
understand the cancellation as reading Welsh Government guidance it appeared the event met the 
guidelines.  There then was a notice on Buckley Town Council Website that a special meeting 
would take place about this and on the Agenda residents who had made comment where referred 
to as Key Board Warriors, this then fuelled  the situation and I received many complaints about 
the phase as most comments made appeared to be  asking questions.
One the day of the meeting Councillors received the enclosed email to which I responded.
There has been a under lying current in the Council for sometime  starting some years ago when 
staff were present when a Establishment Committee was held discuss a second pay increase in 
 the same financial year.  The atmosphere has been unpleasant to say the least. I have in the past 
had advice from yourself and Matt so I thought I should take the time to make you aware of the 
current unpleasant situation. 
Regards
Carol Ellis
Sent with BlackBerry Work
(www.blackberry.com)

From: <
Date: Friday, 22 Oct 2021, 7:52 am
To: Carol Ellis <
Subject: Fw: 

Sent from my Huawei phone

-------- Original message --------
From
Date: Wed, 20 Oct 2021, 14:08
To: Tracey Reece < >, Vivienne Blondek < , 
julia jones < , , Richard Jones 

, ianpeters101 , Ian Howes 
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< , arnold woolley < , Martyn Teire 
< >, d ellisd889 
< >, Peter Shone <p Mike Peers 
< >, , 

Emma Preece <e , Louis Fox 
<l >, Charles Cordey <
Subject: Re: 

Thank you for your email I note that you mention Members have in the past used the
Phase" Keyboard Warriors." It is my understanding that when this word was used 
Members were in fact referring to Facebook users who were concealing their true 
identity not Facebook users who are asking questions or expressing a opinion in 
their own name. Also that Members have directley challenged the person (using a 
made up identity not a real name ) making a comment at the time. I do not believe 
that the comparison made in this email regarding Members comments in the past is 
relevant in my opinion o this Agenda. 

Regards 
Carol Ellis 

Sent from my Huawei phone

-------- Original message --------
From: Tracey Reece < >
Date: Wed, 20 Oct 2021, 09:05
To: Vivienne Blondek <b >, julia jones 

>, c , Richard Jones 
, ianpeters101 < Ian 

Howes < , arnold woolley , 
Martyn Teire , 
ellisd889 < >, Peter Shone < , 
Mike Peers >, , 

, 'Carol' < >, Emma 
Preece < , Louis Fox >, Charles 
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Cordey <C
Subject: 

Dear Member

 

In case the matter of the expression �keyboard warriors� is brought up 
at the Special Meeting of the Council this evening, I would ask you to 
take cognisance of the following:-

 

As to my email to  and his response (copies attached):

 

1. I genuinely believed that the expression was in common 
parlance;

2. I have heard Members on numerous occasions using the 
expression when referring to Facebook and other Social Media 
platform posts; and 

3. I meant no disrespect to anyone.

 

As Members know I am not a Facebook or other Social Media platform 
user.

 

I would remind Members that under Standing Order 33 (a) staffing 
matters and employment issues may not be discussed in public session 
and as such matters may only be considered after the Council has 
resolved to remove the press and public. Moreover, it maybe that a 
particular matter cannot be discussed in Council and has to be referred 
to the Establishment Sub-Committee which is responsible for 
employment issues. 

 

325 371 



Regards

 

M B Wright

Town Clerk & Financial Officer

 

 

The information you provide (personal information such as name, 
address, email address, phone number, organisation) will be processed 
and stored to enable us to contact you and respond to your 
correspondence, provide information and/or access our facilities and 
services. Your personal information will be not shared or provided to 
any other third party without your consent. We will only keep your data 
for the purpose it was collected for and only for as long as is necessary, 
after which it will be deleted. (You may request the deletion of your 
data held by the council at any time). The council privacy notice can be 
found on our website www.buckleytc.org.uk. 
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From:                                 Gareth Legal
Sent:                                  Mon, 22 Nov 2021 13:56:21 +0000
To:                                      Leigh McAndrew
Cc:                                      Sinead Cook
Subject:                             RE: Complaint in respect of Buckley Town Council

Leigh
 
I had an email from a Cllr Shone complaining about the same issues.  He is a JP and was seeking advice 
on whether he could become involved.  He has only just consented to my forwarding it on to you.
 
The email chain attached contains both his complaint and consent
 
Regards
 
Gareth
 

From: Leigh McAndrew [mailto:
Sent: 16 November 2021 11:43
To: Gareth Legal <
Cc: Sinead Cook <
Subject: RE: Complaint in respect of Buckley Town Council
 

This email, created by as been securely delivered 
using Egress Switch and was decrypted on 16 November 2021 11:43:12+00:00 

Dear Mr Owens
 
Further to Ms Cook’s email below, I have spoken to the Clerk and he is happy to act as the 
complainant.  
 
I will update you once I have received the necessary declarations.
 
Yours sincerely
 

Mr Leigh McAndrew
Swyddog Ymchwilio / Investigation Officer
Ffôn / Tel: 
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From:                                 Peter Shone
Sent:                                  Mon, 22 Nov 2021 12:22:06 +0000
To:                                      Gareth Legal
Subject:                             Re: Concern

Hi Gareth,

I have not heard any potential issues that may arise and as such, I am happy for you to forward my letter along with 
the others you have recieved.

Many thanks for your patience.

Regards

Peter

> On 15 Nov 2021, at 11:00, Peter Shone > wrote:
> 
> Hi Gareth,
> 
> I must apologise for not getting back to you regarding the below.
> 
> I am a Magistrate, and mindful of potential press coverage and the potential of bring the bench into the spotlight, 
through a process I am not fully aware of. To his end I requested guidance from My bench. What I thought would be 
a simple Yes / No has not turned out to be so simple and the guidance I am seeking is taking far longer than I ever 
envisaged 
> 
> As soon as I hear anything I will let you know.
> 
> Regards
> 
> Peter
> 
>> On 26 Oct 2021, at 08:56, .
> 
>> Legal < wrote:
>> 
>> Dear Cllr Shone
>> 
>> Thank you for your email.  
>> 
>> A number of people have already contacted me about the incident.  There are a number of options for how this 
might be resolved and I have indicated to the other complainants that I would be led by the clerk as to which option 
to take forward
>> 
>> If the matter is referred to the Ombudsman I would need your consent to pass your complaint on to them.  Are 
you happy for me to send your email to them?
>> 
>> Regards
>> 
>> Gareth 
>> -----Original Message-----
>> From: Peter Shone ] 
>> Sent: 25 October 2021 21:58
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>> To: Gareth Legal <
>> Subject: Concern
>> 
>> Dear Sir,
>> 
>> It is with regret that I write to advise you of what I concider to be unacceptable behaviour exhibited at the recent 
meeting of the Buckley Town Council.
>> 
>> The meet was called as a Special Meeting to discuss the reassessment of a decision regarding the firework 
display, traditionally held in Buckley, in the light of new information made available to the council.
>> 
>> The meeting was Chaired and opened by the current Mayoress of Buckley, who, in her opening statement clearly 
identified the need to maintain focus in the agendered item and would not allow the meeting to digress into areas 
concerned with recent social media posts. As I understand, the meeting was observed by members if the community.
>> As I recall, before the Mayor was able to completed her opening remarks, Councillor Cordery raised a point of 
order which he persisted in pressing forward, even though the Mayor and Chair of the meeting had on several 
occasions requested Councillor Cordery to stand down, culminating in his demand for the Clark to resign, 
suggesting the actions of the Clark had brought Buckley Town Council into disrepute. All this was being witnesses 
by the observing members of the public. 
>> 
>> Through the behaviour I witnessed, I believe the reputation and integrity of Buckley Town Council has been 
brought into disrepute and further exhibitions of such behaviour should not be tolerated.
>> 
>> Yours Faithfully
>> 
>> Councillor Peter Shone
>> 
>> 
>> 
>> 
>> 
>> **********************************************************************
>> We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the same language. 
Use of either language will not lead to a delay
>> Opinions advice, conclusions and other information in this 
>> message that do not relate to the official business of 
>> Flintshire County Council shall be understood as neither 
>> given nor endorsed by it or on its behalf, and consequently 
>> Flintshire County Council shall bear no responsibility 
>> whatsoever in respect thereof.
>> Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. Ni fydd 
defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.
>> Deellir na fydd unrhyw safbwyntiau, na chynghorion, na 
>> chasgliadau nac unrhyw wybodaeth arall yn y neges hon, 
>> nad ydynt yn berthnasol i waith swyddogol 
>> Cyngor Sir y Fflint, yn cael eu cynnig na'u cadarnhau ganddo 
>> nac ar ei ran, ac felly ni fydd Cyngor Sir y Fflint yn derbyn 
>> unrhyw gyfrifoldeb am y rhannau hynny o'r neges. 
>> **********************************************************************
>> 
> 
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From: Emma Preece
To:
Cc: Vivienne Blondek; Martin Wright
Subject: Councillor Behaviour at Buckley Town Council
Date: 21 October 2021 12:18:12

Hi All,

I write this email to lodge a complaint about the behaviour and statement made by
Councillor Charles Cordery at our emergency meeting yesterday evening.

At the beginning of the meeting, the Mayor started the second agenda item with a
statement; the purpose of which, in my opinion, was to advise the council not to deviate
from the agenda item being discussed and remind councillors of the Standing Orders they
may be breaching by bringing other issues up during the course of the meeting. Just for
some background information, the meeting was called to discuss our firework display and
whether we should make the decision to go ahead. Previously, the Mayor and Chairs of
committees had taken the decision to cancel the event due to other events being cancelled
locally and the new regulations from the Welsh Government. The public had expressed
their feelings about this on Facebook and other social media outlets so we were going to
review the decision. In the agenda item, people who made the comments were referred to
as "keyboard warriors". The use of this term has been completely blown up out of all
proportions by some councillors and members of the public. I have heard the term be used
in the chamber numerous times to discuss the same Facebook groups etc and in the same
manner it was used in the agenda item. It was clear from the beginning of the statement
that the Mayor wanted us to just get on and discuss the matter in hand.

The Mayor hardly spoke a sentence when Councillor Cordery called for a "point of order",
when asked to be silent by the Mayor he repeated himself and continued and stated, words
to the effect of: there is a cover up to protect some members of staff, they have brought the
council into disrepute and I call for the immediate resignation of the member of staff
involved. Again, the Mayor tried to silence the member and advised him of the Standing
Orders. 

His behaviour was completely out of order, we cannot discuss members of staff, their roles
or anything else relating to the staff without first excluding the press and public as is stated
in our Standing Orders. It was completely out of order to call for the resignation of a
member of staff in front of several members of the public. This is not the first time this
member has breached the Code of Conduct/Standing Orders and has been advised of his
breach by our Establishment Committee. 

I would like some guidance as to what will happen next with this complaint.

Kind Regards,

Emma Preece

EXHIBIT EP01
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From: carolyn preece
To: Gareth Legal
Cc: Martin Wright; Vivienne Blondek
Subject: Complaint regarding a Councillor"s Behaviour at Buckley Town Council meetings
Date: 21 October 2021 12:44:19

 21/10/2021

Dear All,

I wish to make a formal complaint regarding Cllr Charles Cordery conduct at last night’s 

special emergency meeting regarding the Firework display.

At the beginning of the meeting, It was clearly stated by the Mayor that the council 

members were only to discuss the agenda item and that if they wanted to discuss other 

matters that the mayor would speak to them after the meeting, also if it related to staff 

members that standing orders 33a would need to be adhered to.

Cllr Cordery was very rude; he interrupted the Mayor and would not stop speaking, even 

when the mayor told him to stop speaking. He told everyone including the residents 

attending that a staff member was out of order and needed to apologies and needed to 

hand in their notice tonight, he went on to say that the matter was being swiped under 

the carpet and it was a cover up and that it had brought the council into disrepute. This 

was witnessed by the Mayor, full council of councillors, members of the public, staff ( 

the clerk, the clerks two assistants) and our events subcontractor.

I believe that Cllr Cordery has breached our members Code of Conduct and has 

breached standing orders 10c (iii) (rules of debate) , 12a Disorderly conduct, 25a 

Conduct and interest, 28a Admission of the public and press to a meeting, 33a. 

Discussion resolutions and handling matters affecting employees of the council 

This is not the first time Cllr Cordery has behaved confrontational and disrespectful 

manner, I refer to the confidential Establishment Sub-committee meetings held on 14th 

September 2021 and at the face to face meeting on 18th October, where Cllr Cordery 

was again confrontational, with an aggressive tone and manner and had to be even 

challenged to wear his face mask to comply with Welsh Government guidelines. He 

continued to remove his mask from his nose and mouth and had to be asked to put it 

back, this happened through the meeting.

We have a duty of care to our staff to protect and safeguard them.

I would appreciate it if this matter can be dealt the monitoring officer and possibly on to 

the Local government ombudsman. 

I am happy to be a witness as part of any investigation that may take place.

Can you please give me some guidance on what will happen next with this complaint

If you need  further information from me, please let me know.

Regards 

EXHIBIT CP01
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Cllr Carolyn Preece
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From:
To:
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
Date: 07 December 2021 17:24:09

Dear Councillor Cordery

Our reference: 202105656

Further to our telephone conversation yesterday, and as outlined in my

colleague’s letter dated 30 November 2021, the Ombudsman will consider any

comments or additional information you want to provide as part of his initial

consideration of this matter.

 
It may also be helpful if I explain that in determining whether to investigate a

breach of the Code of Conduct, the Ombudsman initially applies a two-stage

test.  At the first stage, he will aim to establish whether there is direct evidence

that a breach of the Code has occurred.  At the second stage the Ombudsman

considers whether an investigation is required in the public interest.  As I

explained this complaint is still at the initial consideration stage.  It has not been

decided if it should be investigated.  I should also make it clear that if the case

did progress to investigation, letters of support or witness evidence could be

provided at that stage and you would be given the option to review evidence

obtained and comment fully then as part of that process.

 
I note you have said that other members may wish to write letters of support

now.  These can be emailed to me at 

 or posted (marked for my attention ) to Public Services

Ombudsman for Wales, Ffordd yr Hen Gae, Pencoed CF35 5LJ.  As I also

explained we aim to complete our initial assessment of the complaint promptly

and it would be helpful if any comments or further information could be provided

as soon as possible.  I should remind you that the Ombudsman’s investigations

are conducted in private and you are therefore asked not to discuss the details

of the complaint with any potential witnesses or persons who may be involved

in the matter, whether directly or indirectly, to avoid any prejudice to the

investigation.  Conduct of this kind may amount to a breach of the Code of

Conduct. 

 
I am also including a link to the Ombudsman’s website which includes helpful

guidance on complaints Public Services Ombudsman for Wales and information

about using our Egress facility.  

Yours sincerely

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Ffôn/Tel
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From:
To:
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
Date: 05 August 2022 15:59:00

Dear Councillor Cordery

Our reference: 202105656

 
Further to our telephone conversation on 29 July 2022 and the update on the

investigation.  As I explained although you notified us on 8 February of 3

witnesses who wished to give statements on your behalf, it does not appear to

date that we have received any information from them.  

 
A senior colleague has advised that whilst you would need to bear in mind

confidentiality, as they are your witnesses it would be best for you to ensure

they provide a statement if they wish to do so.  I would suggest that if they do

wish to provide a statement that it is provided by 19 August 2022.  I should also

explain that if you do have any queries I will be away from the office between 8

and 12 August 2022.

Yours sincerely

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Ffôn/Tel: 
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Caroline Haram
Cc: Louise Morland
Subject: IN - Acc Member - Email
Date: 05 August 2022 17:42:11

Dear Ms Haram,

I am in receipt of an email communication which was sent by Ms Louise Moreland earlier
this afternoon which details the belief that no witness statements on my behalf have been
received by the office of the local government ombudsman.

I cannot find resonance in this as two of my witnesses have already received
acknowledgement from you as to their arrival at office of the ombudsman there is also a
third statement from a named witness in support of myself who has also deposited a
statement with the Ombudsman's8 office.

As I feel for the security of these quite salient pieces of documentation, I would now ask
you to review all of the relevant documentation as pertaining to the complaint that has
been lodged against me to ensure that nothing has been mislaid and that all the
documentation that has been asked for in my defence is available for scrutiny on
investigation.

I look forward to your cooperation and assistance in this urgent matter.

Kind Regards,

Cllr. Charles Cordery.
Deputy Mayor,
Buckley Town Council.
Flintshire.

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android
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From:
To:
Cc:
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
Date: 05 August 2022 18:37:56

Dear Councillor Cordery

Our reference: 202105656

 
Thank you for your further email dated 5 August 2022. 
 
I can confirm that we have received supporting statements on your behalf from 2
witnesses, which have been acknowledged.  As set out in my earlier email of today’s
date, you also advised details on 8 February 2022 for 3 further witnesses who wished to
give statements on your behalf, which we do not appear to have received.   
 
I note you say that a third named witness has deposited a statement with our office.  I
would be very grateful if you could provide details for the named witness you refer to
and also confirm when the statement was provided and how.  I will then look into the
matter and respond to you in due course.
 
Whilst I have copied Ms Haram in to this message (so that she is aware that I am
responding to you) I should explain that any correspondence should be sent to me in the
first instance as the Investigating Officer and there is no requirement to send it to Ms
Haram. 
 
Yours sincerely

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Ffôn/Tel: 
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Louise Morland
Cc: Caroline Haram
Subject: Re: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
Date: 05 August 2022 18:56:05

You don't often get email from . Learn why this is important

Dear Ms Moreland,

Thank you for your reply to my message.

The other named witness who is in support of myself is Cllr Julia Jones who has sent in her
statement earlier in the year presumably by email?

it would greatly assist me in my defence if you could supply me with the other three names
who were given to the Ombudsman's office in February 2022 as I cannot at this moment in
time recall them.

I look forward to your assistance in this matter.

Kind Regards

Cllr Charles Cordery
Deputy Mayor,
Buckley Town Council.

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android

From: <

Sent: Friday, 5 August 2022, 18:37
To: 
Cc: C s <
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]

Dear Councillor Cordery

Our reference: 202105656

Thank you for your further email dated 5 August 2022.
I can confirm that we have received supporting statements on your behalf from 2
witnesses, which have been acknowledged. As set out in my earlier email of today’s
date, you also advised details on 8 February 2022 for 3 further witnesses who wished to
give statements on your behalf, which we do not appear to have received.
I note you say that a third named witness has deposited a statement with our office. I
would be very grateful if you could provide details for the named witness you refer to
and also confirm when the statement was provided and how. I will then look into the
matter and respond to you in due course.
Whilst I have copied Ms Haram in to this message (so that she is aware that I am
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responding to you) I should explain that any correspondence should be sent to me in the
first instance as the Investigating Officer and there is no requirement to send it to Ms
Haram.
Yours sincerely

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Ffôn/Tel: 

--
Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru/ Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
Pen-y-Bont ar Ogwr/ Bridgend/
CF35 5LJ
www.ombwdsmon-cymru.org.uk / www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
https://twitter.com/OmbudsmanWales
Hybu’r Gymraeg
Gallwch ysgrifennu atom yn Gymraeg a byddwn yn ymateb yn Gymraeg. Ni fydd hyn yn arwain at oedi cyn ymateb.
Welsh Language Promotion
You can write to us in Welsh and we will reply in Welsh. This will not lead to a delay in responding.
Sganiwyd y neges hon am bob feirws hysbys wrth iddi adael Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru.
Mae Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru yn cymryd o ddifrif yr angen i ddiogelu eich data.
Mae ein Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd yn esbonio sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth a sut rydym yn diogelu eich
preifatrwydd.
On leaving the Public Services Ombudsman, this email was scanned for all known viruses.
The Public Services Ombudsman takes the protection of your data seriously.
Our Privacy Notice explains how we use your information and the ways in which we protect your privacy.
Bydd pob galwad yn cael ei recordio ar gyfer dibenion hyfforddi a chyfeirio
All calls are recorded for training and reference purposes
Ystyriwch yr amgylchedd – a oes wir angen i chi argraffu’r neges e-bost hon?
Please consider the environment - do you really need to print this email?
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From: Charles Cordery
To: Louise Morland
Subject: IN - Acc Member - Acknowledgement
Date: 16 August 2022 14:17:37

Dear Ms Moreland,

Thank you for your message.

I can confirm that Cllr Ian Peters and Cllr Mike Peers will send in witness statements on
my behalf to the email address as indicated.

In respect of Cllr. Julia Jones who is also the elected Mayor she confirms that a statement
has previously been sent to the office of the Ombudsman

She also makes a request for yourself as the investigating officer could you please contact
her on the details as given below.

email: juliajones31

I have also reason to believe that as the meeting was entirely conducted by Zoom a
recording of this will be in existence it would be of great benefit if this recording could be
found.

I look forward to your assistance in this matter.

Kind Regards,

Cllr Charles Cordery,
Deputy Mayor
Buckley Town Council.

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android

From: <
Sent: Tuesday, August 16, 2022 11:30:26 AM
To: 
Subject: RE: IN - Acc Member - Acknowledgement [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]

Dear Councillor Cordery

Our reference: 202105656

Further to the emails below, our IT department have advised they are only able

to check the spam filter from the beginning of August onwards. As such, I would

be grateful if Cllr Jones could send her statement to my email address (copied

to caseinfo@ombudsman.wales) by 30 August 2022, using the above reference

number.

Yours sincerely

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

380 426 

mailto:safetyman-@hotmail.co.uk
mailto:Louise.Morland@ombudsman.wales
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Faka.ms%2FAAb9ysg&data=05%7C01%7CLouise.Morland%40ombudsman.wales%7C5f3962e4a7b343e0828808da7f89af69%7C12baf9c3215842a0bec226b96fd42177%7C0%7C0%7C637962526577627773%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=QwUpfmKtZBLy64j7HK9iULhew%2F9sDtPVtCmUCKHgenc%3D&reserved=0
mailto:caseinfo@ombudsman.wales


Ffôn/Tel: 

From: "Charles Cordery" 

Sent: 15 August 2022 18:01

To: "Louise Morland" <

Subject: IN - Acc Member - Acknowledgement

Dear Ms Moreland,

Thank you for your message I will endeavour to provide the witness statements as

required.

Kind Regards,

Cllr.Charles Cordery

Deputy Mayor,

Buckley Town Council.

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2

Get Outlook for Android

From: <
Sent: Monday, August 15, 2022 5:52:42 PM
To: 
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]

Dear Councillor Cordery

Our reference: 202105656

Further to your email dated 5 August 2022 and our telephone conversation

today. You have advised that Cllr Peers, Cllr Jones and Cllr Peters wished to

provide statements on your behalf, however, as discussed, we do not appear to

have received these to date. I note you said that Cllr Jones may have sent a

supporting statement via email earlier this year and I will check with our IT

department to see if anything could possibly have got caught in a spam filter.

In the meantime, and bearing in mind confidentiality, you will ensure that any

supporting statements to be provided are sent to me via my email address (and

copied to caseinfo@ombudsman.wales) using the above reference number. As

such, I would be very grateful if any information could be provided by 30 August

2022.

Yours sincerely

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Ffôn/Tel: 

--
Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru/ Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
Pen-y-Bont ar Ogwr/ Bridgend/
CF35 5LJ
www.ombwdsmon-cymru.org.uk / www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
https://twitter.com/OmbudsmanWales
Hybu’r Gymraeg
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Gallwch ysgrifennu atom yn Gymraeg a byddwn yn ymateb yn Gymraeg. Ni fydd hyn yn arwain at oedi cyn ymateb.
Welsh Language Promotion
You can write to us in Welsh and we will reply in Welsh. This will not lead to a delay in responding.
Sganiwyd y neges hon am bob feirws hysbys wrth iddi adael Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru.
Mae Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru yn cymryd o ddifrif yr angen i ddiogelu eich data.
Mae ein Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd yn esbonio sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth a sut rydym yn diogelu eich
preifatrwydd.
On leaving the Public Services Ombudsman, this email was scanned for all known viruses.
The Public Services Ombudsman takes the protection of your data seriously.
Our Privacy Notice explains how we use your information and the ways in which we protect your privacy.
Bydd pob galwad yn cael ei recordio ar gyfer dibenion hyfforddi a chyfeirio
All calls are recorded for training and reference purposes
Ystyriwch yr amgylchedd – a oes wir angen i chi argraffu’r neges e-bost hon?
Please consider the environment - do you really need to print this email?

--
Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru/ Public Services Ombudsman for Wales
1 Ffordd yr Hen Gae
Pencoed
Pen-y-Bont ar Ogwr/ Bridgend/
CF35 5LJ
www.ombwdsmon-cymru.org.uk / www.ombudsman-wales.org.uk
https://twitter.com/OmbudsmanWales
Hybu’r Gymraeg
Gallwch ysgrifennu atom yn Gymraeg a byddwn yn ymateb yn Gymraeg. Ni fydd hyn yn arwain at oedi cyn ymateb.
Welsh Language Promotion
You can write to us in Welsh and we will reply in Welsh. This will not lead to a delay in responding.
Sganiwyd y neges hon am bob feirws hysbys wrth iddi adael Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru.
Mae Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus Cymru yn cymryd o ddifrif yr angen i ddiogelu eich data.
Mae ein Hysbysiad Preifatrwydd yn esbonio sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth a sut rydym yn diogelu eich
preifatrwydd.
On leaving the Public Services Ombudsman, this email was scanned for all known viruses.
The Public Services Ombudsman takes the protection of your data seriously.
Our Privacy Notice explains how we use your information and the ways in which we protect your privacy.
Bydd pob galwad yn cael ei recordio ar gyfer dibenion hyfforddi a chyfeirio
All calls are recorded for training and reference purposes
Ystyriwch yr amgylchedd – a oes wir angen i chi argraffu’r neges e-bost hon?
Please consider the environment - do you really need to print this email?
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From: julia jones
To:
Cc: caseinfo
Subject: IN - Witness Cllr Jones - Response
Date: 16 August 2022 14:29:55

You don't often get email from why this is important

Sent from Samsung Mobile on O2
Get Outlook for Android
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06/01/2022 
 

Reference 202105656 
 
Dear Miss/ Mrs Morland 
 
I am writing to you in response to a letter that has been received by Councillor Cordery regarding his 
comments made at an extraordinary Meeting of Buckley Town Council on October 20th, 2021. The 
agenda for this meeting was to discuss the cancellation of the Towns fireworks. 
 
We as councillors along with Councillor Cordery had received a lot of complaints form the public 
regarding this issue. 
 
On the night the meeting was opened by the Mayor Councillor Vivienne Blondek, we were then told 
that there would be no discussion on the wording of the agenda this is when Councillor Cordery 
raised a point of order.  
 
The wording in the agenda referred to the public as “Key Board Warriors" which has upset a lot of 
the public. While Councillor Cordery was speaking the mayor kept interrupting, but at no point did 
Councillor Cordery refer to anyone by name or gender, he was merely stating what had been said to 
him by the pubic of Buckley when airing their disbelief at the comments made on the Buckley Town 
Council’s Webpage.  
 
As a council it was our decision to distance ourselves from the wording on the council webpage 
which referred to Facebook users as “Keyboard Warriors”. 
 
Kind Regards 
 
 
Councillor Julia Jones 
Deputy Town Mayor of Buckley 
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From:
To:
Subject: Complaint to the Ombudsman [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
Date: 10 October 2022 14:42:45

Dear Councillor Jones

Our reference: 202105656
 
Further to my email below, I note that to date we do not appear to have received your
response.  I would be very grateful if you could return the information as soon as
possible and no later than 14 October 2022.   If I do not hear from you by that time, I
will assume that you do not intend to respond. 
 
If you have any queries in relation to the letter and enclosure, please contact me directly
either by telephone on or by email at

 
Yours sincerely

Louise Morland
Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer
Ffôn/Tel: 

From: " " <

Sent: 20 September 2022 14:46
To: 
Subject: Complaint made to the Ombudsman - 202105656 [REF/L0/bn/BX/5d/]
Dear Councillor Jones

Our reference: 202105656

 
Further to my letter (with enclosures) dated 7 September 2022, I note that to date we do
not appear to have received your response.  I would be very grateful if you could return
the information as soon as possible and no later than 27 September 2022.

Yours sincerely

Louise Morland

Swyddog Ymchwilio/Investigation Officer

Ffôn/Tel: 
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TRANSCRIPT 

 

F O R :  Public Services Ombudsman for Wales 

P N  N O :  PN8629 

 

T I T L E :  Councillor Charles Cordery Interview 

T Y P E :  Interview  

C O N V E N T I O N :  Verbatim 

A U D I O  L E N G T H :  100 minutes 

 

T R A N S C R I B E R :  EST/HW1 

A T :  ES S EN T IA L  SEC R ET A RY  L TD  

C O M P L E T I O N  D A T E :  05.12.2022 
 
T R A N S C R I B E R ’ S  N O T E S :  
A n y  d i f f i c u l t i e s  e x p e r i e n c e d ,  a c c e n t s  a n d  g e n e r a l  c o m m e n t s  
 

N U M B E R  O F  U N C L E A R S  3 N U M B E R  O F  I N A U D I B L E S  1 

S P E L L  C H E C K  P E R F O R M E D  Yes P R O O F I N G  P E R F O R M E D  Yes 

W O R D  C O U N T  16316 P A G E S  64 

A U D I O  Q U A L I T Y  Fair but some background noise at times (papers shuffling) 

S P E A K E R  R E L A T E D  I S S U E S        

E Q U I P M E N T  R E L A T E D  I S S U E S        

T E R M I N O L O G Y  I S S U E S        

O T H E R  C O M M E N T S        

 
 

Please find attached your completed transcript. 

Whilst every effort is made to ensure that the attached transcript is an accurate record of your audio recording, 

sometimes difficulties are encountered in understanding technical words, people speaking with a foreign accent and 

in some cases when somebody is speaking from a crowded room with a lot of background noise and from mobile 

phones. 

Where we have had difficulty understanding words we have indicated this as [unclear] with the appropriate time 

stamp, or simply attempted to spell the word phonetically but followed it with [ph]. 
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Councillors Name: Charles Cordery 

Case Reference:  
Page 1 of 63 

 

Public Services Ombudsman Wales 
Interview Record 

 
Date:  30.11.2022 .....      Venue:  MS Teams.........................................  
 
Interviewing Officer(s): Louise Morland - Investigator.................................... 
 
Others Present:  Matthew Phelps - Support for Louise Morland ......... 
    Jane Spencer – Support for Councillor Cordery 
 
________________________________________________________________ 
 
LM: Okay the date is Wednesday the 30th of November 2022.  The time is 

13:58 by the timer on the machine.  And this is an interview in relation to a 
complaint made by Mr Martin Wright, former Clerk to Buckley Town 
Council, now deceased, against Councillor Charles Cordery which alleges 
breaches of the Code of Conduct for members of Buckley Town Council.  
So, I’m Louise Morland.  I am an Investigator for the Public Services 
Ombudsman for Wales.  Also here today as support and who may be 
taking notes for me is my colleague.   

 
MP Matthew Phelps.   
 
LM: Okay.  And being interviewed today is.   
 
CC: Councillor Charles Cordery from Buckley Town Council.   
 
LM: Thank you.  And you have someone here with you today for support.  And 

that’s. 
 
JS: Jane Spencer.   
 
LM: Thank you.  So, I must make it clear to Councillor Cordery that although 

Miss, is it Mrs, Miss Spencer. 
 
JS: Yes.   
 
LM: Miss?   
 
JS: Yes.   
 
LM: Miss Spencer is here as support for you.  The interview is directed to you 

as the elected member and therefore the answers must be your own and 
Miss Spencer may not provide answers on your behalf.  Okay.  Right, 
okay.  Right, so the interview is being simultaneously recorded on two 
CDs.  One CD will be sealed in your presence and will be kept securely in 
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Councillors Name: Charles Cordery 

Case Reference:  
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case it’s needed by an Adjudication Tribunal or a Standards Committee 
Hearing.  And the other will be a working copy to which the Ombudsman or 
her staff may listen and from which further copies can be made.  And both 
CDs are protected against tampering and before making final 
recommendations the Ombudsman will provide you with a written 
transcript of the interview.  Okay, before making final recommendations, 
the Ombudsman, oh I’ve just said, can provide you with a written transcript 
and if you have a legal representative or a friend acting for you, who 
requires an additional copy of the transcript, it may be provided, although 
the Ombudsman does reserve the right to charge, okay.  And requests for 
an additional copy should be made to the Ombudsman’s Information 
Governance Manager, okay.  The interview is anticipated to last between 
one and two hours.  So, can you confirm that you’ve allowed enough time 
to complete the interview? 

 
CC: Absolutely, yes.   
 
LM: Yeah.  And can you confirm that you’re well enough to answer questions 

today? 
 
CC: Yes, I am.   
 
LM: And can you confirm that you have everything with you that you might 

need, during the course of the interview, such as reading glasses, 
medication or anything else that you might need?   

 
CC: I have everything.   
 
LM: Great.  And can I ask that any mobile phones or other electronic devices 

which might interrupt us are either switched off or turned to silent.   
 
CC: I don’t have one.   
 
CC: Mine’s in the car.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
JS: Yeah.   
 
LM: Great, thank you.  And in the event that you need a comfort break or a 

break for any other reason at any stage, just let me know and we can 
pause the recording and then carry on.  And for the benefit of the 
recording, can you please confirm that prior to the recording being 
switched on, we’ve not discussed the case or any other matter subject to 
this interview in any way.   

 
CC: I can confirm that.   
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LM: Yeah, great, thank you.  And can you confirm that you’ve received the 

Evidence file which was sent to you via Recorded Delivery on 2nd 
November 2022 which comprised 381 pages of documents?   

 
CC: I can but however, in the evidence file, there doesn’t appear to be Witness 

statements that were compiled on my behalf by Councillor Julie Jones.  
 
LM: Okay, what I would say about that, is that obviously you alerted me to the 

fact that Julie Jones would provide a witness statement.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: She did provide an email, okay and I did draft a witness statement for her.  

And asked her to return it and nothing was returned and I did pursue that 
with her several times but we didn’t get anything returned to us, so has 
she, has she said that she’s done one for you?   

 
CC: She said she spoke to you.  She, she contacted, she’d actually.   
 
LM: I did speak to her on the telephone and we emailed.   
 
CC: Yeah, okay.  Councillor Mike Peers?   
 
LM: Mike Peers, I haven’t received anything from Mike Peers.   
 
CC: Okay.  Carol Ellis?   
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: Okay.  That’s not in the pack.  Unless I’ve missed it; it may, may be in the 

pack but.   
 
LM:  It should be in the pack.   
 
CC: Okay.   
 
LM: Okay? 
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Great, okay.  So, as I say, the interview is directed to you as the elected 

member and it’s expected the answers will be your own.  So, I’ll tell you a 
little bit about the allegation which has been made against you and then I’ll 
go through some questions relating to that and I would ask that you listen 
to the questions carefully and answer them as fully as you can.  Okay, the 
questions are my opportunity to cover the issues I need to and your 
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answers are your opportunity to respond to the allegation and provide the 
Ombudsman with any information which may assist with us in reaching our 
conclusions.   

 
CC: Yeah, just for clarification.   
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: From, from the pack.    
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: From the bundle, I have a number of observations to make.   
 
LM: That’s fine.   
 
CC: Can they be made at the end or as we go through? 
 
LM: You can do it however it seems appropriate to you to do it.  If you want to 

talk about them as we go through, that might make the most sense.  Or we 
can do it at the end.  It’s completely up to you.   

 
CC: Yeah, perhaps it may be best left to the end.  And there are also Minutes 

from the Buckley Town Council.   
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: Which may well, will be beneficial.   
 
LM: Yes.  Yeah, that’s fine.   
 
CC: Okay.   
 
LM: Anything like that, yeah.  It’s your interview; it’s your opportunity to say 

what you want to say.   
 
CC: Okay.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, please be aware that any information or evidence that you do 

give to me today is likely to be detailed in or appended to any Report that 
the Ombudsman may produce on her findings.  And any such Report may, 
depending on the finding made by the Ombudsman, be shared with the 
Standards Committee of the local authority or the Adjudication Panel for 
Wales, who may hold any Hearing in public and may also publish a Report 
and Appendices in the public domain.   

 
CC: Okay.   
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LM: Okay.  So, you’ve been asked to undertake an interview today because it’s 

been alleged that at a public Town Council meeting on 20th of October 
2021 you made comments about Mr Wright who, the former Clerk and 
called for him to resign.  Do you understand the allegations that have been 
made? 

 
CC: I do, yeah.   
 
LM: Okay.  The Ombudsman is investigating whether your conduct may have 

breached the following paragraphs of the Code.  And we have  

 4b which is ‘Members must show respect and consideration for others’.   

 6.1a  which is ‘Members must not conduct themselves in a manner which 
could reasonably be regarded as bringing their office or Authority 
into disrepute’.   

 7a which is ‘Members must not in their official capacity or otherwise, 
use or attempt to use their position improperly, to confer on or 
secure for themselves or any other person an advantage or create 
or avoid for themselves or any other person, a disadvantage’.   

 and  

 8a iii Members must when participating in meetings or reaching decisions, 
regard the business of their Authority, regarding the business of their 
Authority, do so on the basis of the merits of the circumstances 
involved and in the public interest, having regard to any relevant 
advice provided by their Authority’s Officers, in particular by the 
Authority’s Monitoring Officer’.   

 
 Okay, so what, what I’m going to do then is I’m going to carry on with some 

questions now.  But before I do that, is there anything, do you have any 
question for me or is there anything you want to say before we carry on 
with my questions?   

 
CC: No, I’m quite happy to continue.   
 
LM: Great, okay.  So, if you’re ready then, let’s turn to Appendix 3 which should 

be page 102 of your pack.  So go to page 102 of your bundle.   
 
CC: Page.   
 
LM: 102.  Okay.  Okay, so on page 102, we have a Declaration of Acceptance 

of Office.  And what I need you to do is confirm for me that it contains a 
copy of a form which confirms your acceptance of the office of Member 
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and the undertaking to observe the Code and that bears your signature.  
And it’s dated 13th of May 2021.   

 
CC: That is correct.   
 
LM: That’s your signature, great.  So, on what date did you, I appreciate you’ve 

signed that on the 13th of May, but when did you actually become a 
member of the Council?   

 
CC: Well there was, there was a By-election.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: There were two, one I wasn’t successful in.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And the second one was some time after, in which I was successful.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: But it was sometime before I was asked to meet with the Clerk.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And sign the certificate, which is in the bundle.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, would you say it was May, May?   
 
CC: It, it, it could well have been, it’s, it’s a long-time ago.   
 
LM: It’s a long-time ago, but we’re talking 20, 2021.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: And this is the first declaration that you’ve signed.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Okay, that’s fine.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Okay, so we’re talking about events that happened on the 20th of October 

2021 and I appreciate you were elected in May, around about May 2021, 
the beginning of May 2021.  So, between those two periods, did you 
undertake any training on the Code of Conduct?   
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CC: None whatsoever.   
 
LM: No, okay.  And have you undertaken any training since?   
 
CC: Yes, Gareth, I think, Gareth Owens, the Legal Officer for Flintshire County 

Council.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Organised, it was done by Zoom.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And that was, that was just a couple of months ago.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: But it was organised, there were quite a few, quite a few slots on there.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: But it was mandatory, you had to.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: You had to take it and it was all done by Zoom.   
 
LM: So, where are we now, we’re, we’re in November, end of November aren’t 

we, so a couple of months ago, you’re talking? 
 
CC: Yeah.  Yeah.   
 
LM: August, September?  Do you remember?   
 
CC: August, no, or September, it would be, August, September, way before 

August.   
 
LM: Oh before August.   
 
CC: Yeah, before August yeah.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  And that’s the first training you were offered in, since then, 

okay.  So, when you were elected, did you receive things like the Council’s 
Standing Orders, financial regulations to look at?   

 
CC: On the day that I signed this document.   
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LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I met the Clerk for the first time.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I believed that I was going in there for induction.   
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: A purposeful induction.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: What I received was a tour of the building.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: He pointed out something that had come from South Africa, that was, it 

was a statue of some sort that was, and he gave me a bundle and he said 
that was ‘bed-time reading’.   

 
LM: Okay.  But did that contain those things like Stand, Standing Orders.   
 
CC: Yeah, there was, there was everything in there.   
 
LM: Everything was in there.   
 
CC: But what it meant to me was, I really expected to have a comprehensive 

induction.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: On, on, on the documentation that had been given to me.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And it wasn’t there.   
 
LM: Okay.  
 
CC: It was just, the comment was ‘This is bed-time reading’.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, would, would you say that, I mean did you look at those 

documents then, did you assimilate them or?   
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CC: I, I attempted to.  
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But, but when, it, it’s like you’ve just described the allegations against me.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Paragraph A, paragraph, section 13, paragraph A, paragraph B.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: As a new Councillor.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: That, to me, is, I’m, I’m more concerned with dealing with what’s, what the 

people ask me to do.   
 
LM: Okay, yeah.   
 
CC: What the residents are asking me to do.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: At the time, it seemed like a bundle of documents.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And I was expecting somebody really, to come to me later on and sit down 

and say ‘Well this is, this is how it all works’.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And nobody did.   
 
LM: And, and that didn’t happen.  You didn’t have any training on those things?   
 
CC: None at all.   
 
LM: Okay.  Alright, that’s fine.  Alright then, so tell me a bit about your 

experience in the Council then, as a Member.  I appreciate what you’re 
saying is that you were elected at the beginning of May.  Have you ever 
been a Councillor before that?   

 
CC: No.   
 

397 443 



 
 
Councillors Name: Charles Cordery 

Case Reference:  
Page 10 of 63 

 

LM: So, so at that time, you didn’t have any experience of being a Councillor?   
 
CC: No experience whatsoever.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  So, when, when you were elected and you were a new 

Member, did you belong to any committees?  Were you the Chair of 
anything or?   

 
CC: No.  I’ve since been elected Deputy Mayor.   
 
LM: Okay.  
 
CC: Of, of the town.   
 
LM: And that’s this year is it?   
 
CC: That was this year, yeah.   
 
LM: That’s, and is that the first time you’ve held that sort of role?   
 
CC: Yeah, the civic role, yeah.  
 
LM: Okay.  So, you’re, you’re Deputy Mayor for this year.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Yeah, does that run from May to May.   
 
CC: Yeah, May, yeah.   
 
LM: Yeah.  So, we’re talking May 2022 to May 2023.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Yeah, great okay.  Okay, right, so, okay, I appreciate what you said, that 

you know, you, at the time you were, you were not an experienced 
Councillor.  Okay, would you now describe yourself as an experienced 
Councillor or?   

 
CC: Experience is, how would you describe experience?  I mean do you ever 

stop; I mean every day is a challenge.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And you learn things, every day.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
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CC: So, I mean there’s people that’s been on that, on Buckley Town Council for 

many, many years.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I wouldn’t class myself as on, on, there’s County Councillors on there.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: With far more experience than I.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: So, I wouldn’t really class myself as.    
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: I’m still finding my.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Still finding my feet.   
 
LM: Yeah, okay.  Alright.  Alright then, so I’m going to, I mentioned the 

paragraphs of the Code, okay, earlier so I’m going to go over those again 
now.  And I’m going to ask you to explain, it’s your opportunity to just to 
explain, in your words, what you feel your understanding of the 
paragraphs, of those paragraphs is.  So, if we talked about 4b.  That’s 
‘Members must show respect and consideration for others’.  What’s your 
understanding of that?   

 
CC: I, in, in every meeting.   
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: That, that I attend, I’m inquisitive.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: That’s as I should be.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I ask, I ask questions, which I’m allowed to do.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
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CC I never step across any kind of boundary that could be described as 

inappropriate.  I’m always respectful of other people.  You, you might not, 
that might not be reciprocal.  But I always endeavour to do it the, the right 
way, the fair way, the reasonable way.   

 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And as, as a Councillor, that’s what I aspire to.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I, I became a Councillor to help people.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: To, you know, to try and make, make things better for people.  Not for 

myself.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: Because it’s an unpaid position.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: It’s a voluntary position but I’ve always striven, well striven to do the best I 

can for people.   
 
LM: Yeah.  
 
CC: That’s the, the, the best way.    
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I can describe at the meetings, Buckley Town Council can be, there are 

individuals on there from a, a certain political persuasion that, that can, that 
can and will make it quite difficult, quite tenuous, but for myself, I’ve always 
striven to be reasonable.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And ask, and ask questions, which I’m entitled to do.   
 
LM: Yeah.  Okay.  That’s, that’s helpful.  Thank you.  So, if we talk about 6.1a 

then, which is ‘Members must not conduct themselves in a manner which 
could reasonably be regarded as bringing their office or Authority into 
disrepute’.  What, what’s your understanding of that?   
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CC: Conduct, if, in order to draw things out.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: As I’m entitled to do.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: You can, as we all know, raise a Point of Order.  Now, to me, that’s, if it’s 

relevant.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: To what’s, to what’s being discussed, then it should be allowed.   
 
LM: Okay.  
 
CC: Again, there’s no histrionics, there’s, there’s no shouting, there’s, if, if it’s 

not allowed, it’s not allowed.  But sometimes you do have to press the 
point.  If I’m asked by the residents to make a point, and find out what is, 
then that’s all I can do.   

 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: I’d be letting the people that voted for me down, if I didn’t do that.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: If I was to go in there and just say nothing.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: Then I would fail everybody; not just myself but the people that voted for 

me.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I’m not prepared to do that.   
 
LM: No, okay.  That’s fine.  And 7a and that’s ‘Members must not in their official 

capacity or otherwise use or attempt to use their position improperly, to 
confer on or secure for themselves or any other person, an advantage, or 
create or avoid for themselves or any other person, a disadvantage’.   

 
CC: I’ve never sought to create an advantage or a disadvantage.  I expect a 

level playing field.   
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LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I expect reasonable dialogue.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I expect commitment and I expect reasonability.  To gain an advantage, 

I’ve never done that.   
 
LM: No, okay.  Okay.  And 8a which is ‘Members must when participating in 

meetings or reaching decisions regarding the business of their Authority, 
do so on the basis of the merits of the circumstances involved and in the 
public interest, having regard to any relevant advice provided by their 
Authority’s Officers, in particular by the Authority’s Monitoring Officer’.   

 
CC: In respect of the Monitoring Officer, did he disclose a conflict of interests?  

Because from, from a lay-person, reading the documentation, it seems that 
it’s all been driven by Gareth Owens.   

 
LM: Okay.    
 
CC: Now, as a Trade Union representative.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: With many members in Flintshire County Council, I’ve, I’ve come into 

contact with Gareth, on one particular incident.  When one of my members 
was, I supported, I supported her for over 12 months in an issue with 
Flintshire County Council.  Now, Gareth became involved in that.   

 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: Now, he may have derived an opinion of me.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: From that.    
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Now I really do think that he should have disclosed a conflict of interests 

because there’s things that I will like to mention after.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: Which, which to me, are quite wrong.   
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LM: Mhm.   
 
CC: In the way that, the way this has all developed.   
 
LM: Okay, so you mention a conflict of interests.  Is that.   
 
CC: Well he.   
 
LM: Just expand on that a little bit for me to what you, what you mean?   
 
CC: Yeah.  As, as a Trade Union representative.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: For the GMB.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: We have many members in Flintshire County Council.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Now, one of them in particular, a lady, I supported for 12 months, over 12 

months and it, it, at times it was a difficult situation because it, it was her 
job.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: It was her employment on, on the line.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Now, eventually Gareth became involved.  Now he may have gained an 

opinion of me.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: Which he, you know, he wasn’t quite happy with.  I mean lawyers, 

barristers don’t like to be challenged.  Now, I, all the issues.   
 
LM: So, you think it might be because of that situation?   
 
CC: It’s, it’s possible.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.   
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CC: It’s quite, I don’t know for sure.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: But it’s quite possible.  But I have to mention it.   
 
LM: Yeah.  
 
CC: Because it’s all being driven by the Monitoring Officer.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  Right, okay.  Alright, so let’s, let’s talk about, let’s talk about 

the events and what happened.  Now, I understand obviously there’s a, 
there’s a lot of information that you’ve, you’ve been given to look at.  A lot 
of it has been provided by Mr Wright.  And it’s clear, obviously there was, 
there were, you joined the Council in the May and there were some issues 
over the summer with Mr Wright.  Is, is that correct?  Do you want to talk 
about what has, a bit of the background to that?   

 
CC: Yeah, I mean there was, there was an exchange of emails, quite a long 

exchange of emails.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Which has been exacerbated out of all proportion.   
 
LM: Yeah, okay.   
 
CC: That, that’s, I, the emails that, the communications between Mr Wright and 

myself.   
 
LM: Yeah. 
 
CC: Were shown to a retired Human Resource Officer of good standing.  She 

said that they were, they got to a point where they were bullying and they, 
they virtually bordered on harassment.  But that’s what you found with Mr 
Wright.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I know, it’s difficult for me to talk about Mr Wright because he’s deceased.   
 
LM: Okay, yes.   
 
CC: But I would much rather he be sitting there.   
 
LM: Yeah. 
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CC: So we could have a free-flow discussion.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But he was known to be aggressive.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: He was known to be a person that you could not challenge.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Unfortunately, I’ve, I’ve come along and there was, we were coming out of 

the lockdown.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And there were some smaller community councils, the locals, you know, to, 

to Buckley Town Council.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: They, they put on events.  They were quite big events; one lasted for three 

days.  And I’m around town, I mean I’m semi-retired.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: So, I’m around the town every day and people, I talk to everybody.  And 

they, the views of the residents over what’s happening right now, we have 
[unclear 22:32].   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: So, this is where, there, there was, there was a couple of, the Buckley 

Jubilee was cancelled.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Which had to be cancelled.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But my, my comments around what wasn’t being provided were built on the 

fact that lesser councils, of a lesser status, not, I wouldn’t say ‘less’ but 
other smaller, but were putting things on for their community.  

 
LM: Mhm.  
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CC: And Buckley Town Council was left on the outside.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: There was a fireworks display.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: Which was cancelled by the Town Clerk.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: Which he shouldn’t have done.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: He should have gone to the Town Council and then cancelled it.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: But he had a habit of doing things on his own.   
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: Without telling anybody.  And that led to a bit of confusion and a but of 

annoyance with the, with the community.   
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: And that’s where the, the email trail started from.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Now, along with that, as an employee, and I’m right that ostensibly, I was, 

as a Councillor, I was his employer.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Now he made a comment.  There was a lot, there was Facebook, I mean I, 

I avoid Facebook like the plague.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: But there was a lot of comments on Facebook.    
 
LM: Mhm.   
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CC: Which unfortunately he responded to, in a negative way.  
 
LM: Yes.   
 
CC: Now, that caused a lot of anger in the town.  I mean the, the phrase, is it, 

the phrase, what’s it, ‘voyeurism’, he called it something.   
 
LM: I think, I think the issue was over the use of the words ‘keyboard warriors’.   
 
CC: Keyboard warriors.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Well that, that found its way onto Facebook.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And the community reacted to that.    
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Reacted in quite a, quite a strong way.  
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: That’s probably all I can say about that.   
 
LM: Okay.  That’s fine.  So, from, obviously we’ve got the, the email exchanges 

and the information in the pack.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: And you know, from what you’re saying, your relationship with Mr Wright, 

from early days, from when you’re being a Councillor, it was difficult.  Was 
that fair to say, was it?   

 
CC: I wouldn’t, difficult is quite a descriptive word.   
 
LM:  Yeah.   
 
CC: He was difficult with everybody.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Not just myself.   
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LM: Yeah.    
 
CC: But he couldn’t be challenged.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: And I’m sure that the, the emails that I’ve sent, I mean they were assertive.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I don’t think they crossed any boundaries on anything else.   
 
LM: No, okay.   
 
CC: But he saw it as a challenge.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And, and took it on as, as that.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay, so, so then though, the nature of the relationship between the 

two of you was a bit.   
 
CC: We, we, we hardly, we, we never met.   
 
LM: No, okay.   
 
CC: We communicated by email.   
 
LM: Yeah, okay.   
 
CC: But we never met.  I mean I did attend a few meetings, where he was, as 

the Clerk he was in attendance.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But yeah, we never communicated directly.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  So, so tell me, tell me about the, the meeting then with the 

Monitoring Officer, which I think took place on the 18th of October.   
 
CC: Yeah.  I understand that, that Gareth, Gareth Owens is, is friendly, or was 

friendly, I mean Martin Wright worked in Flintshire County Council.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: The, the two would have known each other.   
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LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: In that meeting in, in Shire Hall, he did say, Gareth, that he was difficult to 

get on with, that Martin was difficult to get on with.  He was, he could, I 
know if you rub him up the wrong way, he could, you know it could go, it 
could go quite badly.   

 
LM: Yeah. 
 
CC: We talked, we, we talked about a number, a lot of things.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I’ve, in his, in his statement he says that I’m, I asked him to, to not speak to 

Martin ‘til after but that’s not the case.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I would have expected him to, after meeting with myself, I would have 

expected him to go, to go and talk to Martin, again I can’t tell the Legal 
Governance Officer for Flintshire County Council what to do.   

 
LM: No. 
 
CC: Or how to go about things.  And to say that, my comment to him was ‘Well 

leave it ‘til after the meeting’, quite wrong.   
 
LM: Okay.  We’ll, we’ll explore that a bit more then, okay.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: So, so the meeting with the Monitoring Officer, did you ask for that?   
 
CC: I, I’m almost, yeah I think I did, yeah.   
 
LM:  Okay.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM And, and why did you ask for that?   
 
CC: I was concerned with the way things were going.   
 
LM: With, about?   
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CC: Things, everything, yeah, I mean to me, the, the Council had its 
challenges.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I, I wanted to speak to the Legal Officer.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: To, to find out where, you know, the, the, you know, the, the real bottom 

line was.   
 
LM: Okay.    
 
CC: And where we were going with it.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Because we’d had this email exchange.  I mean, I’m the fourth Councillor 

that’s, Martin Wright has taken to the Office of the Ombudsman.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Why he would do that, I, I really don’t know but.   
 
LM: Yeah, okay.  No, that, that’s fine.  So, you asked for the meeting? 
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: And you asked for the meeting because you had concerns about, as you 

say, the way things were going.  So, are you talking about the way things 
were in the Council?  Or the contact with the Clerk or Mr Wright or?  Did 
you, did you want to talk about those things or?   

 
CC: It’s a long, long time ago.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: When I met, when I met Gareth.  We talked about various things.   
 
LM: Yeah.    
 
CC: We talked about the role; well we talked about the council.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: The challenges that were in the council, that still are.   
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LM: Yeah.  Yeah.   
 
CC: At the time, and still are.  We talked about Martin.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: How he could be.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And that was, just a general conversation really.     
 
LM: Okay, that’s fine.  Well let’s, let’s look at the Monitoring Officer’s 

statements.  So, that’s Appendix 11, that’s page 302.   
 
CC: Appendix 11.   
 
LM: I’ve got that down as Appendix 11 and it should be page 302.   
 
CC: 302.   
 
LM: 302.  I think you might have that there.  That should be that one there.   
 
CC: I mean there’s these statements and then there’s the one at the front.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Yeah.  And it’s the one at the front that I’ve annotated.  I’ve also done 

annotations on this one.   
 
LM: No, that’s.   
 
CC: So we, we may need to, we may need to go back.   
 
LM: Yeah, that’s fine.  That’s, that, that’s absolutely fine.  So, let’s talk about, 

let’s talk about this statement then, okay.  So, yeah, he’s confirming that 
you had the meeting and that you’d asked for the meeting.  And he’s 
saying it was to discuss an exchange of correspondence that you’d had 
with Mr Wright, okay, which had, over the summer, which had escalated 
into a conflict, okay.  And he’s saying, we talked about that and the ways 
both he and Mr Wright could have de-escalated the issue.  Does that 
sound familiar to you?  Is that correct?   

 
CC: Yeah.   
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LM: Yeah, yeah okay.  And he was hoping that you’d be able to resolve the 
dispute.  And he’s saying, ‘When he said, when I suggested to Councillor 
Cordery that I should ring Mr Wright to have a chat with him about it, 
Councillor Cordery said to wait until after a forthcoming Town Council 
meeting on Wednesday 20th of October’.  So, does that ring a bell?   

 
CC: I, as I said before, in his statements, it quite clearly says that.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But I do not recall.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Saying that.   
 
LM: Okay.  Do you remember talking about the meeting that the Town Council 

was going to be having?   
 
CC: We, we broadly touched on the meeting and its, its need for confidentiality.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And that was, that was all.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, he, he says, so, he, he, you explained that the meeting had 

been called following the concerns about the cancellation of a Fireworks 
display; Mr Wright’s involvement as the Town Clerk and the way the matter 
had been handled, because I think you mentioned there’d been use in, 
there’d been use of this phrase ‘keyboard warriors’ which is what, you 
know, and sort of predicated a lot of concern amongst the residents etc.  
So, there was going to be a meeting to talk about the cancellation, is that 
right?  Do I understand that right?   

 
CC: That’s, that’s, yeah.   
 
LM: Yeah, yeah, okay.  So, okay, so, so Mr Owens is saying ‘Whilst I cannot 

recall exactly what Councillor Cordery said about the reasons for the 
meeting, as in, the Town Council meeting that was going to happen.  I do 
recall he talked about criticism of Mr Wright and his actions and from his 
comments, I could see the potential that the matter had for criticism of Mr 
Wright as the then Clerk.  And as I was aware that the Town Council’s 
Standing Orders state that matters relating to personal issues need to be 
discussed in a closed session and in confidence, I was concerned that the 
meeting had the potential to go wrong and to single out the employee in 
public’.  So, he said, the meeting that you had together actually lasted 
longer than he’d anticipated and he talked to you at great length about the 
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Town Council meeting along with matters concerning the law and 
employee rights and the need to deal with employee matters in confidence.  
And the Town Council’s Standing Orders with regard to this, the 
importance of using proper processes and treating employees fairly.  And 
the risk to the Council of not doing so, which, which he is saying, you 
appeared to acknowledge and understand.  Does that ring a bell with you, 
those topics? 

 
CC: Yeah.  So there was reference to potential disciplinary action against Mr 

Wright.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: For what had been said.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: That’s for the Council to decide, not for me.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I, we, we had a few words.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But as I’ve said, we, it’s not for me to, to raise any comments on that, it’s 

for the full Council.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: To decide.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, do you think that’s an accurate reflection of what you talked 

about together?   
 
CC: Yeah, I mean, if we look at this Witness statement and we go to paragraph 

4.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Of the Witness statement, it mentions email communications which 

escalated into a conflict.   
 
LM Mhm.   
 
CC: Those are his words, not mine.   
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LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I didn’t see any kind of conflict.   
 
LM: Okay.  Yeah.   
 
CC: I’ve not, as I’ve said before, all my communication with Mr Wright was by 

email.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I, I didn’t see any kind of, I mean it’s an emotive word, conflict.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: It means a lot more than what’s on paper.   
 
LM: Mm.  Yeah.   
 
CC: It’s quite a strong word.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And I would object to that.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Because that’s not the way.   
 
LM: So, I think you said earlier yourself, didn’t you, you know, in, in terms of 

your com, email communications with Mr Wright, that, and the way you 
deal with things, you could be challenging, is that a fair thing to say, in 
those email communications with him?   

 
CC: That they, yeah, that they were, that they could be seen as assertive.   
 
LM: Yeah, assertive, yeah.   
 
CC: Assertive but you can write an assertive letter every day.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I was not in any way abusive.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: I was not manipulative.   
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LM: No.   
 
CC: And I certainly was, I didn’t harass or anything in those emails.   
 
LM: No, okay.   
 
CC: But when the, the Monitoring Officer that sent me, that’s put me in this 

position, talked about escalated conflict, I think that’s quite, I don’t agree 
with it.   

 
LM: Okay.  No, no.  Okay.   
 
CC: It’s quite emotive wording.   
 
LM: Yeah.  Yeah, yeah, okay.  Yeah, okay.  But you had asked for that meeting 

with the Monitoring Officer?   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Because of your concerns about the way things were going with the 

Council?   
 
CC: Yeah, I thought it was the best, the, the best way forward.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: There’s, as, as we move on we will, we may see a different picture.   
 
LM: Yes, sure.  Okay.  So, he’s saying that he, he was, he said to you that, that 

hopefully you were now clear how the meeting should go, on the 20th of 
October.  So, you’ve had a talk about this issue with Mr Wright and what 
he’d said and the pending meeting, Council meeting.  So what, did you 
have an understanding of, of the way you should talk about Mr Wright at 
that meeting?   

 
CC: I, I left that meeting with the, with the clear impression that as a Councillor, 

I could ask a question.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And that was, that was the position I left that meeting in.   
 
LM: Yeah.  Okay.  Okay.  And did, did you, did you talk to the Monitoring 

Officer then about the sort of things that you might say, at the meeting, 
Council meeting?   
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CC: No, because there was, there was nothing that I had, at that point, there 
was, there was nothing that I had to say.   

 
LM: No.   
 
CC:  I mean I; my view is to approach the meeting and see, see how it moves 

forward.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  Alright then.  Alright, so, okay, just bear with me a second.  

So, okay if we look at paragraph 7 then, he’s saying that he was hoping 
that you were now clear on how the meeting should go, the Council 
meeting on the 20th of October.  And he suggested that he should call Mr 
Wright there and then, to sort out the issues that had happened over the 
summer as he was sure that you could clear the matters up.  But you 
remained adamant and said two or three times that he should wait to 
speak to Mr Wright until after the 20th of October.   

 
CC: I, I do not recall that.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  Okay.  Okay.   
 
CC: But, but again, in this paragraph, paragraph 7, the Monitoring Officer says 

‘However, his determination that I should wait struck me as odd’.  I mean 
he’s making assumptions all the time, you know, why would he, why would 
he put that into print?  It’s.   

 
LM: Do you recall, do you, you’re saying you don’t recall saying, asking him to 

wait.   
 
CC: Well but.   
 
LM: ‘Til after the meeting.   
 
CC: Yeah, but, but the Monitoring Officer, he’s making the statement there, 

based on assumption.  It’s, it’s, it shouldn’t be in there.   
 
LM: No.  Do you recall him saying that he should call Mr Wright there and 

then? 
 
CC: No.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: I would have expected him to.  I mean I, I asked for the meeting.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
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CC: What the Monitoring Officer does after I’ve left is up to the Monitoring 
Officer.   

 
LM: Mm.    
 
CC: I cannot tell him what to do and I’ve no intention of doing that.   
 
LM: Mm.  No.   
 
CC: I went there to, to gain an understanding of, of the way forward.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And to leave it at that.   
 
LM: Yeah.  So, okay, but what you’re saying is you don’t recall that, that aspect 

of that, that meeting, okay.  Okay.  Okay.  Alright, so if we then go on to, 
so, that was the 18th of October.  So, if we then go on to the day of the 20th 
of October, okay.  So, if we go to, it’s Appendix 3 but it’s page 104.   

 
CC: Appendix 3.   
 
LM: Appendix 3 and it’s page 104.   
 
CC: 150.   
 
LM: 100, sorry, 154.  Appendix 3, page 154.  And this is, this is, it’s emails.  

You’re on page.   
 
CC: 154.   
 
LM: 154.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Yeah, great, okay.  So, if we look at that, that, it’s got Appendix L written 

above it.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Okay, there, alright.  And it’s, it’s been signed by Mr Wright and it’s dated 

Wednesday the 20th of October at 09:05.  And he’s saying, it’s been sent to 
all the Members and he’s saying, ‘In case the matter of the expression of 
‘keyboard warriors’ is brought up at the Special meeting of the Council this 
evening, I would ask you to take cognisance of the following, as to my 
email to Mr Allen and his response, copies attached’.  And he’s explaining 
why he had used that, that phrase and that he didn’t mean any disrespect 
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to anybody.  He genuinely thought it was an expression in common 
parlance.  He’d heard Members on numerous occasions use the 
expression, when referring to Facebook and other social media platforms.  
And he wasn’t a Facebook or social media platform user himself.  And he 
says ‘I would remind Members that under Standing Order 33a, staffing 
matters and employment issues may not be discussed in public session 
and as such matters may only be considered after Councillors resolve to 
remove the press and public.  Moreover it may be that a particular matter 
cannot be discussed in Council and has to be referred to the establishment 
Sub-Committee, which is responsible for Employment issues’.  Now, I think 
that went to all Councillors and, and I can see that you were copied into 
that.  Do you recall receiving that?   

 
CC: I may have received it.    
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Whether I read it, it can, I, I understand it can be seen.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Whether it’s been opened.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But I may have, but that email from, from Mr Wright.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Is an excuse.  I was asked by members of the community to raise it as an 

issue.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: What Mr Wright sends out to the Councillors, to try and excuse his 

behaviour is nothing that I can qualify.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: But as a Town Councillor, I was asked by members of the community to 

raise it.  And that’s what I attempted to do.   
 
LM: Okay.  That’s, that’s, that, that’s fine.  But you don’t, you don’t recollect 

whether you received, you read that, that morning?   
 
CC: If, if, it’s, it’s a long time ago.   
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LM: Yes, yeah.   
 
CC: I may, I may not have done.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: But I also have a duty to the people that elected me.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And I cannot ignore that.   
 
LM: No, okay.   
 
CC: And that’s what I’ve tried to do.   
 
LM: Okay, that’s fine, okay.  Okay.  Okay, so tell me a little bit about the 

meeting then.  What happened from, in your own words, what happened?   
 
CC: The, this is the meeting where I was alleged to identify him in person?   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Yeah.  The, the meeting commenced.  I couldn’t get a video picture.  I was 

using a cam, a laptop, Dell, that was supplied by Buckley Town Council 
and supplied by his son.   

 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Martin Wright’s son, who was the IT provider.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: When I logged on to the meeting through Zoom, I couldn’t get a picture.  I, 

I’ve put two, two work cards in for it, and it’s still not working now.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: But in, in Mr Wright’s statements, he tries to, well he tries to draw inference 

that something sinister is going on because my screen was black.  Always, 
it was, it was that way, because the video application wasn’t working so I 
couldn’t get a picture.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: So, I was on sound only.   
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LM: Okay.   
 
CC: The, the meeting opened.  It was clear that Councillor Vivienne Blondek, 

who was Chairperson at that meeting, was not going to talk about things 
that affected the community.  That was obvious.  As a Councillor, I have a 
right to raise a Point of Order, which I did.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: It was ignored.  
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: I raised the Point of Order again and it was ignored.  And I think on the 

third time, I was allowed to speak.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 

CC: I spoke about [Unclear 44:16] then.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC:  As I said, but at no, at no point in my dialogue, in my Point of Order, did I 

mention Mr Wright by name.   
 
LM: Mhm.   
 
CC: By gender, by job title or definition.  
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: And later on, if, if I can show you those.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: That will confirm what I’ve said.   
 
LM: Mhm.   
 
CC: Because it was confirmed at a full Council meeting.  And full Council 

accepted the way that it was said.   
 
LM: So, I, sorry, just for the benefit of the recording, you’re referring to a copy 

of, if I could just have a look at them and then I can.   
 
CC: Those are the, look, that, that was, they were voting on an amendment.   
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LM: Yes.   
 
CC: That, that was one meeting. 
 
LM: Okay.    
 
CC: And on the back is the other meeting but all, the Councillors that attended, 

some of those actually gave statements against me, but they’ve accepted, 
but they have accepted that what was alleged to have happened didn’t 
happen.   

 
LM: Okay so, what, for the benefit of the recording then, what, what Councillor 

Cordery has passed to me are Minutes of the Town Council meeting and I 
think it’s dated the 2nd of March 2022.  And it’s Minutes in which 
amendment to the draft minutes of the meeting on the 20th of October 2021 
were proposed by Councillor Cordery and seconded by Councillor Ellis and 
a resolution by the Council to agree the amendments.  Okay, I, that’s, 
that’s fine, we can talk about those in, in more depth in a minute.   

 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: And then this one is.   
 
CC: This, this goes to the nub of it really.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And what I will say at the end.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But Martin Wright got into a series of emails with the new Clerk.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: They were considered to be potentially controlling and harassing in nature.  

And the Clerk engaged legal counsel from Gamlins in Rhyl at a cost of 
£7,500.00 to the Council to defend himself against allegations from Martin 
Wright.  At the end, Martin Wright then did the same to the solicitor, a lady 
who was, who was engaged by Council so that is an example of, of Martin 
Wright’s behaviour and conduct.   

 
LM: So, so this is, okay, so these are Minutes from the 2nd of March 2022.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: And this is to do with.   
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CC: We were asked to attend a meeting regarding litigation.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: That was entered into by Buckley Town Council.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.   
 
CC: Against Mr Wright.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, okay, that, that’s, that’s fine.  It’s, it’s helpful to see those, but 

what I do want to, I do want to be clear that this, this interview is focussed 
on.   

 
CC: Yeah, yeah.   
 
LM: Things that you have done, okay.  So, that’s what I do want to concentrate 

on.  So, we will talk about these, these Minutes, the draft Minutes and the 
agreed Minutes and what was said in them, okay.  And you’ve explained a 
little bit about what happened at the start of the meeting and your 
interjection and your calling for a Point of Order, okay.  So, if we look at 
the, the draft Minutes.  Those are on, they’re Appendix 3, page 158.  And 
I’ve also got agreed Minutes, which are page 299.  And I think they, they 
mirror this, yes.   

 
CC: They’re those, yeah.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, we’ll look at those, those, the differences within those Minutes.  

So, I’ll read out what the draft Minutes say first.  And then we’ll read out 
what the agreed Minutes say, okay.  So, if you bear with me, I’m going to 
go to page 158.  Okay.  Okay, right so okay, we’re looking at the draft 
Minutes then, page 158, you’ve got a copy of that in front of you.  
Excellent, okay.  So, these are draft Minutes for a Special Meeting at the 
Council, held via Zoom on the 20th of October 2021.  It lists all the 
Councillors that were in attendance.  And then it lists, also in attendance 
as Mr B. Wright, the Town Clerk, Mrs L. George, the Personal Assistant, 
Mrs T. J. Rhys, a Personal Assistant, Mr A.J. White, the Town Events 
Organiser and Mr D. M. Wright, the Zoom meeting administrator.  And so 
this meeting was held via Zoom.  Okay, is that your recollection?  Would 
you agree that all those people were present?   

 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Okay, that’s great.  So, right, what I’m going to do is read out what these 

draft Minutes say, so bear with me, while I read it out.  It says, ‘The Mayor 
opened the agenda item by advising that prior to this item being debated, 
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she would be reading out a statement in relation to areas of the agenda 
that would not be discussed in open session and that Standing Order 33a 
would have to be applied to exclude the press and public if those areas 
were to be discussed’.  The Mayor stated that the agenda requirements 
should be adhered to.  As the Mayor commenced to read the statement, 
Councillor Cordery shouted out ‘Point of Order’.  And then there’s brackets.  
It says ‘(Councillor Cordery’s camera was switched off, so only a black 
screen appeared and this remained the case throughout the meeting)’.  
The Mayor used, end of brackets, the Mayor used Standing Order 10Ei 
stated that she would not take his Point of Order, as she wished to 
complete her statement.  Councillor Cordery again shouted out ‘Point of 
Order’ and again the Mayor declined it.  Councillor Cordery refused to 
refrain from speaking, with the Mayor repeatedly asking him to be quiet.  
Councillor Cordery then said words to the effect ‘There’s a cover-up going 
on in the Council in an attempt to protect Members of the Council staff by 
brushing things under the carpet and creating a smokescreen thereby 
bringing the Council into disrepute’.  He then added ‘That individual I will 
say now should offer his resignation with immediate effect’.  And then 
there’s brackets (That remark was directed at the Clerk, the Council has 
only three staff, two of whom are female).  Councillor Cordery only ceased 
speaking when informed by the Mayor that he should keep talking, that 
should he keep talking, the Mayor would seek approval from the Council to 
remove him from the meeting.  No proposition was put forward on this 
matter.  No other Member spoke.  Okay, so that’s basically the gist of, of 
what the draft Minutes are saying happened, okay.  So, that, to, to a 
degree that mirrors what you say, in that you called for a Point of Order.  
Councillor Blondek was speaking.  You called for a Point of Order.  And 
then it’s, it’s what actually was said.  So, these Minutes were not actually 
approved until the 2nd of March, okay.  And this is due to amendments 
being proposed.  And were they proposed by yourself, from the outset?  
Or, because there’s quite a big gap isn’t there, between this, this.   

 
CC: Yeah, I, I spoke about the, the actual meeting.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: It was Councillor David Ellis that tabled the amendments.   
 
LM: Oh right, okay.   
 
CC: But in, in this, it says that I shouted.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: That’s, that’s not correct.   
 
LM: Okay.   
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CC: The meeting was on Zoom.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: No need to shout.   
 
LM: No, okay.   
 
CC: I really wanted to raise a Point of Order.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Which I’m entitled to do.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Now, any reasonable Chairperson, in, in the belief in openness and 

transparency, would allow that Point of Order.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But it wasn’t; it was blocked.  I went on to, to say broadly what is there, but 

when it comes down to, that individual I will say now, should offer his, I 
emphatically deny, I didn’t say that.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I, I was, I did not mention, I said it earlier, that I did not mention Mr Wright 

by name, gender, or any kind of description.  I just said, ‘that individual’.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  So, if we talk then about the, the Minutes that were 

eventually agreed.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, this is on page 299 of my bundle.  So, it should be on page 299 

with you.   
 
CC: Is it on the same appendices?   
 
LM: It’s going to be Appendix 10, page 299.   
 
CC: 219?    
 
LM: 299.   
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CC: Okay.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Okay, I’ve got it.   
 
LM:  Yeah, you’ve got them, okay.  Okay, great.  Okay, so we’re talking about 

the Minutes that have been agreed, of the Special meeting.  And that’s, 
that’s, that’s mirrored in this, in this document that you’ve also put on the 
table.  So, if I read out what’s, what’s, what it says in the Minutes as they 
were proposed and then seconded and then resolved.  So, it says ‘The 
Mayor opened the agenda item by advising that prior to this item being 
debated, she would be reading out a statement in relation to the areas of 
the agenda that would not be discussed in open session.  And that 
Standing Order 33a would have to be applied to exclude the press and 
public if those areas were to be discussed’.  The Mayor stated that the 
agenda requirement should be adhered to.  As the Mayor commenced to 
read the statement, Councillor C. Cordery called for a Point of Order.  The 
Mayor, using standing order 10Ei stated that she would not take his Point 
of Order as she wished to complete her statement.  Councillor Cordery 
again called for Point of Order and again the Mayor declined it.  Councillor 
Cordery refused to refrain from speaking with the Mayor repeatedly asking 
him to be quiet.  Councillor Cordery then said words to the effect ‘There’s a 
cover-up going on in the Council, in an attempt to protect Members of the 
Council’s staff by brushing things under the carpet and creating a 
smokescreen thereby bringing the Council into disrepute’.  He then added 
‘That individual, I will say now, should offer their resignation with 
immediate effect’.  Councillor Cordery only ceased speaking when 
informed by the Mayor that he, should he keep talking, the Mayor would 
seek approval from the Council to remove him from the meeting’.  No 
proposition was put forward on this matter.  No other Member spoke.  So, 
essentially these, these draft, the draft Minutes and the agreed Minutes are 
the same, up to the point where actually, we’re talking about what is said.   

 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: And there’s a distinction between the draft Minutes saying that you said, ‘a 

Member, that individual should offer his resignation’ and that the agreed 
Minutes say, ‘that individual, I will say now, should offer their resignation’.  
Okay.   

 
CC: I never referred to Martin Wright by name, by gender or any definition in 

that, in that meeting.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 

425 471 



 
 
Councillors Name: Charles Cordery 

Case Reference:  
Page 38 of 63 

 

CC: Now, as, as a new Councillor, that was probably one of the first or second 
meetings I’d attended.   

 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I’d spoken at length to the community who were, they were quite angry.   
 
LM: Yeah, yeah.  
 
CC: And these were people that had voted for me.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: They were quite angry.  I tried to raise a Point of Order.  Now, as a new 

Councillor, I felt that Point of Order wasn’t being recognised and I was 
being taken away from it.   

 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And that is why I carried on.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, where it’s saying, ‘You called for a Point of Order’ were you just 

calling ‘Point of Order’?  Do they know what you were going to say?  How 
did that work?   

 
CC: No, they, I don’t think anybody knew at the time what, what I was going to 

say.  
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: It was, it was strictly what I felt needed to be said.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I mean.   
 
LM: What were you going to say?   
 
CC: In essence, I wanted to explore why the community had been insulted.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: Had been marginalised.   
 
LM: Mhm.   
 
CC: And left to feel as if they don’t matter.   
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LM: Mhm.  When you say ‘insulted’ what do you mean?   
 
CC: Well the word ‘keyboard warrior’.   
 
LM: Okay, so you wanted to talk about that.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I mean, let’s not forget, as, as a Councillor, I am his employer.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I felt it needed to be explored.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: The community felt that it needed to be explored and after all, I’m just an 

extension of them.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC It, it’s not, it’s not my ideas that go there, it’s the community’s viewpoint 

that I have to express and as I say, as a relatively new Councillor.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: I tried to do that.   
 
LM: Yeah.  So, when, when she referred to Standing Order 33A what do you 

think that meant?   
 
CC: It didn’t mean anything to me, no.   
 
LM: It didn’t mean anything to you.   
 
CC: No.  Didn’t have a clue.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: No.  Had I been inducted fully. 
 
LM: Yeah.   
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CC: As I should have been, then I probably would have had recognition of it, 
but when somebody says to me ‘Standing Order 33A.206’.   

 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: It goes in one ear and goes out the other.   
 
LM: Yeah.  Okay, okay.  Okay, so okay then, I mean you, you’re talking about 

the Mayor had opened the meeting, she’d referred to Standing Order 33A.  
You had a Point of Order that you wanted to, to express.  In doing that, 
were you considering what the Mayor had said to you at the meeting on 
the 18th?   

 
CC: And what did the Mayor say to me on the 18th?   
 
LM: When you talked about the issues with the Clerk and disciplinary matters 

and?   
 
MP: Is it what the Monitoring Officer said.   
 
LM: Sorry, the, the Monitoring Officer, yeah, the Monitoring Officer.   
 
CC: Oh, okay.  What, the, the, if you look at it in, in two ways, the Monitoring 

Officer has a role to play.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: So do I.  I cannot tell him what to do. 
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: Had I been a little more experienced in matters, then perhaps it, it may 

have been a bit easier but as a relatively new Councillor, with a 
commitment that I gave on the doorstep to people, when I canvassed, to 
be open, honest and transparent, when I made that commitment and 
people vote for you on that commitment, then I find it difficult to go back on 
that.   

 
LM: Mm.  Mm.   
 
CC: It’s difficult, difficult for me to do that.  And when, when the community 

come to me, after they’ve given me their vote, and they want me to raise 
an issue, then you’re caught between, you’re caught between, I, I hadn’t 
been elected all that long.   

 
LM: Mm.   
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CC: For me to go back to them and say ‘Well’.   
 
LM: So, the residents came to you, that wanted you to raise this issue? 
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Was it specifically about the words that were used or the person that had 

said them? 
 
CC: It was about the words that were used.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: On, on Facebook really.  I mean it, it caused a lot of anger and offence.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: In the town and that can’t be understated.    
 
LM: And was the understanding that it was the former Clerk who had used 

those words, from the residents, do you know?   
 
CC: Well they, they, I think they knew.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: But some, the, I don’t think it became personalised.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: But it was more of ‘Well this has been said’.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: We, we need, we need something done about it.   
 
LM: Did you think that there was a danger that you might stray into areas of 

criticising staff in a public meeting?   
 
CC: Louise, it, it didn’t enter.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I was, as a relatively new Councillor, I was attempting to do what the 

people that had voted for me asked me to do.   
 
LM: Okay, yeah.   
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CC: Whether it would, whether it would stray into the realms of that.   
 
LM: Yeah.  
 
CC: I don’t know.   
 
LM: Okay.  Alright, okay.  So when, when you said, okay so, obviously you’ve, 

you’ve made these Points of Order and the Mayor has declined them.  But 
the Minutes are saying you refused to refrain from speaking and the Mayor 
was repeatedly asking you to be quiet.  And that you then said words to 
the effect ‘There’s a cover-up going on in the Council, in an attempt to 
protect members of the Council staff by brushing things under the carpet 
and creating a smokescreen, thereby bringing the Council into disrepute’.  
So, what did you mean when you said that?   

 
CC: Well, that there was, there, there was, when you, when you look at that, 

somebody’s obviously being, being protected.   
 
LM: Who did you think was being protected?   
 
CC: Well, the person that made the comments.   
 
LM: So, you, do you mean the Clerk, Mr Wright?   
 
CC: Well, it’s the person that made the comment.  Whether the public out there 

knew that.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But to me, if you insult the community; if you disregard the community in 

that way and make comments in that way, then you know, you should 
leave, you should leave your position.  I mean you’re not acting in 
anyone’s best, best interests if you do that.  I mean to, the, the Town Clerk 
is, is a position which people look up to.   

 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And that was sadly, well, it was, it was, that became, that became 

jaundiced because of the comments.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Erm.   
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LM: Yeah.  So, when you say they protect members of the Council, there’s a 
cover-up going on, in an attempt to protect members of the Council staff, 
you mean.   

 
CC: Yeah, I mean that, that’s the way it appeared to me at the time.   
 
LM: You mean that was, were you referring, were you, did, did you mean Mr 

Wright then, when you were referring to council staff?   
 
CC: Well I didn’t, I mean it’s all directed at Mr Wright, but never, at no point did 

I mention Mr Wright by name.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: By gender or anything else.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, where it goes on to say, ‘that individual, I will say now, should 

offer their resignation with immediate effect’.   
 
CC: That could have been anybody.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: That could have been anybody.   
 
LM: Okay, so how do you think other people in the meeting would have taken 

what you said?   
 
CC: Well, I, I don’t know.  Perhaps, you know, you should ask them really.  But 

I, I really don’t know.     
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  Would you think it was reasonable, because obviously we’ve 

got Witness statements from other people.  And some people felt that that 
was directed at Mr Wright.   

 
CC: Well.   
 
LM: Do you think that’s, that could have been a reasonable interpretation of 

what you said?   
 
CC: They, they will draw their own conclusions from that.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But there, there, there is, we’ll, we’ll, we’ll come to it at the end.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
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CC: But there is, there is a different aspect to this and it’s wholly political.   
 
LM: Okay.  Yeah, okay.  Okay.  Okay.  Alright then.  So, okay, I appreciate you 

were all on Zoom.  You say your camera wasn’t working.  Does that mean 
you couldn’t see the, the other people in the meeting?   

 
CC: I don’t think they could see me.   
 
LM: Could you see them?    
 
CC: The screen wasn’t blank.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: The whole screen wasn’t blank.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But I wasn’t aware that they couldn’t see me.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: Erm.   
 
LM: Could you see how people responded to what you said?   
 
CC: Erm it was, it was very, not really.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: No.   
 
LM: Okay.  So you couldn’t see the impact of what you said?   
 
CC: No.   
 
LM: Do you think though that by what you said, I appreciate that what you’re 

saying is that you didn’t refer to anybody by name, or gender.  But that, 
you know, obviously there were several members of staff there; people 
who worked for the Council.  They could have interpreted that as directed 
at them.   

 
CC: Well, it, it could have been directed at any one of those people that were in 

the meeting really.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay, okay, alright.  Okay, so what happened after the meeting?   
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CC: What happened? 
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Switched the laptop off.   
 
LM: Yeah.  Was there any, did you get any comeback from anybody about 

what you’d said or did you reflect on what you’d said?   
 
CC: No, no.  No, excuse me.  I, I always reflect, I wish that the meeting had 

been, I mean it was on Zoom.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I wish it had been taped.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: And that would have solved everybody’s, unfortunately it isn’t. 
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: But erm the meeting closed.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I, I switched the laptop off.   
 
LM: Okay.    
 
CC: And, and that was it.   
 
LM: Yeah.  Okay.  And, and you know, was there, I think the, if we go to page 

158, I think there was a statement from the Mayor after that.   
 
CC: On, on the same Appendix?   
 
LM: It’s page 158.   
 
CC: And it’s the.   
 
LM: Let’s have a quick look which Appendices that’s going to be, it’s going to 

be 3, isn’t it, yeah.   
 
CC: So it’s not Appendix 10?  I think it’s, yes, it’s Appendix 10, Appendices 10.   
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LM: Er no, sorry, not, I’m talking about, [inaudible 1:07:43] page 158.  I thought 
from there, statement from Mayor, yeah, sorry.  Right, if we go to 1, page 
16, 161.   

 
CC: On Appendix.   
 
LM: 3.   
 
CC: Appendix 3.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: 131?   
 
LM: 13 ...  
 
CC: 161.   
 
LM: 161.  
 
CC: 161.   
 
LM: Appendix 3.  Okay, so if we look at erm, okay, so there’s a statement by 

the Mayor, the, the Town Mayor of Buckley Town Council, okay.  And on 
this, this page, 160, next to it, is an email.  She’s obviously based the email 
on this statement, which was sent out to Councillors on the 21st of October 
at 11:21.  So, this is the day after the meeting.  And it’s referring to the 
words that were used as in ‘keyboard warriors’ and you know, that the 
Clerk didn’t intend to cause offence with the words and he didn’t believe 
them to be derogatory.  Do you remember receiving that email?   

 
CC: I may have received it.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: I may have received it, but whether I’ve, whether I’ve read it is er.   
 
LM: Do you have any comment about what she’s said in that at all?   
 
CC: Well, what she’s said is, is reiterating what the Town Clerk had said.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: She does say that its, I, together with the Clerk and erm, at no time, I mean 

was that sent out to the general public? 
 
LM: Er I don’t, I think it looks like it’s been sent to Councillors to me.   
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CC: Okay well, that, that’s, that really, I mean there’s no mention of an apology 

in there, for the words that were spoken.  That really should have gone 
onto the Council website and should have been given to the, the 
community.  But it didn’t.   

 
LM: No.   
 
CC: It, it’s, it’s the Mayor, along with the Town Clerk trying to make an excuse 

over what’s been said.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: At no point in there, they, they say ‘regretted’.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: But at no point do they mention an apology to the community.    
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: Which is what should have happened.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And it didn’t.   
 
LM: Okay.  And then I think following that, the Clerk then was away from work 

because he went, he went sick following the meeting.   
 
CC: Well erm, I, it may be left, maybe better left to the end.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: But the, earlier on, I, I did say that things had been exacerbated out of all 

proportion.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And they were exacerbated out of all proportion for a reason.  Now, that 

reason will become evident.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: I, I hope at least, but earlier in, in, in his statement he talks about, he talks 

to Gareth, Gareth Owens, Legal Officer, about the way he’s going to leave 
the Council by constructive dismissal.  Now, this is an engineered dispute, 
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make no mistake about it, it’s an engineered dispute.  Martin Wright 
attempted to use that meeting and the way that it was described, this is the 
way that it had, the way he describes it isn’t the way that it happened.  But 
he attempted to use that as a springboard to raise a claim against Buckley 
Town Council so they would make settlement, they would enter into a 
settlement agreement with him, to leave the, you know, his employment.   

 
LM: Right.  
 
CC: When the Town Council didn’t acquiesce to that, things took a turn for the 

worse, as fully explained in that.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: Now, when that failed, and it failed because the Locum Clerk knew what 

was going on.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And he engaged legal counsel from Gamlins in Rhyl to de, to defend the 

Council.   
 
LM: Mm.  Do you think then that the things that you said in the meeting, as 

agreed in the final, you know, the, the resolved Minutes, opened a door for 
him to do that?   

 
CC: No.  No.  I was a relatively new Councillor.  I was asked by the community 

to raise an issue.  That’s what I’ve done.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: If he’s used that, if he’s used that as a springboard, then I can’t qualify that.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: It may have done; it may not have done.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: But there is no doubt and anybody that’s associated.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: With Buckley Town Council, unless you’re a member of a certain political 

faction, would agree that that’s what he intended to do.   
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LM: And, thinking, you know, obviously with reflection on what the, the 
Monitoring Officer had said to you in the meeting about not talking about 
employment matters, but that you know, in, you refer to somebody should, 
you know.   

 
CC: But was it, as, as ostensibly I’m the employer, as a Councillor.  Now, I 

don’t, I don’t see it as, it’s a matter of conscience.  It’s not the employment 
matter.  We didn’t actually say to him ‘You should resign’ as, as a group, 
as an employer.  It’s, it’s a matter for conscience, for his conscience to 
decide what he does.   

 
LM: But do you think, you know, calling for a member of staff’s resig-, 

resignation at a public meeting, you know. 
 
CC: You, you have to put it into context, Louise.  I mean, as a relatively new 

Councillor, I was asked by the community to raise it as an issue.  That 
individual, when it’s raised should go away and examine their own 
conscience and decide what’s best for the Town Council.  And 
unfortunately he didn’t.  Now, any honest or reasonable person would have 
done that.   

 
LM: But do you think, do you think what you said went against the advice of the 

Monitoring Officer?   
 
CC: Not, not in any great detail no.  The, when I left that room with the 

Monitoring Officer, it was quite open.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: No.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay, that’s fine.  Alright then.  So, obviously and I think you’ve got 

things that you, you want to, to say as well at the end.  And you’ve made 
comments as we’ve done the investigation.   I mean you’ve, you’ve, I’m 
sure you will expand on these.  So, if we go to Appendix 7, page 257.  
Appendix 7, page 257.   

 
CC: 257?   
 
LM: 257, yeah.   
 
CC: On Appendix 7.   
 
LM: It’s Appendix 7.   
 
CC: I don’t have 257.  257? 
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LM: 257.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: That’s, that looks right.  Yeah, that looks right, okay.  So, I think this is an 

email that you have sent to me, early on in the stage of the investigation.  
And I think in this, in this email, you’ve referred to the complaint being 
vexatious and without merit or foundation, designed by those that wish to 
indulge in ‘party politics’ and deviousness.  So, yeah, do you want to just 
explain to me what, what that’s about, what you?   

 
CC: Okay.  I mean we need to go back to the beginning.  I mean I; I was a 

member of a political party.  Am I liberty to say which party?   
 
LM: Okay, so you’re.   
 
CC: Oh, okay, I was, I was a member of the Labour party.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Erm, always, from, from growing up with foster-parents.  I, I’ve always 

been on the side of the underdog and I’ve always strove, strived to make 
things better for people, even growing up as a kid.  Join, joined the Labour 
party, like my foster-dad.  Followed in his footsteps as a Trade Unionist.  
Became involved in politics at the request of Councillor Vivienne Blondek, 
when I was a member of the Labour party.  I stood for election in a Bye-, 
in, the first Bye-election I stood on Mountain Ward in Buckley against a 
Conservative.  At the time, Jeremy Corbyn was Leader of the Labour Party 
and that presented its own problems on the doorstep.  A seat that I should 
have won, I didn’t; the Conservative won, won the seat.  I was dropped like 
a stone.  Now, Vivienne Blondek was a mentor, she canvassed for me.  
She encouraged me to stand as, as a Councillor, for election.  When I lost 
that election, I was dropped like a stone.  The, the person that won it was a 
Conservative.  The, the Labour Party, with Vivienne Blondek at the head, 
actively coerced that person to then come across to join Labour.  And now 
he's won an election.  People have given him their votes.  The one thing 
you can give to somebody is, is your vote and your belief in, in what you’re 
going to try and do.  And that’s what they did and a Conservative got 
elected.  Vivienne Blondek and the rest of the Labour Party in Buckley then 
worked on him to move across to the Labour, the Labour group.  Now, for 
me, I don’t see how you can be a capitalist one minute and a socialist the 
next.  That’s deception to me.  And you’ve gone along, you’ve knocked on 
the doorsteps of hundreds of people and you’ve said ‘I’m a Conservative.  
Here's my pitch.  Vote for me’.  Which they did and he won the seat.  And 
then he left to join Labour.  

 
LM: Mm.    
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CC: Well I had a disagreement and I left the Labour party.  Some time again, I 

was asked if I wanted to stand as an Independent, which, which I did.  I 
stood against Plaid Cymru and, no disrespect to Plaid, but I stood against 
them and the local Labour candidate.  Now, prior to that taking place, 
Vivienne Blondek attempted to influence others to get me to stand down as 
a candidate.  Now, I made a complaint to the Ombudsman’s office.  It was, 
it was investigated and I think it came across as if she could say and do 
whatever she wanted.  That was the interpretation I made of it.  But 
whatever she tried to do, failed.  The election took place.  The, the week 
before the election, the, the Bye-election took place, the First Minister of 
Wales appeared in Buckley.  The Member of the Welsh Assembly, the 
local lad.  The Labour candidate and everybody else that came 
canvassing.  The election took place and I beat him.  And I beat him quite, 
I had a good share of the vote.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And they, they did not like it.  
 
LM: Okay.  Okay, so.   
 
CC: But.   
 
LM: Go on.   
 
CC: In, in the elections in May, I beat, you know, I beat them again.  So, 

they’ve, the, the, there are Members of the Labour party who are Town 
Councillors, most of them have given statements against me.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: It’s a political move. 
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: They’ve, they’ve allied themselves with what’s going on, to try to remove 

me as a democratically elected Councillor.  What they cannot do 
democratically at the ballot box, they’re attempting to do undemocratically.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And they’re try it every, every time.   
 
LM: Okay.   
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CC: These people, in that election, and it has to be said, in that election, the 
leaflets they put out against one individual, an Independent Councillor, 
were libellous and defamatory.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: It went to the Monitoring Officer, nothing.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: There was another Labour Councillor who was the administrator of a 

Facebook group that alleged everything, it was libellous, defamatory, 
anything, it was vexatious, they were without foundation.  Anything that 
you want to call was, it was in, it was on the Facebook.  That went to the 
Mon, there were complaints after complaints going to the Monitoring 
Officer.  And he did nothing.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: Yet I find myself in this position, for trying to raise a Point of Order.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay, no that’s, that, that’s fair enough, okay.  I’m getting to the end 

of my questions now, so I just wanted to, to clarify something about, about 
the erm, the, the, the Minutes that were, obviously the meeting happened 
on the 20th of October.  And the draft Minutes were made.  And then they 
were finally agreed in March 2022.  So, there’s quite a big gap, isn’t there, 
between the meeting and the draft Minutes and the finalised Minutes.  I 
just wondered whether there was any specific reason for the, the big gap 
before they were approved.  Do you know?   

 
CC: I, I don’t really, the, the Council wasn’t sitting on, at the time, I don’t think, 

because of Covid, I don’t think it was sitting on a regular basis.   
 
LM: Oh, okay.   
 
CC: But just to go back on what I spoke about earlier, Vivienne Blondek, as 

Mayor for Buckley Town Council was asked on four occasions by six 
Councillors to have a meeting about what had, and it didn’t happen.  She 
refused and then she put a statement in against me.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: So, I, I think, I think there’s some correlation there.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  Alright then, okay.  So, I just need to clarify then, when you 

had that meeting with the Monitoring Officer on the 18th of October and you 
knew that this meeting with the Town Council was pending on the 20th.  
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Had you formed an intention to say what you said, at that meeting, 
beforehand?   

 
CC: No.  No.  No.   
 
LM: No?   
 
CC: No, I, I spoke to the Monitoring Officer.  The way things were moving 

forward, it was a general discussion.  I’m surprised about what he’s put, 
what he’s put in his statements.  But my, I didn’t form any kind of, any kind 
of rationale of what I was going to speak about.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: Erm, [unclear 1:23:30].   
 
LM: Okay.  But was, was it motivated by any of the previous correspondence 

that, you know, the challenges that you’d had with Mr Wright?  
 
CC: No, no, it wasn’t a challenge, it was exchange of, I mean if, if the word, if it 

was a challenge, then they, they surely must be his words.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Because of an exchange of emails.   
 
LM: Yeah.  Was it motivated by that exchange then?   
 
CC: No, no, no, not at all.  I mean everything is, it, it can be construed as, as 

difference, it’s how you see it.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: At the time.  I mean my main concern as a newly-elected Town Councillor 

to people that had given me their vote.  I mean I; I canvassed on the 
doorstep on openness and on transparency.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And people gave their, people gave me their vote on that basis.  Well, so 

when they come to you, or they come to me and say, ‘We’d like this 
raised’.   

 
LM: Yeah.  Mm.   
 
CC: What, do I turn round and say, ‘I’m not going to do it’.   
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LM: Mm.  Okay.  Okay.  I think you’ve made that clear.  I’ve, I’ve only got a 
couple more things to ask.  I just want to check whether there’s anything 
you wanted to ask Matt?   Then I’ll, I’ll go through my final bit.   

 
MP I think the only thing I might want to question; I think you’re probably going 

to cover in the next section.   
 
LM: Okay.  
 
MP: So  
 
LM: I’ll do that first then shall I, then if there’s anything.   
 
MP: Yeah, yeah.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, everything we’ve talked about today, I really appreciate your, 

your openness about that.  Is there, if you, on reflection on the whole 
event, is there anything you would have done differently about what 
happened?   

 
CC: Perhaps erm, it’s, it’s a really, it’s a, it’s a really difficult question.  I mean 

there’s, there’s people there you talk to, people you can’t.  Who do you 
seek advice from, if they don’t want to give it?  It’s, it’s, it’s difficult.  Would I 
have done anything better?  Who knows.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: I was a relatively new Councillor.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And I’d been asked to ask, asked to raise an issue.  We go back to the 

question of training, there was really none.  And, and the, the Code of 
Conduct.  I mean that was never explained to me.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: It was given to me as ‘bed-time reading’.  Now, you can open up and read 

it yourself, but it means, it means very, very little, you need somebody to 
sit with you, on a properly structured Induction course, to talk it through.  
And then you can have a one-to-one conversation about the whole thing.  
And that never happened.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And it was, it’s unfortunate and it’s, and it’s disappointing.    
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LM: Do you think that what you said or did in the meeting was ...  
 
CC: Sorry?   
 
LM: Do you think that what you said in the meeting was inappropriate or?   
 
CC: Well, as, as a relatively, I keep going back to that, as, as a relatively, I 

mean, it’s, it’s a totally different world to anything I’d experienced before.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: You can say you’ve been a Trade Union Rep for.   
 
LM: Mm.  
 
CC: But, but this is more, it’s, it’s, it’s more functionalised, it’s, it’s more driven 

by, by rules and regulations.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: I, I, I really don’t.  Have I offended anybody?  Have I been abusive?  Have 

I shouted, have I screamed?  Have I harassed anybody?  No.  I was 
merely trying to raise a point that was of interest to the community.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: And that’s all I was trying to do.   
 
LM: Okay.  So, do you consider then, you may feel that you’ve already 

answered these questions.  But do you consider that your conduct could 
have failed to show respect and consideration?   

 
CC: How, how can it be construed to be that?  I’ve been, I’ve not shouted at 

anybody.  I’ve merely tried to raise a Point of Order.  I, I’ve not, I’ve not 
been offensive to anybody.  I’ve not abused anybody.    

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: I’ve not, the, the whole tenance of that allegation is, is contrary to what 

happened.   
 
LM: Okay.  I’ll go through the other bits as well then.  Okay, so it’s just useful to 

hear your, your view.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
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LM: Do you think that you could have brought the Council or your office into 
disrepute?   

 
CC: How, I, I asked a question.  I asked a question of, from the community, I, I 

was their conduit.  The community, through me, to the meeting.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: So, how can I, how can I be, how can the allegation be construed as 

bringing the Council into disrepute?   
 
LM: Okay.  
 
CC: I, I didn’t make the comments.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: I didn’t inflame the community.   
 
LM: No.   
 
CC: I was not the one that made the comments.   
 
LM: Do you think you could have created a disadvantage for others?   
 
CC: Well, well how?  How could I create a disadvantage?  I, I didn’t name 

anybody.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: I, I’ve, I’ve said it a number of times now, Louise.  I didn’t name anybody, 

by, by sex, gender, orient, I didn’t name anybody.   
 
LM: Okay.  And, and do you think you failed to regard the Monitoring Officer’s 

advice? 
 
CC: Well, when I, as I’ve said before, Louise, as I left that meeting, I believed 

that, I had nothing planned to say.   
 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: I believed it was open.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
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CC: The fact that he’s turned round and said that I implored him not to speak 
to, that’s not my role to say to the Monitoring Officer.  I can’t tell him what 
to do.   

 
LM: Mm.  Okay, so.   
 
CC: And that’s, and that is wholly wrong for him to say that.   
 
LM: Yeah.  Do you have any, anything you want to add then?   
 
MP: Yes, because you’ve spoken about your understanding obviously or the 

lack of training and your understanding of the Code at the time, or even 
Standing Orders.  So, with your understanding of the Code today, and the 
understanding of Standing Orders today, could, if there was an event, a 
similar event, where a member of staff did something that you felt was 
wrong by the community, would you go about that in the same way, with 
the knowledge you have today?   

 
CC: It would be approached in, in a different way because that training that I 

undertook, well it was by Zoom, but it was, it was quite comprehensive.  It 
went on for a long time.  I mean, experience and time is a great thing.  But 
you can only gain an experience by going through it.  That’s how you gain, 
well, obviously that’s how you gain experience.  But when, when you look 
at it, it, it probably would have, it probably would have made a difference 
but having been given the con, well a training and induction, however late 
in the day, it would have been, it would have been beneficial to have that 
right at the start.  Now, that training that, that Gareth Owens brought out 
was available to everybody; it was mandatory.  And it was available to 
everybody down to, from Town Councils to Community Councils.  So, 
probably it, it, it, it may have made a difference, yeah.    

 
LM: Mm.   
 
MP: And what, what difference do you think that would have been?   
 
CC: Sorry?   
 
MP: And what difference do you think that would have been? 
 
CC: Well, you would have still have asked a question.  But whether it could be 

asked in a different way, I don’t know.  It, it.   
 
LM: Do you want some water?   
 
MP: Yeah.   
 
CC: I get a cough, you can’t get rid of them.   
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LM: No.   
 
MP: There you are.   
 
CC: It may have been but hindsight is such a great thing.  But I didn’t have the 

benefits of that knowledge at the time.  And, and there was no attempt to 
give it me.  It was a case of ‘find your own way’ which, you know, I mean 
that kind of position is wrong, but that’s how it was.  And in the end, I got 
the training.  But I didn’t get it at the time.   

 
LM: Mm.  Okay.   
 
MP: Okay.  And Standing Order point 33A which of course, you’ve said 

previously, didn’t mean anything to you at the time.  What does that mean 
to you today?   

 
CC: Can you say that again please? 
 
MP: Sorry, the Standing Order, the one that they called out at the beginning of 

the meeting, 33A.  Yeah, sorry, go on.   
 
CC: No, no, no, carry on please.   
 
MP: Yeah, it was just to say that obviously you said previously you didn’t know 

what it meant at the time.  What, what does that mean to you today?   
 
CC: Well, it didn’t mean anything to me at the time.  I would have to; I mean 

there’s lots of things going round in my mind now.  I’d have to read it again, 
to give you a substantive answer on that.  But, right now, after having the 
training, I am cognisant of, of Standing Orders, but it’s only after being 
given the training that, you know, you, you begin to understand what, 
what’s, what they mean.   

 
MP: Yeah, okay.   
 
LM: Okay.  Alright, okay.  Well I don’t think, I don’t think we’ve got any other 

questions.  Do you have anything further you wish to add? 
 
CC: I, I, I said at the start that erm I, and I’ve got loads of things that I would like 

to mention before, before we.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: Because I think it’s, it’s quite pertinent to, to the investigation and it 

concerns the Monitoring Officer.   
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LM: Well I’d, I’d be, I’d be, I’d be, you know, mindful that this, this interview is 
about your actions towards the Clerk and that event.   

 
CC: Okay.   
 
LM: Yeah.  So, I’d be mindful about that, in the, in, in the interview.  Because 

I’d like to try and keep it to those, you know, those are the issues that 
we’re, that we’re actually looking at.   

 
CC: Okay.  Well, just.   
 
LM: But I don’t want to stop you from saying something you want to say.   
 
CC: No, to, to, to, just to keep it brief, the, the Monitoring Officer in his 

statements makes assumptions that I’ve said things that, that I haven’t.    
 
LM: Mhm.   
 
CC: They’re in there.   
 
LM: Mhm.   
 
CC: You can read them.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: The Witness statements that are supplied by Labour, Labour Councillors.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: Contradict themselves at times, on the wording.  Now, as I would suggest 

strikes everything out that they’ve said.   
 
LM: Okay, so just for the benefit of the recording, when you’re saying that, 

you’re referring to the Agreed Minutes.   
 
CC: Yeah.   
 
LM: Yeah.   
 
CC: Now, a number of those Councillors that made statements against me 

were at that meeting.   
 
LM: Okay.  
 
CC: And they agreed.   
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LM: Yeah, okay.   
 
CC: So, so in essence, what they’ve said against me in their statements, 

should be struck out.   
 
LM: Okay, okay.   
 
CC: Notwithstanding the fact that they, they contradict themselves in the 

terminology of how I’m supposed to have, how I’m alleged to have referred 
to Mr Wright.   

 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: There, there are clear contradictions in there, the way, the way that the 

connotations are raised.  They, they say in, that individual, one, Carolyn, I 
think that’s her name, Carolyn, but she writes a statement, contradicts 
herself, crosses it out, initials it, then puts another statement in.   

 
LM: Mm.   
 
CC: It, it’s, it’s not logical.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And it’s not reasonable.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: I believe in openness and transparency, what is reasonable.   
 
LM: Okay.  Okay.  That’s, that’s fine, that’s helpful to hear, okay.  I don’t have 

any further questions for you.  And if there’s anything else you want to say 
about the complaint against you or the events that you’ve not already said.   

 
CC: The complaint, the complaint against me is an engineered dispute whereby 

the, the late Town Clerk, Martin Wright could put Buckley Town Council 
where they pay him a settlement agreement.  Allied to that, a number of 
Town Councillors, Labour Town Councillors, for the reasons I’ve outlined 
before, allied themselves with that in attempt to discredit me and remove 
me as an elected Town Councillor.  Not only as an elected Town 
Councillor but Deputy Mayor of the town.  Now, when I was elected Deputy 
Mayor, that was in a Full Town Council.  And everybody had a vote.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And that was unan-, it, it was done in the Full Town Council.   
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LM: Okay.   
 
CC: So, I’m, I’m not sure where these people are coming from, I mean they, 

they really do need to start to work together, instead of playing party 
politics.  They need to organise themselves for the benefit of the 
community.  But all they’re trying to do is to pick on individuals, me in 
particular, because I used to be a member of the Labour party.  And 
they’re trying to remove me undemocratically and that is what it’s all about.   

 
LM: Okay.  Okay, thank you.  That’s useful to know.  Alright.  So, I don’t have 

any questions.  Obviously, you’ve said what you want to say.  And I hope 
you’re content that you’ve had a fair opportunity to say everything you want 
to say about the subject of the complaint against you.   

 
CC: Yeah.  I, I will say again, that I am the fourth Town Councillor that Martin 

Wright has brought to this office.  In my case, there was no local 
resolution.  That should have been achieved before anything, he should 
have sought Council’s permission to place me before the Ombudsman.  
And he didn’t.  I think that should be mentioned as well, but.   

 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: But local resolution applies.   
 
LM: Mhm.  
 
CC: And it was never attempted. 
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: But there was only a one-way, a one-way channel and that was to try and 

remove me.   
 
LM: Okay, so are you content you’ve had the opportunity to say everything you 

want to say? 
 
CC: Er, yeah, today, yeah.   
 
LM: Yes, good, okay.  In which case, that concludes the interview.  What I’ve 

got then to do is a few administrative tasks and I’ll need to send these 
discs away to be transcribed.  And once I’ve got them back, I can send you 
a copy of the transcript and a CD also, if you want, okay?  What I need to 
do is to decide whether, the next is decide whether that completes the 
investigation or whether there’s any other further evidence required.  And 
once I’m satisfied that the investigation is completed, it will be considered 
in detail and a finding will then be made, okay.  If we conclude that there’s 
evidence of a breach, the Ombudsman has the option to determine that no 
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action is required or to make a referral to the Standards Committee of the 
Local Authority or to the Adjudication Panel for Wales.  And if a referral is 
considered appropriate, a draft Report would usually be shared with you 
and you’ll be given an opportunity to comment on the analysis of the 
evidence and the finding proposed, okay.  So, if it’s concluded that there’s 
no evidence that a breach of the Code has occurred then the Report would 
bring an end to it.  That would be an end of the matter.  And I need to 
remind you that the Ombudsman’s investigations are conducted in private.  
And I would therefore ask you not to discuss the evidence received or that 
you’ve shared with us today, with anyone other than your representative or 
a legal advisor.  And this extends to the transcript and any draft Report 
which might be issued to you as well, okay.  And obviously that, that, that’s 
for both of you as well.  Confidentiality is important.  It’s important you don’t 
discuss the matters relating to the complaint and investigation with anyone 
who may be a Witness or involved in the matter.  And you should be aware 
that any such disclosure or interference may amount to a breach of the 
Code.  Okay.  And if that’s everything and there’s nothing else you want to 
add, I can conclude the interview and stop the recording.   

 
CC: Is there a timescale for?  I mean this has gone on since.   
 
LM: Yeah, I appreciate.   
 
CC: I, I know.  
 
LM: I appreciate that.   
 
CC: Investigations take a long time but.   
 
LM: I appreciate that.  What happens with timescales, we try to complete 

investigations within 12 months.  The 12 months on this investigation is 
coming up to just before Christmas period.  I will endeavour to complete it 
within that time.  Whether I’m able to, I don’t know.  But occasionally things 
do go over the time that we’d like them to be completed but I will 
endeavour to complete it as soon as I can.  Okay.  So, I want to thank you 
for your co-operation, for attending today.  I really appreciate it and 
obviously I’ll be writing to you in due course.  But if you’re happy and 
there’s nothing else you want to say, I’m going to stop the recording.   

 
CC: Oh, I believe that I’ve said it, it, it’s, it’s, it’s politically motivated.   
 
LM: Okay.   
 
CC: And then that’s all, all I want to say.   
 
LM: Alright then, that’s fine.  Okay.  Right, in which case, I shall stop the 

recording.   
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BEFORE THE PUBLIC SERVICES OMBUDSMAN FOR WALES

RESPONSE TO THE DRAFT REPORT PREPARED IN RESPONSE TO COMPLAINT
AGAINST CHARLES CORDERY

Your reference: 202105656/LM/KH

Introduction

It was alleged by a Former Clerk (Mr Martin Bradshaw Wright, now deceased) (“MW”) that then
Councillor Charles Cordery (“CC”) of Buckley Town Council on Wednesday 20th October 2021,
breached the following Codes of Conduct for Members of Buckley Town Council:1

1. 4(b) – To show respect and consideration for others;
2. 6(1)(a) – Not to conduct himself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as

bringing his office or authority into disrepute;
3. 7(a) – Not to in his official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to use his position

improperly to confer or secure for himself, or any other person, an advantage or
create or avoid for himself, or any other person, a disadvantage;

4. 8(a)(iii) – When participating in meetings or reaching decisions regarding the business
of his authority, to do so on the basis of the merits of the circumstances involved and
in the public interest having regard to any relevant advice provided by his authority’s
officers in particular by the local authority’s monitoring officer, and; 2

2. As such, a Complaint was made to the Public Serves Ombudsman for Wales who have
produced a draft report (dated 25th May 2023) and now, seek to refer the matter to the
Standards Committee.

3. These representations are submitted in response to that report and its conclusions.

The Relevant Law

4. The relevant law is found in the Part II of the Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2004
and s.69 -73 of the Local Government Act 2020 which govern the investigation of
complainants related to listed authorities and, such investigations in Wales, respectively.3

However, the information relevant to CCs case comes from Guidance issued by the Public
Service Ombudsman for Wales (attached).

Legal Test for Referral to the Standards Committee

5. The test for referral to the Standards Committee is found in Guidance issued by the Public
Services Ombudsman for Wales. In the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Code of

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
1 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, p.4
2 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, p.4
3 Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2004 < https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/10/contents >
Local Government Act 2000 < https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/22/contents >
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Conduct Complainants Process – Summary,4 the two stage process is described as:

1. Is there direct evidence that a breach actually took place. The level of proof that is
required is on the balance of probabilities. If that evidential stage is met,

2. Is a referral to a Standards Committee or the Adjudication Panel for Wales required in
the public interest.” 5

Stage One
Alleged Breaches

Alleged breach of Code 4(b) - [Members] must show respect and consideration for others

Factual comments

6. Throughout this investigation CC has continuously denied any suggestion that he was
disrespectful towards MW in the meeting on 20th October 2021 (“The Meeting”). At no time
was he rude, aggressive or obstructive. His comments were made in a calm and constructive
manner.

7. CCs sole motivation in raising the Point of Order was to raise an issue for debate that affected
members of his community and for which he has been asked to discuss. There was a lot of
anger within the community at the reference used by MW to ‘keyboard warriors’ which all
parties agree was unacceptable.

8. As a new Councillor, CC felt that a Point of Order wasn’t being recognised. We refer you to
the statement of Councillor Carol Ellis6 in which she states “CC is a new Councillor and so far
has not attended a meeting in the Chamber (apart from Zoom meetings). Every time he has
raised questions from residents he has been chastised by the Clerk and some members of his
previous political group”.

9. As an elected member of the Council, CC had a duty to those he represented to raise
important points for discussion. If he had failed to raise the point, he would not have been
fulfilling his duty as a Town Councillor. It was correct for CC to raise a Point of Order, a view
endorsed by Councillor David Ellis who comments “it was open to a point of order being
raised and if CC would not have raised a point of order I or other members would have raised
the issue, as we have to have openness and accountability for our actions as a Council”7.

10. It is submitted that the decision to remove the topic entirely from the Agenda antagonised
the situation and was incorrectly handled by those Chairing the meeting. This view is
supported by Councillor David Ellis who states that “Mayor Councilor Vivienne Blondek
opened the meeting in an unusual and unprofessional manner which in my opinion stifled
debate”8, “the fault in my view lies with the way the Mayor introduced the meeting and
handled it!”9.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
4 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, ‘Public Services Ombudsman for Wales Code of Conduct Complainants Process – Summary’ , pp 3.1
< https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/Code-of-Conduct-Complaints-Process-Summary-2.pdf >
5 Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 1.10-1.11
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
6 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 16 page 371
7 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 15, page 361
8 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 15, page 360
9 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 15, page 360
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11. The issue should have been raised, even if on a limited basis. This did not need to encroach
upon Point 33(a) of the Councils Standing Orders (“STO”). A simple apology could have been
provided on behalf of the Council as a whole and reassurance provided to the community
that the matters that were prohibited from public discussion were to be dealt with in private.

12. It was simply wrong for the topic to not appear on the Agenda at all.

13. Code 4(b) states that all members must show respect and consideration to others. At no point
during the meeting did CC shout or become disrespectful. His comments could have been
interpreted as challenging and perhaps forceful but in our submission were not disrespectful.
As CC said in interview “I never step across any kind of boundary that could be described as
inappropriate. I’m always respectful of other people. You, you might not, that might not be
reciprocal. But I always endeavour to do it the, the right way, the fair way, the reasonable
way”10.

14. Councillor David Ellis commented that “I thought CCs comments and behavior reasonable as
he has the right to put forward the views of his constituents, he also is very passionate about
the people and Town he represents which some people might view differently but at no time
during his speak did the Mayor class it as disorderly conduct under Section 12 (b) of Standing
Orders the Chair has Powers to act. The Mayor continued the meeting after CC had finished
speaking.”11.

15. Councillor Carolyn Ellis states the following “CC comments in my opinion were criticism of the
comments made by the Council regarding the statement Keyboard Warriors. His comments
caused no offence to me, as I have been a County Councillor and Town Councillor for over 20
years and have heard many passionate statements made in the heat of debate, without those
present taking personal offence”12.

16. Much is discussed in your draft report about whether CC used wording in his address to the
Committee that would have identified MW as the intended recipient for suggested
resignation. CC has always denied that he used wording that referred to MW, “at no point in
my dialogue, in my point of order, did I mention Mr Wright by name.”, “by gender, by job title
or definition”13.

17. Following The Meeting, minutes were proposed and published. These minutes were subject
to amendment which was proposed and accepted by the full Town Council at a meeting held
on 2nd March 2022. Councillor Vivienne Blondek, in her role as then Mayor chaired the
meeting. All Councillors, including those witnesses relied upon by the Ombudsman in the
draft report, were put on notice of the proposed amendment and objections raised. The
Meeting minutes were therefore duly amended and the full Council approved The Meeting
minutes which detail, the following as accurate “they should offer their resignation”.

18. The finalised minutes are supported by the statements of Councillor David Ellis and Councillor
Carolyn Ellis both of whom state that “at no time did CC mention anyone by name or
gender”14.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
10 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 17, page 386
11 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 15, page 361
12 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 16, page 372
13 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 17, page 406
14 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 16, page 365
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19. It is our submission that the witness statements upon which you have based your conclusion
contradict the finalised minutes of The Meeting. The statements of Councillor David Ellis and
Councillor Carolyn Ellis are consistent with the minutes and can be relied upon to conclude
that no reference was made to gender and resignation by CC during The Meeting.

20. The minutes of the meeting are the correct evidential information upon which to conclude
that on the balance of probabilities, no breach of Code 4 (b) occurred.

Examples of alleged breaches outlined in the relevant Guidelines 15

21. In relation to 4(b) of the Code of Conduct

 Example 6: The Chair of a Community Council was found by a Standards Committee to
have sent a number of emails containing inappropriate critical comments to another
member of the Council. Two of the emails, including one which contained disparaging
comments about the member’s shower habits, were copied to other members of the
Council. One email confirmed that the Chair had instructed the Clerk not to accept
further emails from the member, because of his “sarcastic and belligerent remarks”, until
the member “had learned how to behave and conduct [himself] in a correct manner
befitting a councillor.” An email critical of the member was also sent by the Chair to a
member of the public. The Standards Committee found the emails amounted to a failure
to show respect and consideration to the other member, in breach of paragraph 4(b) of
the Code, and had brought the Council into disrepute in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a). An
Appeal Tribunal of the Adjudication Panel for Wales found that two of the emails had
been sent by the Chair in a personal rather than official capacity. The Tribunal considered
all of the emails contained an attack, in some form or other, on the rights and reputation
of the other member. However, the Tribunal found despite being confrontational, the
comments were not abusive and were in the main political in nature and attracted the
enhanced protection of Article 10 of the ECHR. The Tribunal found that the email about
the member’s shower habits was intended to make light of the situation and had not
been sent maliciously, although it acknowledged the member may have perceived it as
such. The Tribunal also found that the ban on the member communicating with the Clerk
was a genuine attempt to protect the Clerk from inappropriate emails by the member.
The Standards Committee’s decision was overturned and the sanction rescinded.

 Example 7: A member of a Town Council wrote a letter to a Deputy Minister of the then
Welsh Assembly Government about an employee of a County Council, which he also
copied to the Council. In the letter, the member questioned the employee’s competence
and motivation and he made a number of comments of a disparaging and personal
nature about the employee and his associates. He raised the issue of homosexuality and
referred to it as a “notorious disability” and that “homosexuality is only a demon which
can be driven out”. The Adjudication Panel found that the member had breached
paragraph 4(b) of the Code in that he had failed to show respect and consideration for
others. It also found that his conduct had brought the office of member into disrepute in
breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code.

 Example 8: The Chair of a Community Council raised a complaint at a meeting of the
Council that he had not seen the text of a letter prior to it being issued

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
15 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 2.13
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
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(as previously agreed) in his name by the Clerk. The Chair was unhappy with the content
of the letter when he eventually saw it. It was alleged that it was inappropriate for him to
have raised the matter, without notice, in a public forum and in doing so he had upset
and publicly humiliated the Clerk. A Standards Committee concluded that it was not
inappropriate for the member to raise the issue in a public meeting so that his views
could be publicly identified. The Standards Committee considered that his line of
questioning and approach did not demonstrate a failure to show respect and
consideration for the Clerk, but were intended to ensure that the Council’s interests were
protected and his concerns about the content of the letter were addressed. The
Standards Committee, therefore, found no breach in relation to this aspect of the
complaint. 16

22. The alleged breach by CC must be contextualised in terms of its seriousness by way of the
examples outlined in the relevant Guidelines 17 above.

23. As regards the alleged breach of s4(b) and 'disrespect' it is submitted that CCs remarks, as
alleged by MW, were not as disrespectful in terms of the content and words used as those
envisaged in the example Guidance issued by the Ombudsman.

24. We drew your particular attention to examples 6 and 8 above and their similarities with this
compliant. In each of those two cases, no breach was found. It is submitted that this case can
clearly be distinguished from example 7 whereby comments were made pertaining to a
personal attribute such as sexuality. Nothing as personal or offensive was said by the CC.

25. In our submission, with reference to the above examples, it cannot be said that the words
allegedly said by CC within The Meeting breached Code 4(b) and thus do not meet the
threshold for referral to the Standards Committee.

Alleged breach of Code 6(1)(a) [Members] must not conduct [themselves] in a manner which could
reasonably be regarded as bringing [their] office or authority into disrepute

Factual comments

26. CC denies that his manner during The Meeting brought the office or authority into disrepute.
His motivation was merely to ask a question on behalf of members of the public who elected
him.

27. In interview, CC was asked whether he thought he “could have brought the Council or your
office into disrepute?”. His response was as follows, “How I, I asked a question. I asked a
question of, from the community, I, I was their conduit. The community, through me, to the
meeting.” “so how can I, how can I be, how can the allegation be construed as bringing the
Council into disrepute”18

28. An objective view of CCs behaviour during The Meeting as a whole must be considered. It is
submitted that CC did not bring about a state of low esteem by the public, he did not cause
the public to not trust or respect the office or authority and thus did not bring the Council

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
16 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 2.13
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
17 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 2.13
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
18 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 17, page 430
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into disrepute.

29. There was no shouting, no use of obscenities or offensive language. We refer you to the
following extract from CC interview:

“CC: Again, there’s no histrionics, theres, there’s no shouting, theres if, if its not allowed, its
not allowed. But sometimes you do have to press the point. If I’m asked by the residents to
make a point, and find out what is, then that’s all I can do.

LM: Mhm

CC: I’d be letting the people that voted for me down, if I didn’t do that.

LM: Okay

CC: if I was to go in there and just say nothing

LM: Mm

CC: then I would fail everybody: not just myself but the people that voted for me

LM: Okay

CC: I’m not prepared to do that.”19

30. We also refer you to the following comments made by members of the public on social media
following the meeting:

“I witnessed this meeting, Cllr Cordery was the only member that was appalled by the
keyboard warrior statement whilst all other councillors remained silent. Town Mayor
wouldn’t let Cllr Cordery speak….”

“…cllr Cordery was right to call him Out on it.”

“absolutely I don’t know the guy but he is the only one of them that has shown any sort of
integrity. Waste of space the lot of them”

“ its good to see a councillor that questions things and not roll over into the old council
routine..”20

31. It is evident from the public comments that members of the public were supportive of CC
raising the issue during The Meeting and were critical of the other Councillors present who
tried to avoid the topic entirely.

32. It is submitted that there is no evidence upon which to base a conclusion that CC personally,
through only his actions, brought the office or authority into disrepute.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
19 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 17, page 367
20 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 7, pages 241 - 244
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Examples of alleged breaches outlined in the relevant Guidelines 21

33. In relation to s.6(1)(a) (of the Code of Conduct):

 Example 18: A Community Councillor attempted to obtain a discount on a private
purchase from a shop by saying it was being bought on behalf of the Community Council.
When his request for a discount was refused, he was abusive to the proprietor and two
members of her staff and made threats against the business. The Adjudication Panel
found that the member attempted to gain an improper advantage for himself, by
misrepresenting the purchase as being on behalf of the Council, and his abusive
behaviour towards the staff had brought the office of member into disrepute;

 Example 19: A member of a County Borough Council who regularly wrote an article for a
local monthly publication referred in his article to a recent road traffic accident in which a
10 year-old boy was injured. The complainant was the mother of the boy who was with
the injured child. After the article was published, she telephoned the Councillor who she
said was abusive towards her during the call. In a subsequent email exchange, the
Councillor told her that she had “[failed] to take ANY responsibility for allowing your 10yr
old child out alone”, that her “ill-educated in the highway code son” was to blame and
said “don’t you dare try and shift your inadequacies as a parent upon me”. The
Adjudication Panel found the member had failed to show respect and consideration to
the complainant through the use of inappropriate language and by making unfounded
and serious allegations based his limited knowledge of the facts, in breach of paragraph
4(b). Through its aggressive tone, threatening nature and serious allegations contained in
the email, the member has also brought the office of member into disrepute, in breach of
paragraph 6(1)(a);

 Example 20: Whilst acting in a private capacity, a member of a County Borough Council
received a criminal conviction for common assault as a consequence of the unsolicited
touching of the leg of a female, which caused her distress. The Adjudication Panel heard
that the member accepted his behaviour was unacceptable and had pleaded guilty to the
offence in the Courts. The Panel found that the conviction and negative publicity that
surrounded the case had brought the member’s office into disrepute, in breach of
paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code. 22

34. The facts of this compliant can be distinguished from the examples of disrepute found above.
This case doesn’t not include any level of dishonesty which we submit appears necessary for
such a finding. Whilst the use of the words ‘smoke screen’ and suggestions of a ‘cover up’
could be seen as critical of other Councillors, they were not steeped in the type of actual
dishonesty needed for 'disrepute' otherwise, no criticisms of Council processes would ever be
permissible.

It is therefore submitted, with reference to the above examples, it cannot be said that the
alleged breach meets the threshold for referral to the Standards Committee.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
21 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 2.13
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
22 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 2.31
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
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Alleged breach of Code 7(a) – Not to in his official capacity or otherwise, use or attempt to use his
position improperly to confer or secure for himself, or any other person, an advantage or create or
avoid for himself, or any other person, a disadvantage;

35. Within paragraph 90 of the draft report, it is concluded that there has been no breach of code
7(a)

36. No further comments are therefore submitted in respect of this alleged breach

Alleged breach of Code 8(a)(iii) [Members] must when participating in meetings or reaching
decisions regarding the business of [their] authority, do so on the basis of the merits of the
circumstances involved and in the public interest having regard to any relevant advice provided by
[their] authority’s officers, in particular by the authority’s monitoring officer.

Factual comments

37. The meeting with Gareth Owens (“GO”), Monitor Officer (“MO”) for Buckley Town Council
was requested by CC himself to discuss concerns he had about the way things were going.

38. During the meeting various topics were discussed. No one topic was discussed in detail.

39. Prior to meeting with CC on 18th October 2021, GO was unaware of the scheduled meeting to
take place on 20th October 2021. It is therefore reasonable to believe that the discussions and
‘advice’ given regarding the impending meeting was not detailed given his lack of knowledge
about the impending meeting. CC asserts that nothing at that meeting felt advisory, it felt like
general conversation.

40. CC does not recall making any suggestion that the MO make no contact with MW prior to the
scheduled meeting on 20th October 2021. Even if such a request was made by CC, any
suggestion that this was motivated by a desire to ambush MW is refuted.

41. In our submission, it is not fair or just for the responsibility for any lack of action by the MO to
fall solely on CC. It was the duty of the MO to explore lines of contact with MW, if he felt it
necessary.

42. As CC stated “I would have expected him to, after meeting with myself, I would have expected
him to go, to go and talk to Martin, again I cant tell the legal governance officer for Flintshire
County Council what to do”23. It is submitted that MO must shoulder responsibility for the
decision not to speak to MW in advance of The Meeting.

43. CC left the meeting with GO with the “clear impression that as a councillor, I could ask a
question”24 which is what he indeed did.

44. In order to conclude a possible breach of Code 8(a)(iii) the Ombudsman must first conclude
that MO gave CC the advice he asserts. Reliance is placed on the handwritten,
contemporaneous note produced by GO25. This note is particularly short for a meeting lasting
one and a half hours. It is also completely silent in respect of the detailed advice that GO
proports to have given CC. It appears odd that if such had been the cause of the meeting

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
23 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 17, Page 395
24 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 17, page 401
25 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 9, page 296
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exceeding the initial time estimate by an hour and that it became the main focus of the
meeting, it is not referenced at all within the contemporaneous note. Thus, this aspect of his
statement must have been formulated solely from his memory of the meeting.

45. The statement provided by GO is dated 25th July 2022, some nine months after the meeting
with CC on 18th October 2021. By this time, he would have been informed of the views
expressed by other Council members and the subsequent compliant raised with regard to The
Meeting.

46. It is submitted that there is no supporting evidence upon which to rely and conclude that
detailed advice was ever given to CC, nor is there sufficient evidence as to the detail of that
advice to fairly conclude that he did not give it “due regard and careful consideration”26.

47. Additionally, reference is made to the email sent by MW proceeding The Meeting in which he
advised against the relevant topic being raised. There is no evidence that the content of that
email was considered by CC. Councillor David Ellis comments upon the shortness of notice in
sending that email (sent in the morning before The Meeting was heard later that same day).
Confirmation has been provided by Kevin Glyn-Davies, Town Clerk for Buckley Town Council
that “the office holds no receipt that CC read or opened the email in question”27.

48. Consequentially, in our submission there is insufficient evidence to conclude on the balance
of probabilities that CC viewed the content of the email sent by MW on the morning of 20th

October 2021 and choose to ignore it.

49. For the reasons set out above, it is submitted that no conclusion can be reached that CC
breached Code 8(a)(iii).

Additional factual comments

50. There is reference to an exchange of emails between MW and CC during the summer
proceeding The Meeting. It is CCs case that these emails did not cross any boundaries, were
not abusive or manipulative. These emails are referred to by GO as displaying a conflict
between CC and MW. CC never viewed him and MW in conflict but accepts that he could
have been assertive which MW could have viewed as a challenge to his character or
authority.

51. As a new Councillor, The Meeting was only the first or second meeting CC had attended. CC
had met MW at an induction following his election to the Town Council. However, all
meetings at that stage had been held virtually. During The Meeting CC was only able to
participate audibly due to a technical issue with his camera facility. Consequently, the others
attending The Meeting were unable to evaluate CCs body language. The delivery and receipt
of information via online meetings, especially when you are unable to consider someones
body language, is always open to misinterpretation.

52. Details of three witnesses: Councillor Peers, Councillor Jones and Councillor Peters were
proposed as potential witnesses. It is unclear whether contact has been made with Councillor
Peers and Councillor Peters. We would appreciate confirmation in this respect.

53. It is however understood that a response was received from Councillor Julia Jones on 6th

January 2022. We would be grateful to be provided with a copy of her response as it is not

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
26 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, paragraph 91
27 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 7, page 284
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referenced within the draft report.

54. This complaint could have been dealt with by way of a “Local Resolution Process” as
described in The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales. However, no such resolution was ever considered
prior to MW referring the matter to the Ombudsman.

Motivation for the compliant

55. CC believes that there is political motivation for the compliant and hostility from those who
provided supporting statements.

56. The compliant has been escalated and engineered with the aim of removing CC
undemocratically by members of an opposing political party. This belief is endorsed by
Councillor David Ellis who states “whatever issues he {CC} has raised to date at Council he has
been berated by a political faction of Councillors, and the clerk”28.

57. Prior to being elected as a Town Councillor, CC was a member of the Labour party. He stood
against Councillor Louis Fox in the bi-election in 2019. At that time Councillor Fox was a
member of the Conservative party. In 2020, Councillor Fox joined the Labour party in Buckley
which CC had left to stand as an Independent Councillor in the 2021 bi-elections against
Labour.

58. This candidacy was challenged by Councillor Vivienne Blondek who was then part of the
Labour party. Councillor Vivienne Blondek contacted and attempted to influence other
Councillors by damaging CCs reputation and character in an attempt to block CC from taking
part. This was reported to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales but was not referred.

59. Councillor David Ellis states that “Since being elected as Mayor, Councillor Blondeks approach
to CC at meetings has not been one of respect, neither has the clerk who has been very abrupt
and intolerant towards him when he has raised issues on behalf of residents.”29.

60. CC has made a previous complaint about Councillor Louis Fox who subjected CC to abuse and
harassment.

61. CC also believes GO could be hostile following previous engagement when CC was a GMB
Union Representative.

62. The political background is important as it raises the possibility that witnesses have altera
motives for providing certain information and this could call into question the reliability of the
information they provide.

63. It is evident from the documentation that MW had previously engaged in discussions with
Buckley Town Council to make financial settlement arrangements. It is understood that he
also discussed a potential claim for constructive dismissal. It is the belief held by CC, that MW
exacerbated the content of The Meeting to use it as a springboard to raise a claim against
Buckley Town Council.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
28 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 15, page 361
29 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 15, page 362
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64. It is also understood that MW had made complaints to the Public Services Ombudsman about
three other Councillors on separate occasions.

Conclusion to Stage one

65. It is submitted that the alleged breaches of Codes 4(b), 6(1)(a) and 8(a)(iii) cannot be found
proved on the balance of probabilities, nor do the alleged breaches meet the requisite
thresholds as provided by way of the Guidance examples. The matter should therefore
conclude at this stage.

66. If despite the above submissions the Ombudsman finds any breach proved, then they must
consider stage two of the test; public interest.

Stage Two
Public Interest

67. Public interest must be considered at every stage of the compliant and investigation process.
It is fundamental in determining whether a compliant should be initially investigated, it is an
overarching consideration during the investigation process and again, should be considered
when determining whether a matter should be referred to a Standards Committee.

68. The Ombudsman guidance itself states that “We are firmly of the view that our limited
resources should not be used to investigate matters which are trivial or which have little or no
impact on the public. It is important that we focus our investigations on matters that are
serious and are capable of undermining the relationship between councillors and the public
they serve, such as corruption, bullying and misuse of power in public office.”30

69. We refer you to the following relevant (non-exhaustive) public interest factors to consider:

1. the seriousness of the breach
2. whether the member deliberately sought personal gain for themselves or another

person at the public expense
3. whether the circumstances of the breach are such that a member has misused a

position of trust or authority and caused harm to a person
4. whether the breach was motivated by any form of discrimination against the victim’s

ethnic or national origin, gender, disability, age, religion or belief, sexual
5. orientation or gender identity
6. whether there is evidence of previous similar behaviour on the part of the member
7. whether the investigation or referral to a standards committee or the Adjudication

Panel for Wales is required to maintain public confidence in elected members in
Wales

8. whether investigation or referral to a standards committee or the Adjudication Panel
of Wales is a proportionate response, namely, whether it is likely that the breach
would lead to a sanction being applied to the member (I will take account of the
outcomes of previous cases considered by standards committee across Wales and
the Adjudication Panel for Wales), and whether the use of resources in carrying out
an investigation or hearing by a standards committee or the Adjudication Panel for

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
30 https://www.ombudsman.wales/fact-sheets/code-of-conduct-assessing-public-interest/
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Wales would be regarded as excessive when weighed against any likely sanction.31

70. We ask that careful consideration is given with regard to the Ombudsman Guidance on
assessing public interest. It states as follows:

“There is no widely accepted definition of public interest, but it has been described as
“something which is of serious concern and benefit to the public”. The public interest therefore
relates to something which has an impact on the public and is not merely a matter the public
finds to be of interest or a matter that impacts solely on an individual (although an individual
may be more directly impacted by the matter than the wider public)”32.

“The public in this context does not necessarily mean the entire population of Wales. It may
refer to a distinct section of the public such as a small community or interest group.”33

71. It is our submission that with reference to the guidance and the particular facts in this case, it
is not in the public interest to refer this case to the Standards Committee.

Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights (“ECHR”)

72. Within the draft report at paragraph 7 reference is made to the 3 stage test as set out in
Saunders v Kingston [2005] England and Wales High Court (“EWHC”) 1145. All elements of
that three stage test must be present for a referral to the Standards Committee to be
justified. It is submitted that even if a conclusion is reached that CCs conduct has breached a
paragraph of the Code of Conduct, it is conduct that is justified under Article 10 and thus does
not pass the test for referral.

73. Additionally, The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the
Public Services Ombudsman for Wales),34 references other caselaw: Calver, R (on application
of) v The Adjudication Panel for Wales [2012] EWHC 1172 (Admin) and Heesom v Public
Services Ombudsman for Wales [2014] EWHC 1504 (Admin)35- Summarised as follows:

a. “In the first case, the Adjudication Panel dismissed an appeal by a Community
Councillor against the decision of the local Standards Committee that he had failed to
show respect and consideration for others by posting various online comments
criticising the other members and the way in which the Council was run. The High
Court found that, whilst the comments were sarcastic and mocking and the tone
ridiculed his fellow members, because the majority of the comments related to the
way in which the Council was run, how its decisions were recorded and the
competence of the members, the comments were “political expression”. The ruling
said no account had been taken of the need for politicians to have “thicker skins”. In
view of the member’s freedom of expression and the fact that the majority of
comments were directed at fellow councillors, the finding of a breach in this case was
a disproportionate interference with the member’s rights under Article 10 of the

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
31 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 1.14-1.18
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
32 https://www.ombudsman.wales/fact-sheets/code-of-conduct-assessing-public-interest/
33 https://www.ombudsman.wales/fact-sheets/code-of-conduct-assessing-public-interest/
34 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 1.14-1.18
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
35 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, p.8
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European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR). The Adjudication Panel’s decision
was, therefore, set aside.” 36

b. “In the second case, the High Court heard an appeal against the decision of the
Adjudication Panel that a member of a County Council had committed 14 breaches of
the Code by failing to show respect and consideration for officers of the Council,
using bullying behaviour, attempting to compromise the impartiality of officers and
bringing the member’s office into disrepute. The breaches occurred over a period of
two years and included comments and conduct which were critical of, and
threatening towards, both senior and junior officers. The Court found that all of the
breaches were intentional and some of the misconduct was serious. Some of the
breaches involved deliberately dishonest and misleading conduct towards officers,
other members and members of the public. In respect of officers, much of the
conduct was intended to undermine them personally and was performed when
officers were trying to do their jobs, which the member was intent on frustrating. All
but three of the breaches found by the Adjudication Panel were upheld by the
Court.” 37

“One of the important issues that had to be determined by the Court was the scope
of, and legitimate restrictions to, a politician’s right of freedom of expression under
Article 10 of the ECHR and at common law. The Court reiterated that the law requires
politicians to have thick skin and be tolerant of criticism and other adverse comment.
However, the Court also noted that while public servants are open to criticism,
including public criticism, it is in the public interest that they are not subject to
unwarranted comments that disenable them from performing their public duties and
undermine confidence in the administration.” 38

74. It is our submission that this case falls within the enhanced protection of freedom of
expression afforded to political debate under Article 10. It is reasonable to expect those who
engage in Political debate to anticipate sometimes difficult challenges to their views and/or
behaviour. It is the basis of a democratic society.

Conclusion to stage two

75. It is submitted that this it is not in the public interest to refer this case to the Standards
Committee and it falls within the enhanced protection afforded by Article 10 ECHR.

Profession background

76. CC is a man of good character.

77. He was elected as Town Councillor in May 2021. This was his first appointment.

78. Prior to this his professional career had span many roles. He had been employed within the
water industry in Wales for 26 years engaging in the operations and maintenance of waste

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
36 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 1.15
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
37 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 1.16
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
38 The Code of Conduct for members of local authorities in Wales: Guidance the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales, pp. 1.17
<https://www.ombudsman.wales/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Code-of-Conduct-Guidance-Community-Councils.pdf>
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water treatment works in North east Wales and providing in house training on health and
safety aspects of accessing confined underground spaces. He was also employed as a HGV
driver, delivering cargo and palletised goods across the UK.

79. In addition to paid employment, CC has dedicated time to volunteer as an aid worker for the
SHARE Charity based in Flintshire working with the homeless, as well as working in the Calais
Refugee Camp.

80. CC has been a trade union representative for the GMB for 36 years representing individuals in
the work place.

81. On 17th May 2022 CC was nominated and elected by the full Town Council to the role of
Deputy Mayor to Mayor Councillor Julia Jones.

82. On 9th May 2023, CC was elected to become the Mayor of Buckley. He was nominated and
elected into this position by the full Town Council.

83. This role requires CC to represent the Town Council at civic functions and other events and to
Chair meetings of the Council.

84. There have been no complaints or concerns raised as to CCs conduct in either of these
prestigious roles within the Council.

Training and reflection

85. No meaningful induction took place following CC appointment as a Town Councillor. He was
provided a bundle of documents by MW that included the STOs and Code of Conduct which
MW referred to as ‘bedtime reading’. There was no comprehensive training or induction
process offered, a position confirmed by Tracey Reece in that the Council “records do not
indicate that CC attended any training on the Members Code of Conduct and therefore regret
have no training material for any session attended”39.

86. CC acknowledges that he would have benefited from training right at the start of his
appointed role.

87. The investigation has given CC time to reflect upon the way in which a similar question could
be posed in the future. CC acknowledges that “hindsight is such a great thing. But I didn’t
have the benefits of that knowledge at the time and there was no attempt to give it to me. It
was a case of ‘find your own way’ which, you know, I mean that kind of position is wrong, but
that’s how it was. And in the end, I got the training. But I didn’t get it at the time”40.

88. In May 2022 CC completed Town Councillor training offered by GO which incorporated
training upon the Code of Conduct.

Conclusion

89. It is submitted that,

––––––––––––––––––––––––––
39 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 7, page 210
40 Public Services Ombudsman for Wales: Investigation Report, Appendix 17, page 432
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1. Based on the reasons stated above and the Guidance issued by the Public Services
Ombudsman for Wales and, the relevant caselaw cited within it, there is insufficient
evidence to find the alleged breaches of the Code proved and/or,

2. It is not in the public interest for this case to continue.

90. Consequently, this case should not be referred to the Standards Committee.

Blackfords LLP
Served on behalf of Mayor Charles Cordery

29th June 2023.
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The Code of Conduct – for members of local authorities in Wales 

When does the Code apply? 

 

1.49 The Code applies: 

 

• Whenever you act in your official capacity, including whenever 

you are conducting the business of your Council or acting, claiming to 

act, or give the impression you are acting, in your official capacity as 

a member or as a representative of your Council (paragraph 

2(1)(a)_(c)). 

 

• At any time, if you conduct yourself in a manner which could 

reasonably be regarded as bringing your office or your authority into 

disrepute, or if you use or attempt to use your position improperly 

to gain an advantage or avoid a disadvantage for yourself or any 

other person, or if you misuse your Council’s resources 

(paragraphs 2(1)(d), 6(1)(a) and 7). 

 

1.50 Where you act as a representative of your Council on another relevant 

authority, or any other body, you must, when acting for that other 

authority, comply with its code of conduct (paragraph 3(a)).  When you 

are nominated by your Council as a trustee of a charity you are obliged 

when acting as such to do so in the best interests of that charity, in 

accordance with charity law and with the guidance which has been 

produced by the Charity Commission (see its website: 

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/charity-commission). 

 

1.51 If you are acting as a representative of your Council on another body, 

for example on an event committee, which does not have a code of 

conduct relating to its members, you must comply with your Council’s 

own Code unless it conflicts with any legal requirements that the other body 

has to comply with (paragraph 3(b)). 

 

1.52 If you refer to yourself as ‘councillor’ in any form of communication, the 

Code will apply to you.  This applies in conversation, in writing, or in your 

use of electronic media.  There has been a significant rise in complaints to 

me concerning the use of Facebook, blogs and Twitter.  If you refer to your 

role as councillor in any way or comments you make are clearly related to 

your role, then the Code will apply to any comments you make there.  Even 
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The Code of Conduct – for members of local authorities in Wales 

if you do not refer to your role as councillor, your comments may have the 

effect of bringing your office or authority into disrepute and could therefore 

breach paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code. 

 

1.53 The Welsh Local Government Association has produced useful guidance on 

social media entitled “Social Media: A Guide for Councillors”.  The guidance 

aims to provide you with a clearer idea about how you can use social 

media, the possible pitfalls and how to avoid them.  It is available on their 

website at www.wlga.wales or by calling 029 2046 8600. 

 

1.54 If you are suspended from office for any reason, you must still observe 

those elements of the Code which apply, particularly as set out in paragraph 

2(1)(d), while you are suspended. 

 

Example 1 

 

A complaint was received that a councillor was intoxicated and behaving 

inappropriately at a street party.  It was established that the councillor did 

not have to undertake any action on behalf of the Council at the party.  In 

my view, therefore, she attended the party as a member of the public and 

as she did not seek to rely on her status as a councillor in any way only 

paragraph 6(1)(a) (disrepute) of the Code applied at the time.  Whilst her 

behaviour may have been considered inappropriate by some, it was not 

relevant to her role as a councillor and in my view did not bring the Council 

into disrepute, so was not indicative of a breach of paragraph 6(1)(a).  I did 

not investigate this complaint. 

 

Example 2 

 

Whilst acting in a personal capacity, a member of a county council was 

convicted of criminal offences relating to a failure to maintain accurate animal 

records and the disposal of animal carcasses.  The Standards Committee 

determined that, due to the seriousness of the convictions, the member had 

brought the authority into disrepute in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a). 
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Treating others with respect and consideration 
See paragraph 4(b)  

 

2.7 When undertaking your role as a member, you must show respect and 

consideration for others.  I expect members to afford the public 

colleagues, opponents and officers the same courtesy and consideration 

they show to others in their everyday lives.  This does not mean you cannot 

participate in robust debate with political opponents, but it must be 

measured. 

 

2.8 Article 10 of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) provides 

a right to freedom of expression and information, subject to certain 

restrictions.  Freedom of expression is a right which applies to all 

information and ideas, not just those that are found favourable.  However, it 

is a right that may be restricted in certain circumstances, for example, for 

the protection of the rights and interests of others.   

 

2.9 Your freedom of expression as a member attracts enhanced protection 

when comments you make are political in nature.  Therefore, the criticism of 

opposition ideas and opinion is considered to be part of democratic debate, 

and it is unlikely that such comments would ever be considered to be a 

breach of the Code. 

 

2.10 “Political” comments are not confined to those made within council meetings 

and, for example, include comments members may generally make on their 

Council’s policies or about their political opponents.  Therefore, unless the 

comments are highly offensive or outrageous, it is unlikely that I will 

investigate a complaint about comments made in this context and I will take 

the view that the offended member needs a “thicker skin”, as has been 

stipulated by the High Court. 

 

2.11 I may also decline to investigate a complaint where the member has raised 

“political” issues with officers, for example, the Clerk to a council.  This would 

not, however, include threats to an officer’s position or wellbeing.  Recent 

case law has confirmed that council officers should be protected from 

unwarranted comments that may have an adverse effect on good 

administration and states that it is in the public interest that officers are not 

subject to unwarranted comments that disenable them from carrying out their 

Political comments can 

attract Article 10 rights 
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duties or undermine public confidence in the administration.  That said, 

officers who are in more senior positions, such as the Chief Executive of a 

principal council, will also be expected to have a greater degree of 

robustness.  However, I am concerned about the number of complaints I 

have received which allege inappropriate behaviour by some community 

councillors towards their Council’s Clerk.  Given the very scale and nature of 

community and town councils, there is a distinction to be made about the 

role and status of a Chief Executive or other senior officer in a principal 

council and that of a Clerk.  I will consider carefully any complaints of alleged 

inappropriate behaviour by members towards Clerks, and will investigate 

those complaints which are supported by appropriate evidence that a 

member has gone beyond what might be regarded as reasonable challenge. 

 

2.12 Whilst I recognise that political debate can, at times, become heated, the 

right to freedom of expression should not be used as an excuse for poor 

conduct generally.  Such poor conduct can only discredit the role of 

members in the eyes of the public. 

 

2.13 When considering such complaints, I will take into account the specific 

circumstances of the case; whether, in my view, the member was entitled to 

question the officer concerned, whether there was an attempt to intimidate 

or undermine the officer and the content and context of what has been said. 

 

Example 6 

 
The Chair of a Community Council was found by a Standards Committee to 

have sent a number of emails containing inappropriate critical comments to 

another member of the Council.  Two of the emails, including one which 

contained disparaging comments about the member’s shower habits, were 

copied to other members of the Council.  One email confirmed that the 

Chair had instructed the Clerk not to accept further emails from the 

member, because of his “sarcastic and belligerent remarks”, until the 

member “had learned how to behave and conduct [himself] in a correct 

manner befitting a councillor.”  An email critical of the member was also 

sent by the Chair to a member of the public.  The Standards Committee 

found the emails amounted to a failure to show respect and consideration to 

the other member, in breach of paragraph 4(b) of the Code, and had 

brought the Council into disrepute in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a).   
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An Appeal Tribunal of the Adjudication Panel for Wales found that two of 

the emails had been sent by the Chair in a personal rather than official 

capacity.  The Tribunal considered all of the emails contained an attack, in 

some form or other, on the rights and reputation of the other member.  

However, the Tribunal found despite being confrontational, the comments 

were not abusive and were in the main political in nature and attracted the 

enhanced protection of Article 10 of the ECHR.  The Tribunal found that the 

email about the member’s shower habits was intended to make light of the 

situation and had not been sent maliciously, although it acknowledged the 

member may have perceived it as such.  The Tribunal also found that the 

ban on the member communicating with the Clerk was a genuine attempt to 

protect the Clerk from inappropriate emails by the member.  The Standards 

Committee’s decision was overturned and the sanction rescinded. 

 

Example 7 

 

A member of a Town Council wrote a letter to a Deputy Minister of the then 

Welsh Assembly Government about an employee of a County Council, which 

he also copied to the Council.  In the letter, the member questioned the 

employee’s competence and motivation and he made a number of 

comments of a disparaging and personal nature about the employee and his 

associates.  He raised the issue of homosexuality and referred to it as a 

“notorious disability” and that “homosexuality is only a demon which can be 

driven out”.   

 

The Adjudication Panel found that the member had breached paragraph 

4(b) of the Code in that he had failed to show respect and consideration for 

others.  It also found that his conduct had brought the office of member into 

disrepute in breach of paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code. 

 

Example 8 

 
The Chair of a Community Council raised a complaint at a meeting of the 

Council that he had not seen the text of a letter prior to it being issued 

(as previously agreed) in his name by the Clerk.  The Chair was unhappy 

with the content of the letter when he eventually saw it.  It was alleged that it 

was inappropriate for him to have raised the matter, without notice, in a 

public forum and in doing so he had upset and publicly humiliated the Clerk.  
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A Standards Committee concluded that it was not inappropriate for the 

member to raise the issue in a public meeting so that his views could be 

publicly identified.  The Standards Committee considered that his line of 

questioning and approach did not demonstrate a failure to show respect and 

consideration for the Clerk, but were intended to ensure that the Council’s 

interests were protected and his concerns about the content of the letter 

were addressed.  The Standards Committee, therefore, found no breach in 

relation to this aspect of the complaint.   

 
(See paragraph 4(c) below for further examples) 

 
Bullying and harassment  
See paragraph 4(c) 

 

2.14 You must not use any bullying behaviour or harass any person 

including other councillors, council officers (the Clerk or Proper 

Officer) or members of the public.  Harassment is repeated behaviour 

which upsets or annoys people.  Bullying can be characterised as offensive, 

intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating behaviour.  Such behaviour 

may happen once or be part of a pattern of behaviour directed at a weaker 

person, or a person over whom you have some actual or perceived 

influence.  Bullying behaviour attempts to undermine an individual or a group 

of individuals, is detrimental to their confidence and capability, and may 

adversely affect their health. 

 

2.15 When considering allegations of bullying and harassment, I will consider 

both the perspective of the alleged victim, and whether the member 

intended their actions to be bullying.  I will also consider whether the 

individual was reasonably entitled to believe they were being bullied.  

Bullying is often carried out face to face but, increasingly, it can be carried 

out in print or using electronic media.  The standards of behaviour expected 

are the same, whether you are expressing yourself verbally or in writing. 

 
Example 9 

 
A Community Councillor disagreed with the County Council’s arrangements 

for the enforcement of parking breaches within the town.  The Councillor 

used disrespectful and abusive language and behaved in a bullying and 

intimidating manner towards Council Civil Enforcement Officers on four 

Consider your conduct from 

the other person’s perspective 
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2.30 Your Council needs to decide whether to disclose information or whether it 

may be covered by an exemption under the Freedom of Information Act.  

Even if you believe that information you hold is exempt, you must provide it 

to the person dealing with the information request to allow the Council to 

reach a decision.  As well as being a breach of the Code, it is a criminal 

offence if information is destroyed after a Freedom of Information Act 

request has been received. 

 
Example 17 

 

The Leader of a County Council refused to give the Council’s 

Information Officer a letter he had written to the then Wales Audit Office, on 

behalf of the Council’s Executive.  As a result, the Council could not respond 

appropriately to a Freedom of Information Act request which resulted in a 

complaint being made to the Information Commissioner’s Office.  The 

member continued to refuse to disclose the letter despite having received 

clear and unequivocal advice from the Information Officer.  His refusal led to 

an adverse finding from the Information Commissioner’s Office.  The 

Adjudication Panel found that the member had breached paragraphs 5(b) 

and 6(1)(a) (disrepute) in respect of this matter and other related matters. 

 
Disrepute 
See paragraph 6(1)(a) 

 

2.31 You must not behave in a way which could reasonably be regarded as 

bringing your office or authority into disrepute at any time.  As a 

member, your actions and behaviour are subject to greater scrutiny than 

those of ordinary members of the public.  You should be aware that your 

actions in both your public and private life might have an adverse impact on 

the public perception of your office as a member, or your Council as a 

whole. 

 

2.32 When considering whether a member’s conduct is indicative of bringing 

their office or their authority into disrepute, I will consider their actions from 

the viewpoint of a reasonable member of the public.  It is likely that the 

actions of those members in more senior positions, such as the Chair of a 

Council, will attract higher public expectations and greater scrutiny than 

ordinary members.  It is more likely, therefore, that inappropriate behaviour 

Any conduct unbecoming of a 

member can constitute disrepute 
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by such members will damage public confidence and be seen as bringing 

both their office and their Council into disrepute.  This does not mean that 

inappropriate behaviour by ordinary members can never bring their council 

into disrepute. 

 

2.33 Dishonest and deceitful behaviour will bring your Council into disrepute, as 

may conduct which results in a criminal conviction, especially if it involves 

dishonest, threatening or violent behaviour, even if the behaviour happens 

in your private life.   

 

2.34 Whilst you have the right to freedom of expression, making unfair or 

inaccurate criticism of your Council in a public arena might be regarded as 

bringing your Council into disrepute.  Similarly, inappropriate emails to 

constituents or careless or irresponsible use of social media might bring the 

office of member into disrepute, bearing in mind the community leadership 

role of members.  Cases considered by the Adjudication Panel have shown 

that such behaviour will often be viewed as a serious breach of the Code. 

 

Example 18 
 

A Community Councillor attempted to obtain a discount on a private 

purchase from a shop by saying it was being bought on behalf of the 

Community Council.  When his request for a discount was refused, he was 

abusive to the proprietor and two members of her staff and made threats 

against the business.  The Adjudication Panel found that the member 

attempted to gain an improper advantage for himself, by misrepresenting 

the purchase as being on behalf of the Council, and his abusive behaviour 

towards the staff had brought the office of member into disrepute. 

 
Example 19 

 
A member of a County Borough Council who regularly wrote an article for a 

local monthly publication referred in his article to a recent road traffic 

accident in which a 10 year-old boy was injured.  The complainant was the 

mother of the boy who was with the injured child.  After the article was 

published, she telephoned the Councillor who she said was abusive 

towards her during the call.  In a subsequent email exchange, the 

Councillor told her that she had “[failed] to take ANY responsibility for  
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allowing your 10yr old child out alone”, that her “ill-educated in the highway 

code son” was to blame and said “don’t you dare try and shift your 

inadequacies as a parent upon me”.   

 
The Adjudication Panel found the member had failed to show respect and 

consideration to the complainant through the use of inappropriate language 

and by making unfounded and serious allegations based his limited 

knowledge of the facts, in breach of paragraph 4(b).  Through its aggressive 

tone, threatening nature and serious allegations contained in the email, the 

member has also brought the office of member into disrepute, in breach of 

paragraph 6(1)(a).   

 
Example 20 

 
Whilst acting in a private capacity, a member of a County Borough Council 

received a criminal conviction for common assault as a consequence of the 

unsolicited touching of the leg of a female, which caused her distress.  The 

Adjudication Panel heard that the member accepted his behaviour was 

unacceptable and had pleaded guilty to the offence in the Courts.  The 

Panel found that the conviction and negative publicity that surrounded the 

case had brought the member’s office into disrepute, in breach of 

paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Code. 

 

Reporting criminal behaviour  
See paragraph 6(1)(b) 

 

2.35 The Code requires you to report any conduct by another member, an 

officer, or anyone who works on behalf of your Council (e.g.  a 

contractor) which you reasonably believe involves or may involve 

criminal behaviour.  Such matters should be reported through your 

Council’s confidential reporting procedure, or direct to the proper statutory 

authority.  As with alleged breaches of the Code (see below), you should 

not make vexatious, malicious or frivolous allegations, which would 

themselves be capable of being a breach, by you, of paragraph 6(1)(d) of 

the Code.  If in doubt, consult your Council’s Clerk.  The principal council’s 

Monitoring Officer may also be able to provide advice. 

 

  

Report criminal conduct 

to the proper authority 
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activity log.  The Adjudication Panel found the member had been less than 

candid about his ability to check any change of settings on his account, 

when he was clearly an experienced user of Facebook.  The Panel found 

the Councillor had deliberately avoided providing information and full and 

franks responses to the reasonable requests of my office, in breach of 

paragraph 6(2) of the Code. 

 
Using your position improperly  
See paragraph 7(a) 

 

2.54 You must not use, or attempt to use, your position as a member 

improperly to the advantage or disadvantage of yourself or any other 

person.9  This paragraph applies at all times and not just when you are 

carrying out your duties as a member.  You should not use, or attempt to use, 

your public office either for your or anybody else’s personal gain or loss.  For 

example, your behaviour would be improper if you sought to further your own 

private interests through your position as a member.  This also applies if you 

use your office to improve your wellbeing at the expense of others. 

 

2.55 Members who own land, or whose close personal associates own land, 

need to be particularly cautious where planning matters are concerned.  If 

you are in any doubt, you should take advice.  This applies equally to 

members of community and town councils when your Council is consulted 

on planning matters.  Similarly, while it is reasonable to expect members to 

help constituents apply to the Council, for example, for housing, it is quite 

inappropriate to seek to influence the decision to be taken by the officers. 

 

2.56 The provisions of the Bribery Act 2010 apply to members carrying out their 

public functions.  Should a member be convicted of a criminal offence 

under this Act, then it is likely that they will also have used their position 

improperly (in breach of paragraph 7(a)) and be likely to have brought the 

office of member or their authority into disrepute in breach of paragraph 

6(1)(a).  If any complaint which is made to me concerns conduct which may 

amount to a criminal offence then I am likely to refer the matter to the 

police. 

 
9 In legislation, the use of ‘person’ includes a body of persons corporate or unincorporated – see 
Schedule 1, Interpretation Act 1978; and Schedule 1, Legislation (Wales) Act 2019 (for Welsh 
legislation made on or after 1 January 2020).   
 

Do not use your public 

office for personal gain 
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Example 24 

 
A Councillor was a ‘joint co-ordinator’ of a community group.  The Councillor 

did not notify the Council of her position in this group.  She took part in the 

consideration of, and voted on, the decision to negotiate a new lease in 

respect of a workshop used by the community group.  A Standards 

Committee found that she had used her position on the Council improperly 

as the decision on which she voted benefited a group in which she clearly 

had an interest which she had not disclosed to the Council.  She was found 

in breach of paragraph 7(a) of the Code. 

 
Example 25 

 

A member of a National Park Authority being investigated by my office for 

alleged inappropriate behaviour towards another member, spoke with the 

Chair of the Authority in an attempt to have the matter dealt with through a 

roundtable discussion of the parties involved.  The member threatened to 

disclose information publicly about the complainant if the complaint to my 

office was pursued and went against him.  The Adjudication Panel found that 

this amounted to an attempt by the member to use his position improperly in 

order to avoid a potential disadvantage, as well as breaches of paragraphs 

4(b) (respect and consideration) and 6(1)(a) (disrepute) of the Code.   

 
Example 26 

 

A member of a Town Council wrote to the Welsh Government indicating that 

an application for a loan in respect of a ‘Community Hub’ project, supported 

by the Council, should not go ahead as the matter was subject to further 

discussion.  The correspondence was signed by the member using the title 

Deputy Mayor of the Council.  As a consequence, the Welsh Government 

made further enquiries of the Council and required it to submit a further loan 

application, which resulted in further work and expense for the Council.   

 
During the course of my investigation the member claimed the correspondence 

was sent in a personal capacity.  It was an accepted fact that the Community 

Hub would include facilities which would be in direct competition with the 

business interests of the member.  In my view, the Welsh Government was 

unlikely to have acted upon the member’s communication had it not been 

under the impression that the author was representing the Council.   
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A Standards Committee considered that the communication was designed 

to have an impact on the project.  Whereas some of the motivation may 

have been to protect the public interest, the Committee considered the 

member had gone about it in an inappropriate manner which gave the 

impression that he was acting in his own business interests.  The 

Committee concluded that the member had attempted to use his position 

improperly to gain an advantage in breach of paragraph 7(a) of the Code. 

 

Using the Council’s resources 
See sub-paragraphs 7(b)(i) – (iv)  

 

2.57 You must only use or authorise the use of the resources of the 

Council in accordance with its requirements and the law.  These 

sub-paragraphs also apply at all times.  If your Council provides you with 

access to resources (for example telephone, computer and other IT 

facilities), you must only use these resources for carrying out your Council 

business and any other activity which your Council has authorised you to 

use them for. 

 

2.58 You must be familiar with the rules made by your Council applying to the 

use of these resources.  Failure to comply with your Council’s rules is likely 

to amount to a breach of the Code.  If you authorise someone (for example 

a member of your family) to use your Council’s resources, you must take 

care to ensure that this is allowed by your Council’s rules. 

 

Using resources for proper purposes only 
See sub-paragraphs 7(b)(v) and (vi) 

 

2.59 You must make sure you use the Council’s resources for proper 

purposes only.  These sub-paragraphs apply at all times.  It is not 

appropriate to use, or authorise others to use, the resources for private or 

political purposes, including party political purposes.  When using the 

Council’s resources, you must have regard, if applicable, to any guidance 

issued by your Council, for example, your Council’s Information Security 

Policy. 

 

  

Only use resources for lawful 

and permitted purposes 

Do not use resources for 

private or political purposes 
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Example 27 

 

A member of a County Council was found in breach of the Code for making 

improper use of his council-owned computer equipment for private purposes 

by downloading adult pornographic images and sending a number of letters 

to a local newspaper, which he falsely represented as being from members 

of the public.  The Adjudication Panel found that the member had misused 

the Council equipment in breach of the Code and had brought the office of 

member into disrepute. 

 

Reaching decisions objectively 
See paragraph 8(a) 

 

2.60 When taking part in meetings of your Council, or when arriving at 

decisions relating to the Council’s business, you must do so with an 

open mind and consider the issues objectively.  During the 

decision-making process, you must act fairly and take proper account of 

the public interest. 

 

2.61 Most decisions taken by a community or town council relate to local matters 

and funding of local projects.  Although the amounts of money being spent 

are smaller than at county level, all decisions must be taken on the basis of 

the facts in front of you.  You must not have made your mind up in advance 

to such an extent that you are entirely unprepared to consider all of the 

evidence and advice you receive.  Having a completely closed mind is 

known as pre-determination.  You are entitled to hold a preliminary view 

about a particular matter in advance of a meeting (pre-disposition) as long 

as you keep an open mind and are prepared to consider the merits of all the 

arguments and points made about the matter under consideration before 

reaching your decision.   

 

2.62 Pre-determination, on the other hand, would be where you have clearly 

decided on a course of action in advance of a meeting and are totally 

unwilling to consider the evidence and arguments presented on that matter 

during the meeting.  Pre-determination could not only invalidate the 

decision, it would also amount to a breach of the Code. 

 

  

Act objectively and in  

the public interest 
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SECTION E - WITNESS STATEMENT OF 
COUNCILLOR RICHARD JONES 

534 



Ref: Supporting Statement of Councillor Charles Cordrey 

Date: 5th September 2024 

To Whom it may concern, 

On the 15th October 2021, a special meeting of Buckley Town Council was 
called for the 20th October 2021 to discuss ‘The Cancellation of the Annual 
Bonfire and Firework display’. 

The BTC ‘request to Attend’ the Special Meeting of the council was detailed to 
be held via Zoom (this was at a time of Covid 19 constraints on meetings etc), 
made reference to ‘keyboard warriors’ in inverted commas within the Agenda. 

This wording caused considerable offence to many residents, as residents had 
in general, been pointing out that Welsh Government advice allowed such 
events to continue to take place, subject to some controls. In essence the 
wording contributed to the feeling of discontent, likely created by Covid 19 

Incidentally, the Buckley Fireworks display attracts in excess of 3500 attendees 
from across the county and so is always particularly well attended and relied 
upon as a Community event of some standing. 

Residents were annoyed that: 

1 The Bonfire and Fireworks display was being cancelled 
2 That Buckley Town Council used the words ‘keyboard warriors’ as 

most were just expressing their views 

I personally received several complaints from residents, expressing their views 
and asking that I support that the event should go ahead according to WG 
guidelines. Since I had received complaints from both local and County wide 
residents, it is a safe assumption that other councillors such as Councillor 
Cordrey would have received similar volume and type of complaints. 

At the special meeting, there were eventually 3 recommendations, as follows: 

1 That the Annual Fireworks display and Bonfire go ahead as initially 
planned, but without the supporting acts, rides and food provision, 
thus reducing the risk to Councillors, BTC staff, volunteers and 
attendees based upon the latest advice received from WG at this 
time 

2 Recommendation 1 is subject to further advice from WG which could 
cause the event to be cancelled 
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3 That Members disassociate themselves from the wording in this 
agenda, as they had no prior knowledge of the wording being used 

Recommendation 3 was added in recognition of the feeling around the town 
towards Members at that time. 

The need to add that additional recommendation, gives you some sense of the 
depth of feeling around the town, remember too that Covid 19 was a time 
when feelings were amplified through frustration. 

Councillor Cordrey was a newly elected Councillor at that time and like others 
felt it was his duty to convey the feelings of townsfolk to the Clerk/BTC 
although as a newly elected Member, he would be inexperienced at that time. 
The weight of public feeling through frustration, was felt via in person and 
social media messages by all Councillors. 

It is my belief that more experienced Members tempered their personal 
responses according to their knowledge and experience, which Councillor 
Cordrey, as a newly elected Member, would not have been privy to. 

It is also my belief that Councillor Cordrey acted in a way that reflected the 
feelings of the town’s residents as he believed it was his duty. I believe he 
acted in good faith and without malice or bad intent to hurt anyone. 

Since that incident Councillor Cordrey has not given me any reason to question 
his behaviour and indeed has since occupied the position of Mayor of Buckley, 
which is a prestigious position within the town. He completed his term in an 
exemplary manner as a good role model for others, which underlines his 
character and behaviour both as a Councillor and representative of local 
residents. 

In conclusion, it is my belief that Councillor Cordrey acted in good faith, but 
was not experienced enough at that time to be able to convey his message 
without it appearing confrontational. I do not believe that he acted with any 
malice, but was quite simply trying to reflect the general feeling from the 
residents he represented. 

 

These are my personal recollections and thoughts relating to that event and 
events since then, 

Councillor Richard Jones 
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Hearing into alleged breach of the Code of Conduct for Members 
 

Agreed and Disputed Facts 
 

Agreed Facts 
 
1. Councillor Cordery was elected as a member of Buckley Town Council in May 2021. 

2. Prior to the events in 2021 that are the subject of the complaint, Councillor Cordery 
had not received any training on the Code of Conduct. Councillor Cordery completed 
training on the Code of Conduct in May 2022.  

3. Councillor Cordery and the former Clerk of Buckley Town Council exchanged e-mails 
in Summer 2021 about the cancellation of events and Councillor Cordery’s concern 
about Council procedures. This culminated in the communications being considered 
at a meeting of the Council’s Establishment Sub-Committee in September 2021 and 
Councillor Cordery receiving a letter advising him to moderate his communications.  

4. Comments were made on social media regarding the cancellation of the fireworks 
display.  (Note: The firework display referred to is the annual fireworks display referred 
to in disputed fact 1 below). 

5. On 15 October 2021 the former Clerk of Buckley Town Council called for a special 
meeting of the Council. An agenda was published on the Council’s website that 
referred to comments from “keyboard warriors”.   

6. The reference to “keyboard warriors” in the agenda caused local concern.  

7. On the morning of 20 October 2021, the Former Clerk sent an email to all members of 
Buckley Town Council which asked them to consider his explanation using the phrase 
“keyboard warriors”.  

8.  An online meeting of Buckley Town Council was held in the evening on 20 October 
2021. It was attended by members of the Council, the former Clerk, two staff 
Assistants, a contractor, an online meeting administrator and members of the public.   

9. On 22 October 2021 the former Clerk went on sick leave. 

10. On 25 October 2021 Buckley Town Council published on its website draft minutes of 
the meeting held on 21 October. Those minutes included the comment: “That 
individual, I will say now, should offer his resignation with immediate effect. 

11.  On 28 and 29 October 2021 Councillor Cordery challenged the draft minutes. 

12.  At a meeting of Buckley Town Council on 2 March 2022, Councillor Cordery proposed 
that where the minutes said “should offer his resignation”, they should be amended to 
“should offer their resignation”. The amendment was agreed. Revised minutes were 
approved by Buckley Town Council on 7 June 2022. 

13.  The former Clerk of Buckley Town Council died in May 2022. 

Disputed Facts 

1. Whether the Council cancelled its annual fireworks display in 2021 after revised Covid-
19 guidelines were introduced.  In her report of the investigation the Ombudsman said 
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that the Council cancelled the annual fireworks display following the introduction of 
revised Covid-19 guidelines. Councillor Cordery agreed that the annual fireworks 
display had been cancelled but said that this had been done by the former Clerk, not 
the Council. 

2. Whether on 18 October 2021 Councillor Cordery had a discussion with the Monitoring 
Officer during which the Monitoring Officer provided advice to Councillor Cordery. The 
Monitoring Officer made a note of the discussion at the time in his notebook.  Cllr 
Cordery has said that there was a discussion but he did not agree that the Monitoring 
Officer had provided advice during the discussion. 

3. Whether following the discussion with Councillor Cordery, the Monitoring Officer 
arranged to speak to the former Clerk of Buckley Town Council on 21 October 2021.  
Cllr Cordery has said that he was not aware of the date of the discussion so cannot 
agree. 

4. Whether at the start of the Meeting on of Buckley Town Council 20 October 2021 the 
Mayor began to read out a statement regarding the words in the agenda that had 
caused offence which would not be discussed in open session and said that Standing 
Order 33(a) would have to be applied to exclude the press and public if those areas 
were to be discussed.  Cllr Cordery has said that he does not recall if this was or it was 
not read so cannot agree.  

5. Whether as the Mayor was speaking Councillor Cordery called for a Point of Order and 
then referred to “a cover up” and “a smoke screen” and demanded a “resignation with 
immediate effect”.   Cllr Cordery agrees that he called for a point of order, but disputes 
that he then referred to a “a cover up” and “a smoke screen” and demanded a 
“resignation with immediate effect”. 

6. Whether the Monitoring Officer contacted the former Clerk on 21 October 2021. The 
Monitoring Officer made a note of the discussion on 21 October 2021 in his notebook.  
Cllr Cordery indicated that as he was not privy to the interaction so this could not be 
agreed.  

7. Whether on 21 and 25 October 2021 the former Clerk and members of Buckley Town 
Council sent complaints to the Monitoring Officer about Councillor Cordery’s 
intervention at the meeting.  Cllr Cordery acknowledged that complaints were sent but 
says that they were not limited to his intervention at the meeting.    

8. Whether Councillor Cordery said that the Monitoring Officer should wait until after the 
public meeting to speak to the former Clerk. The Monitoring Officer’s evidence in the 
investigation said that the Monitoring Officer had agreed to speak to the former Clerk 
and that he had suggested to Councillor Cordery that he should do so before the 
meeting but that Councillor Cordery said that it should be after the meeting. Councillor 
Cordery said that he did not recall the Monitoring Officer suggesting that he should call 
the former Clerk before the meeting and he did not recall telling the Monitoring Officer 
to wait until after the meeting. The Ombudsman asserts that there is evidence that 
Councillor Cordery did say to the Monitoring Officer that he should wait until after the 
meeting to speak to the former Clerk. 

9. Whether Councillor Cordery ignored advice from the Monitoring Officer about following 
correct procedures when raising employment issues. Councillor Cordery has 
acknowledged that he did discuss this with the Monitoring Officer but has said that he 
did not think that what he said at the meeting on 20 October 2021 went against the 
Monitoring Officer’s advice in any great detail. The Ombudsman asserts that there is 
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evidence that Councillor Cordery was provided with advice by the Monitoring Officer 
and former Clerk about not discussing employment matters in open session and that 
Councillor Cordery ignored this advice in making his intervention at the meeting on 20 
October 2021. 

10. Whether Councillor Cordery’s call for a resignation identified the former Clerk. 
Councillor Cordery has acknowledged that his comments were directed at the former 
Clerk but has said that he did not mention the former Clerk by name, gender or job 
title.  The Ombudsman has acknowledged that the various accounts of what Councillor 
Cordery said at the meeting on 20 October 2021 differ and that the approved minutes 
of that meeting reflect a gender-neutral statement. However, the Ombudsman asserts 
that regardless of the word used, witnesses interpreted Councillor Cordery’s comments 
as relating to the former Clerk directly or to the person who made the comments 
regarding keyboard warriors (which was the former Clerk). 
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